
AGENDA

PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING
Date: Thursday, 30 March 2017
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Membership:

Councillors Mike Baldock, Cameron Beart, Bobbin, Andy Booth (Vice-Chairman), 
Roger Clark, Richard Darby, Mike Dendor, James Hall, Mike Henderson, James Hunt, 
Ken Ingleton, Nigel Kay, Samuel Koffie-Williams, Peter Marchington, Bryan Mulhern 
(Chairman), Prescott and Ghlin Whelan.

Quorum = 6

Pages
1. Fire Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to 
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for 
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building 
and procedures. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned 
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing 
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second 
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route 
is blocked. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting that: 

(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building 
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at 
the far side of the Car Park.  Nobody must leave the assembly point until 
everybody can be accounted for and nobody must return to the building 
until the Chairman has informed them that it is safe to do so; and 

(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation. 

Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation. 

It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who 
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may 
be made in the event of an emergency. 

Public Document Pack



2. Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes

3. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 2 March 2017 (Minute 
Nos. 1214 - 1223) as a correct record.

4. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
room while that item is considered.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.

Part B reports for the Planning Committee to decide

5. Planning Working Group

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 20 March 2017 (Minute 
Nos. to follow).

(2.4) 16/506986/FULL 116 Oak Lane, Upchurch, Kent, ME9 7AY

6. Deferred Item

To consider the following application:

1 - 24



16/507425/FULL – Land rear of Kaine Farm House, Breach Lane, 
Upchurch.

Members of the public are advised to confirm with Planning Services prior 
to the meeting that the application will be considered at this meeting.

Requests to speak on this item must be registered with Democratic 
Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call us on 01795 417328) 
by noon on Wednesday 29 March 2017.

7. Report of the Head of Planning Services

To consider the attached report (Parts 2, 3 and 5).

The Council operates a scheme of public speaking at meetings of the 
Planning Committee.  All applications on which the public has registered 
to speak will be taken first.  Requests to speak at the meeting must be 
registered with Democratic Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk 
or call 01795 417328) by noon on Wednesday 29 March 2017.

25 - 163

8. Exclusion of the Press and Public

To decide whether to pass the resolution set out below in respect of the 
following items:

That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7.

1. Information relating to any individual.
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
See note below.

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of 
the Crown and any employees of, or office holders under, the 
authority.

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal proceedings.

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes
(a) To give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment.

7. Information relation to any action in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime.

9. Report of the Head of Planning Services

To consider the attached report (Part 6).

164 - 
165

mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk


Issued on Wednesday, 22 March 2017

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or 
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Planning Committee, please visit 
www.swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Services Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



Planning Committee Report - 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

1

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 MARCH 2017 DEFERRED ITEM

Report of the Head of Planning

DEFERRED ITEMS

Reports shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that Meeting

DEF ITEM 1 REFERENCE NO - 16/507425/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Demolition of 7 farm buildings and erection of 6 detached houses and garages, associated 
SUDS ponds, landscaping and wildlife planting.

ADDRESS Land Rear Of Kaine Farm House Breach Lane Upchurch Kent ME9 7PH 

RECOMMENDATION Refuse

REASONS FOR REFUSAL
The proposed development falls outside of the built up area boundary and is not identified as 
one of the Council’s preferred housing allocations within the emerging Local Plan.  The 
emerging Local Plan can now be given significant weight owing to its advanced stage in the 
examination process.  Notwithstanding the contribution that the proposals would make to the 
five years supply of housing land, the harm caused by this proposal would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the very limited benefits and additionally there would be unacceptable 
harm caused to the character and amenity value of the countryside.  As a result the proposal 
would not constitute sustainable development.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Called in by Development Manager for last Committee

WARD Hartlip, Newington 
And Upchurch

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Upchurch

APPLICANT Mr T Ripley
AGENT Lander Planning

DECISION DUE DATE
20/12/16

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
15/12/16

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites):
App No Proposal Decision Date
16/503169/PNQCLA Prior notification for the change of use of 1 

building from agriculture to form 2 residential 
units and for associated operational 
development
For it's prior approval to:
- Transport and Highways impacts of the 
development.
- Contamination risks on the site.
- Flooding risks on the site.
- Noise impacts of the development.
- Whether the location or siting of the building 
makes it otherwise impractical or undesirable 
for the use of the building to change as 
proposed.

Prior 
Approval 
not 
required

10.06.2016

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Planning Committee Report - 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

2

- Design and external appearance impacts on 
the building.

SW/10/0123 Lawful Development Certificate for two storey 
rear extension (Proposed)

Approved 16.02.2010

SW/09/1261 Proposed Lawful Development Certificate for a 
two storey rear extension off 'original house'.

Withdrawn 01.02.2010

SW/01/1244 Extension to house to form annexe Approved 20.03.2002
PN/01/0053 Agricultural Notification for the erection of 

storage building
Prior 
Approval 
not 
required

20.08.2001

SW/95/0391 Transfer of agricultural occupancy condition 
from Kaine farm bungalow to Kaine farmhouse

Approved 26.06.1995

PN/93/0005 Extension to existing open storage barn Prior 
Approval 
Granted

07.10.1993

MAIN REPORT

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.01 Members will recall that this application was reported to Planning Committee on 2nd 
March 2017.  This report is appended and includes full details of the application site, 
the proposal, planning constraints, local representations, consultations, policies, 
background papers and plan, appraisal and conclusion.  The application was 
deferred following the Development Manager calling in the application as the 
Planning Committee were minded to make a decision that would be contrary to 
Officer recommendation and contrary to planning policy and guidance.

1.02 The purpose of this report is to provide further clarification as to why I believe that the 
proposals are contrary to policy and therefore unacceptable and to set out the 
implications that approving the application could have for the Council.

1.03 Subsequent to the Planning Committee of 2nd March 2017 the agent has submitted 
further documents in the form of an additional supporting letter; a drawing showing 
the distances between buildings on the site and a location plan which shows the site 
in relation to local services.  A further document which provides the agent’s view on 
the Governments Housing White Paper entitled ‘Fixing our Broken Housing Market’ 
has also been submitted, however, this has already been submitted prior to the 
completion of the Committee Report on the 2nd March 2017 Agenda.  As clearly 
stated in the agent’s supporting comments, the White Paper does not comprise 
Government policy, is subject to consultation and does not represent adopted policy.  
As a result I do not believe that any significant weight should be attached to this and 
for this reason I do not consider that any detailed assessment of this document 
should be made at this time.  However, I note that the White Paper does state at 
paragraph 1.24, as the agent refers to in the supporting letter, that pressure on the 
countryside in terms of residential development should be limited.

2.0 DISCUSSION

2.01 As Members will be aware the Council’s emerging Local Plan has recently gone 
through its examination in public.  The Council has a claimed five-year land supply 
position of 5.4 years (2015/16), but this has yet to be confirmed by the Local Plan 
Examination process.  As a result, for the purposes of this application it should be 

Page 2



Planning Committee Report - 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

3

assumed that the Council is not yet in a position to be able to demonstrate a five-year 
supply and that the provisions of paragraph 49 of the NPPF should be taken as 
applying.

2.02 However, as set out in the previous report, due to the advanced stage that the 
Council has reached in the in the preparation of the Local Plan, although considered 
out of date by the NPPF, weight can be given to relevant policies for the supply of 
housing. 

2.03 In accordance with the requirements of paragraph 14 of the NPPF, the approach 
adopted has been to assess the proposal against the NPPF’s requirements to grant 
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
Framework or taken as a whole.  The benefits were identified as follows:

- The contribution towards housing in the Borough and to the 5 year housing land 
supply;

- Limited contribution towards the economic strand of sustainable development by 
virtue of the construction phase and increased spending in the local economy.

However, it is considered that these benefits would be offset firstly by the poor and 
remote location of the site in relation to the closest services and facilities and the 
likely dependence on the car to reach them.  Secondly, the impact of introducing a 
group of dwellings into this countryside location was considered to be significantly 
harmful.  The conclusion reached was that the proposal would not constitute 
sustainable development.

2.04 It should be reiterated that the Council has both adopted and emerging policies (that 
should also be given weight due to the stage that the Local Plan has reached) which 
intend to protect the countryside against development other than in the 
circumstances which are clearly set out.  Furthermore, paragraph 14 of the NPPF 
also states that adverse impacts of developments need to be taken into account.  
This application satisfies none of the criteria within policy E6 of the adopted plan and 
falls within the least desirable location as set out in policy ST3 of the emerging plan.  
The Council has taken relevant steps in the emerging Local Plan in order to address 
the shortfall in housing supply and has identified alternative sites within the Borough 
which can meet the housing need in a more sustainable way.  Therefore, the 
development of this unsustainable site for housing is unnecessary, the harm 
outweighs the benefits and as such the proposal fails to be supported by either 
national or local policies.

2.05 An as an exception to the above is Policy DM9 (Rural exceptions housing) of the 
emerging Local Plan which sets out the criteria which would need to be satisfied for 
granting planning permission for affordable housing to meet local needs in rural 
areas.  In addition to this the NPPF encourages local planning authorities to be 
responsive to local circumstances and to plan housing development to reflect local 
needs, particularly for affordable housing, including through rural exception sites 
where appropriate.  However, putting aside the difficulties that this application would 
have in complying with criterion 1 of policy DM9 (insofar as the site is not in 
accordance with Policy ST3 and is not in a location where access to day to day 
services can be easily and conveniently achieved), this application does not propose 
any element at all of affordable housing with or without market enabling housing.  
The result of this would be that the dwellings would be open market housing and 
therefore the application would not be able to be considered as an exception under 
this policy.   

Page 3



Planning Committee Report - 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

4

2.06 Without compliance with any of the adopted or emerging local policies or national 
policies, if this application was to be approved then the very real risk that this would 
pose would be that large sections of adopted and emerging policy would be 
undermined unless any material considerations taken into account are strong enough 
to justify a departure from the development plan and NPPF.  The result of this would 
be twofold.  The initial and short term impact would be that this unsustainable site 
would be developed for housing, to the detriment of the countryside in this specific 
location.  Secondly, by approving an application for residential development on this 
site a precedent would potentially be created for similar applications on other 
unsuitable sites throughout the Borough.  Therefore, if this proposal is approved then 
there is the potential that in doing so the principle that this would establish could be 
used against the Council on other sites, weakening the position that the Council has 
put itself into by virtue of the steps taken to address the shortfall in housing supply.  
The result of this could be that further residential development in unsuitable locations 
causing harm to the character of the Borough would be difficult to resist.    

2.07 I am also aware of the proposal being referred to in the discussion at 2nd March 2017 
Committee as brownfield land.  In response to this, firstly, the Planning Statement 
submitted by the agent in support of the application at paragraph 5.2.21 sets out that 
the site is not a brownfield site.  This is indeed the case and to confirm this I have 
included in full the definition of previously developed land which is included in Annex 
2: Glossary of the National Planning Policy Framework: 

“Previously developed land

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of 
the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage 
should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This 
excludes: land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry 
buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by 
landfill purposes where provision for restoration has been made through 
development control procedures; land in built-up areas such as private residential 
gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously-
developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface 
structure have blended into the landscape in the process of time.”

2.08 I have emboldened and underlined the relevant section which would relate to this 
application.  As a result of this it is clear that any planning merits associated with the 
belief that the site is making use of previously developed land, is in planning terms 
clearly not the case and as a result I am of the view that this should not be 
considered to a reason as to why the application would be acceptable.

2.09 Furthermore, It is clear to me that the exclusion of agricultural / forestry buildings 
from the definition is aimed to avoid situations where such buildings, that are 
necessarily required in the countryside and are sometimes in isolated, unsustainable 
or sensitive areas, are replaced for uses (such as residential) that do not need to be 
sited in such locations – and the precedent that this would set given the number and 
size of agricultural buildings that exist throughout the Borough.  I do not consider the 
existing buildings on this site to be unusually large or different to many other farm 
complexes in the countryside, and I have particular concern that a precedent would 
be set if permission was granted.

Page 4



Planning Committee Report - 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

5

3.0 CONCLUSION

3.01 As set out above, one of the very real risks of approving this application for 
development which in my view is not sustainable and would cause significant and 
unacceptable harm to the countryside is the precedent that this would set.  The 
application site is located in the countryside, separated from local services and 
facilities and as discussed above does not constitute in planning terms previously 
developed land.  To approve this application would result in the Council undermining 
both its adopted and emerging local plan policies and would establish the principle of 
development which could equally be applied to a large number of unsuitable and 
isolated sites around the Borough.  If Members were to approve this application then 
I am of the view that it would need to be clearly stated as to which policy in the local 
or emerging local plan, or which criteria within the NPPF that the proposal would 
comply with, or alternatively what material considerations are strong enough to 
override these policies and to promote a basis as an exception to policy.  Failure to 
do this would establish the principle of residential development on an unknown 
number of similar sites throughout the Borough where the Council has taken steps 
through the emerging Local Plan to resist residential development.  However, as set 
out in the original report, and as above, I believe that this proposal is not in 
compliance with policies at either a local or a national level and that there are no 
exceptional circumstances to consider approval.  As a result I am of the view that the 
application should be refused.

4.0 RECOMMENDATION – REFUSE for the following reasons:

1) The proposals would not represent sustainable development.  They would be 
located away from established settlements in the Borough within the 
countryside outside the defined built up area boundaries as identified by Local 
Plan saved policies SH1 and E6 and emerging Local Plan Policy ST3.  The 
proposals would therefore be located as to be poorly served by easily 
assessable facilities and services and a range of transport options.  They 
would also be harmful to the landscape character and visual amenity of the 
surrounding countryside.  Notwithstanding the contribution that the proposals 
would make toward the Borough’s five-year supply of housing land, the 
adverse harm arising from the proposals would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits.  The proposals would be contrary to policies SP1, SP2, 
SH1, E1, E6, E9, E19 and H2 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008, policies 
ST1, ST3, CP2, DM14 and DM24 of the emerging Swale Borough Local Plan 
2031 (Proposed Main Modifications June 2016), together with paragraphs 14, 
17 and 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework

2) The introduction of 6 properties, grouped together in this rural setting would 
be seriously at odds with the surrounding pattern of development and as a 
result would introduce an alien form of development into this location causing 
unacceptable harm to the countryside and visual amenities. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to policies E1, E6, E9 and E19 of the Swale Borough Local 
Plan 2008 and policies DM14 and DM24 of the emerging Swale Borough 
Local Plan 2031 (Proposed Main Modifications June 2016).

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

6

3.5 REFERENCE NO - 16/507425/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Demolition of 7 farm buildings and erection of 6 detached houses and garages, associated 
SUDS ponds, landscaping and wildlife planting.

ADDRESS Land Rear Of Kaine Farm House Breach Lane Upchurch Kent ME9 7PH 

RECOMMENDATION Refuse

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR REFUSAL
The proposed development falls outside of the built up area boundary and is not identified as 
one of the Council’s preferred housing allocations within the emerging Local Plan.  The 
emerging Local Plan can now be given significant weight owing to its advanced stage in the 
examination process.  Notwithstanding the contribution that the proposals would make to the 
five years supply of housing land, the harm caused by this proposal would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the very limited benefits and additionally there would be unacceptable 
harm caused to the character and amenity value of the countryside.  As a result the proposal 
would not constitute sustainable development.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Called in by Cllr Lewin
WARD Hartlip, Newington 
And Upchurch

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Upchurch

APPLICANT Mr T Ripley
AGENT Lander Planning

DECISION DUE DATE
20/12/16

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
15/12/16

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites):
App No Proposal Decision Date
16/503169/PNQCLA Prior notification for the change of use of 1 

building from agriculture to form 2 residential 
units and for associated operational 
development
For it's prior approval to:
- Transport and Highways impacts of the 
development.
- Contamination risks on the site.
- Flooding risks on the site.
- Noise impacts of the development.
- Whether the location or siting of the building 
makes it otherwise impractical or undesirable 
for the use of the building to change as 
proposed.
- Design and external appearance impacts on 
the building.

Prior 
Approval 
not 
required

10.06.2016

SW/10/0123 Lawful Development Certificate for two storey 
rear extension (Proposed)

Approved 16.02.2010

SW/09/1261 Proposed Lawful Development Certificate for a 
two storey rear extension off 'original house'.

Withdrawn 01.02.2010

SW/01/1244 Extension to house to form annexe Approved 20.03.2002
PN/01/0053 Agricultural Notification for the erection of 

storage building
Prior 
Approval 
not 

20.08.2001

Page 7



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

7

required
SW/95/0391 Transfer of agricultural occupancy condition 

from Kaine farm bungalow to Kaine farmhouse
Approved 26.06.1995

PN/93/0005 Extension to existing open storage barn Prior 
Approval 
Granted

07.10.1993

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 The application site is comprised of Kaine Farm House which fronts onto Breach 
Lane and the land to the rear of the dwelling.  The site measures approximately 
105m x 70m.  To the rear of the property lies seven farm buildings which in the most 
part are broadly arranged facing inwards around a central courtyard area.  

1.02 The wider surrounding area is predominately characterised by farmland and 
countryside, however within close proximity of the application site there are some 
residential properties and agricultural, employment and equestrian related 
development located along Breach Lane to both the north and south of the 
application site.  A solar farm lies approximately 400m to the north west of the site.  
The profile of the surrounding landscape is undulating.

1.03 Access to the site is gained from Breach Lane and passes adjacent to Kaine Farm 
House.  A public footpath also crosses the site running broadly east – west.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 This application seeks planning permission for the demolition of the seven existing 
agricultural buildings which occupy the site and the erection of six detached dwellings 
(4 x 4 bed and 2 x 5 bed). 

2.02 Five of the six dwellings would be arranged to face inwards around a central 
courtyard area where vehicular access would be provided.  The remaining unit would 
be situated in the north of the site and would front onto the existing access.

2.03 The proposed properties would be predominately two storey in height with some 
elements at single storey height.  The roofs would be a mixture of pitched, hipped 
and catslide in design and the materials would be brick, weatherboarding and clay 
roof tiles.  Two properties would also have detached garages which would have 
pitched roofs.  A two storey detached structure including a garage, with a vehicle 
underpass for the existing property at Kaine Farm is also proposed.

2.04 Each property would have its own dedicated parking provision and associated private 
amenity space. 

2.05 Access to the site would be gained from the existing access on Breach Lane.  Two 
SUDS ponds would be located within the site, either side of the vehicular entrance to 
the courtyard.    

3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

3.01 Environment Agency Flood Zone 2 

Page 8



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

8

4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

Swale Borough Local Plan 2008

4.01 Saved policies E1, E6, H2 and RC3 of the adopted Local Plan are relevant.  E1 is a 
general development policy which sets out a number of criteria to which all 
developments are expected to adhere.

4.02 E6 is the Council’s main policy in terms of rural restraint and it aims to protect the 
countryside for its own sake.  The policy restricts residential development within the 
countryside unless it is expressly for the purposes of satisfying an identified local 
affordable need in accordance with policy RC3; housing for agricultural workers 
(again in response to an identified need); or for gypsies or travellers.

4.03 The caveats of E6 are supported by policy RC3, which states that new housing within 
the rural area will be met within the existing built up area boundaries, or 
“exceptionally at sites where planning permission for residential development would 
not normally be granted, where proposals are specifically and wholly intended to 
meet an identified local affordable housing need of the community provided the 
promoter of the scheme demonstrates that: 

1. the identified need cannot otherwise be met within the confines of the built-up 
area, or failing this, on previously developed land adjoining the built confines of 
the settlement; 

2. the development is of a size and type suitable to meet the needs identified in a 
local housing needs survey; 

3. the site is well related to available village services and public transport; 
4. the proposal contains no element of general market housing; 
5. there are no overriding environmental or highway objections; and 
6. the scheme has the support of the local Parish Council.”

4.04 Policy H2 states that new housing development will be allowed within the built up 
area or at specifically allocated sites.  Outside of those areas development is 
expected to accord with E6 and RC3, above.  However, the Council is currently 
unable to demonstrate a five year supply of housing land.  In such circumstances 
national guidance advises that the policy is not compliant with the aims of the NPPF, 
para. 49 thereof stating:

“Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if 
the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites.”

4.05 This shortage / NPPF non-compliance was recognised by the Local Plan Inspector 
(in her consideration of the emerging local plan, ‘Bearing Fruits’), who consequently 
increased our annual supply figure to 776 dwellings per annum.  The end result of 
this is, in essence, that the Council has, since the LP review, had to consider sites 
outside of the defined built up areas and current adopted allocated sites for new 
housing development to assist in meeting our 5yr supply target.  Some of this need 
will be met through new allocations currently under consideration, while some will 
come through consideration of windfall sites (such as the current application site).  
This does not mean, however, that the other policies noted in this section do not 
apply.

Page 9



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

9

4.06 Nevertheless, the Council has made further site allocations through the LP main 
modification procedure although the presence of a five year supply has yet to be 
demonstrated via the Local Plan examination process. However, the fact that the 
Council has taken relevant steps to address and resolve the shortfall of supply is a 
material consideration, as set out in the recent Richborough Estates Court of Appeal 
decision (discussed further below).

The emerging local plan; Swale Borough Local Plan 2031 (Proposed Main 
Modifications June 2016)

4.07 Policy ST1, similar to E1 of the adopted plan, is a general policy aimed to achieve 
sustainable development throughout the Borough.  The most relevant criteria are:

4. Accord with the Local Plan settlement strategy; and
7. Deliver a wide choice of high quality homes by: 

a. balancing levels of forecast housing needs with that which is 
deliverable;

b. providing housing opportunity, choice and independence with types of 
housing for local needs; and

c. keeping vitality within rural communities with identified housing needs, 
proportionate to their character, scale and role.

4.08 ST3 sets out the Swale settlement strategy, and identifies preferred locations for 
residential development.  Para.6 of the policy states that “locations outside the built-
up area boundaries shown on the Proposals Map fall in the open countryside where 
development will not normally be permitted, unless supported by national planning 
policy and able to demonstrate that it would contribute to protecting and where 
appropriate enhancing the intrinsic value, tranquillity and beauty of the countryside, 
its buildings and the vitality of rural communities.”  In terms of the current application 
this means that, as with policies E6 and RC3 above, the proposed site is at the 
bottom of the list in terms of where officers would recommend new housing to be 
placed.

4.09 Policy CP2 states that new development will be located to minimise the need to 
travel for employment and services, and to facilitate sustainable transport choices.

4.10 CP3 aims to provide a wide choice of high-quality homes across the Borough.  It 
aims to steer development to the built up areas and allocated sites, or to windfall 
sites “except where the character of the site, its local context or environmental value 
determines otherwise,” and to “meet the housing requirements of specific groups, 
including families, older persons, or disabled and other vulnerable persons.”

4.11 Policy DM9 relates to rural exceptions housing, and states that “planning permission 
for affordable housing (including pitches for Gypsies and Travellers) to meet local 
needs in rural areas will be granted provided [amongst others]:

1. The site accords with Policy ST3 and/or is in a location where access to day 
to day services can be conveniently and easily achieved;

2. The site and proposed development would not have a significant adverse 
impact upon the character of the settlement, the surrounding countryside and 
the amenity of the existing community;

Page 10



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

10

3. A need for the scheme is clearly justified by the applicant, to the satisfaction 
of the Council, by providing the following to accompany a planning 
application: 
a. an up-to-date parish or village housing needs assessment undertaken 

or carried out by a recognised and appropriate body;
b. a thorough site options appraisal; and
c. a prepared statement of community involvement that has sought to 

include the significant input of the Parish Council.”

4.12 DM14 is a general policy similar to E1 of the adopted Plan, and sets out a number of 
criteria all developments are expected to accord with.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.13 Paragraph 14 states that “at the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden 
thread running through both plan-making and decision-taking.”  In respect of 
decision-taking it notes that LPAs should approve proposals that accord with the 
development plan without delay.  It continues to note that where the development 
plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, permission should be 
granted “unless:
- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole; or

- specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.”

4.14 This is particularly relevant in terms of policy H2 of the Local Plan, as noted above, 
as H2 is considered non-compliant and thus “silent” for the purposes of interpreting 
this paragraph.  It does note, however, that adverse impacts need to be taken into 
account, and therefore does not present a carte-blanche to approving residential 
development within the countryside.

4.15 Paragraph 17 (11th and 12th bullet points only) of the NPPF are relevant, and state 
that “within the overarching roles that the planning system ought to play, a set of core 
land-use planning principles should underpin both plan-making and decision-taking.

- actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible use of public 
transport, walking and cycling, and focus significant development in locations 
which are or can be made sustainable; and

- take account of and support local strategies to improve health, social and 
cultural wellbeing for all, and deliver sufficient community and cultural facilities 
and services to meet local needs.”

4.16 Paragraph 35 encourages developments that “protect and exploit opportunities for 
the use of sustainable transport modes.”  It states that development should be 
located and designed to give priority to pedestrians, create safe and secure layouts 
for pedestrian and cycle movements, and consider the needs of people with 
disabilities by all modes of transport.

4.17 Paragraph 49, as discussed above, states that “relevant policies for the supply of 
housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.”  This is discussed in 
further detail in the appraisal section below.

Page 11



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

11

4.18 Paragraph 50 states that LPAs should deliver a wide choice of high quality homes 
and create sustainable communities by taking demographic trends into consideration, 
provide housing reflecting local demand, and securing affordable housing provision.  
Further to this para. 54 states that LPAs should be responsive and reflexive to local 
affordable and rural housing needs.

4.19 Paragraph 55 of the NPPF is crucial in the consideration of applications such as this, 
and is worth reproducing in its entirety (my emphasis in bold):

“To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be 
located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities.  For example, where there are groups of smaller settlements, 
development in one village may support services in a village nearby. Local 
planning authorities should avoid new isolated homes in the countryside 
unless there are special circumstances such as:

● the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near 
their place of work in the countryside; or

● where such development would represent the optimal viable use of a 
heritage asset or would be appropriate enabling development to 
secure the future of heritage assets; or

● where the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings 
and lead to an enhancement to the immediate setting; or

● the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the 
dwelling. Such a design should:
– be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of 

design more generally in rural areas;
– reflect the highest standards in architecture;
– significantly enhance its immediate setting; and
– be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area.”

5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.01 Two letters of objection were received from neighbouring properties raising the 
following summarised points:

- Concern that the digging of foundations could harm the structural integrity of 
structures which abut the site;

- The proposed dwelling labelled as ‘property 1’ backs onto the stable block of the 
neighbouring property and the muck heap would be located within close proximity 
of the garden boundary of this proposed property;

- ‘Property 1’ would overlook the neighbouring site and will cause overshadowing 
due to its height;

- The majority of the boundary fence is 2/3 strand barbed wire which is covered by 
personal covenants in the deeds, this is not suitable for family housing;

- Approval for this scheme would set a precedent in the surrounding area;
- The lane is narrow and not suitable for an increase in traffic;
- Very restricted sight lines on exiting the site. 

Page 12



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

12

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

6.01 Upchurch Parish Council stated that “Councillors considered the application and 
agreed unanimously that they had no comments to make save that neighbour 
comments should be taken into consideration.”

6.02 Newington Parish Council stated that “Councillors considered the application at the 
Planning Committee meeting on 17 November and have no comments to make.”

6.03 Lower Halstow Parish Council stated that “Although Kaine Farm is not within 
Lower Halstow itself, the Council believes that residents of Lower Halstow will be 
adversely affected due to the increase in traffic flow in Breach Lane, a narrow country 
lane. The property is situated on a particularly difficult part of the road for two cars to 
pass or indeed, articulated lorries going to and from Brookerpaks and buses 
including school buses. Sight lines in both directions are poor on leaving the 
property.”

6.04 KCC Highways & Transportation initially responded stating that the existing access 
to the site is acceptable although drawings showing internal tracking for refuse, fire 
tender and pantechnicon vehicles should be provided along with an additional visitor 
space.  Additional and amended drawings have been received and KCC Highways & 
Transportation “confirm that further to the revised documentation submitted by the 
applicant I raise no objection on behalf of the local highway authority”.  This is subject 
to conditions relating to provision for construction vehicles; provision of parking 
facilities for site personnel and visitors; prevention of discharge of surface water onto 
the highway; wheel washing facilities; retention of car parking spaces; retention of 
vehicle loading / unloading and turning facilities.

6.05 Environment Agency “assessed this application as having a low environmental risk.  
Five of the dwelling houses fall into Flood Zone 1, which has a low risk of flooding. 
Only one dwelling house, to the right of the access road falls on the boundary of 
Flood Zone 2, which would fall under our Flood Risk Standing Advice.”

6.06 KCC Ecology raise no objection but request conditions relating to breeding birds and 
to enhancing the quality and quantity of biodiversity.

6.07 The Council’s Rural Planning Consultant initially raised the issue that the Planning 
Statement and Transport Statement indicate that the existing buildings are in active 
agricultural use as the impact of that use are compared to the position if housing 
were to be constructed instead.  However, there has been nothing included which 
would explain how the current operation would survive without the buildings or the 
prospect of the requirement for replacement buildings in the event of development 
going ahead.  Therefore a supplementary statement was requested in order to deal 
with the above.

As a result of this, an additional statement was forthcoming from the agent which set 
out that the agricultural use of the premises ceased in 2005 and the land is now used 
for grazing.  As a result none of the buildings are now in agricultural use and are 
either redundant or used in connection to the private stabling of horses.  If an 
assumption is made that the existing buildings would not be returned to a commercial 
agricultural use then it would also appear that replacement buildings would not be 
required.  However, also based upon this assumption it would seem inappropriate to 

Page 13



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

13

compare the local impacts of an active agricultural use with that of housing and the 
comparison should instead be made with the existing private equestrian use.

6.08 KCC Public Rights of Way state that public footpath ZR26 passes through the site 
and that should consent be granted, the development will impact upon the public use, 
enjoyment and amenity of the Public Right of Way.  As a result a condition is 
recommended which requires a minimum width of 2m to be retained for the proposed 
pedestrian access along the public right of way on the grounds of safety and public 
enjoyment.

6.09 The Council’s Environmental Health Manager raises no objection subject to 
conditions related to construction hours; asbestos; suppression of dust; and 
contamination and remediation.  A further response relating to the requirement for a 
2m close boarded fence would be required along the boundary of proposed ‘property 
1’ shared with ‘Oakview’ due to the location of the stables at the neighbouring 
property.

6.10 Swale Footpaths Group state that “a PRoW crosses the site, but the applicant has
shown it on their plans as being unaffected and has answered "No" to the question 
about whether a diversion would be needed.” 

6.11 Cllr Lewin stated “Whilst I have not pre-determined my position on this application I 
think there is some merit in it being approved.

Firstly one has to accept that the land cannot be returned to agricultural use.
It therefore follows that the impact of any alternative use has to be considered 
against its last use as stables – I am thinking primarily of traffic generation.

In the situation where the land is not used it would have the equivalent status of 
brown field land with road infrastructure already in place making it ideal, in NPPF 
terms, to be used for windfall housing development counted in the 5-year housing 
supply target.

 
Whilst the site is within a rural area and outside the built environment of the village I 
note that Upchurch PC, the parish within which the application is sited, do not object 
[for information whilst I am a member of UPC I did not participate or vote when this 
application was discussed].

Whilst there may be a case for arguing poor access to services from this location, I 
would refer you to the APP/V2255/A/14/2220447 [Spade Lane, Hartlip a location not 
too distant from Breach Lane].

The Inspector rejected arguments that reasons for dismissal should include “poor 
access to services” on the grounds that people in rural areas rely heavily on private 
transport – in this case they were Gypsies and Travellers.

The appeal was however dismissed for other reasons.

I would also note that public transport serves Breach Lane with one of the stops 
being at this location also school transport is provided along the A2 as well as other 
public transport services.

I note that KCC Highways do not object.

Page 14



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

14

I am inclined to the view that there is not any demonstrable harm arising from this 
application and that it is a useful windfall site amongst the thirteen other residences 
at this location.

If your report recommends refusal, as a Ward Member, I request that it be called in 
for determination by the Planning Committee.”

6.12 Cllr Wright commented “I would agree with my fellow ward councillor that there is 
merit in this case and would draw your attention to a similar site approved by 
members at high oak hill newington which is as far away from services and has no 
bus routes and poorer access.

I believe also this site Kaine farm could revert to a farm shop and wholesale fruit and 
veg warehousing as used by Ken Stevens the then farmer under the name of 
Bishenden.  So would agree to its committee report.”

7.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

7.01 The application is supported by a Planning Statement, Design & Access Statement, 
Transport Statement, Sustainability Statement, Phase 1 Desk Study, Low Impact 
Ecological Impact Assessment Report along with associated drawings.

7.02 The Planning Statement is divided into the following sections:

- Introduction
- Site Location and Surroundings
- Planning History and Pre Application Consultation
- Planning Policy
- Planning Appraisal
- Conclusion

7.03 The Planning Statement sets out in detail the current policy background which this 
application is to be assessed against.  It sets out that the Council can not currently 
demonstrate a five year supply of housing land and as such the policies which relate 
to the location of housing development are out of date.  As a result of this the 
presumption in favour sustainable development should take precedence, in 
accordance with paragraph 49 of the NPPF.  The Statement concludes:

7.04 “The proposal would constitute sustainable development in accordance with the
NPPF. There are numerous social, environmental and economic benefits of the
proposal, all of which comprise the individual facets of sustainable development.
The sustainability merits of the proposal have been outlined within this Statement
(and the accompanying statement by SI Partnership) which should override the
usual policy presumption against housing in the countryside. The site is not
unsustainably located, but is within one mile of Newington’s numerous shops and
services and is located within walking distance of a local bus service and cycling
distance from a train station, making these modes an option for a proportion of
journeys undertaken by new residents. there are numerous social, environmental and 
economic benefits of the proposal, all of which  that due to the location of the site it 
constitutes sustainable development.“

Page 15



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

15

8.0 APPRAISAL

Principle of Development

8.01 The application site lies outside of the built up area boundary and as a result in 
planning terms is in the countryside.  Here the Council’s established policies of rural 
restraint seek to restrict residential development unless it is for the purposes of 
(amongst others) agricultural worker’s housing, or affordable housing to meet an 
identified local need.

8.02 These policies of restraint would normally point to development contrary to both the 
adopted and emerging Local Plans.  However, para 49 of the NPPF renders policies 
affecting the supply of housing out of date where a five year supply of housing land 
cannot be demonstrated.  Furthermore, considerable weight should be attached to 
the applications potential contributions towards the five year supply.

8.03 Whilst housing land supply policies are considered out of date the courts (ref: The 
Royal Court of Justice ruling in relation to i) Suffolk Coastal District Council and 
Hopkins Homes Limited and Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government, and ii) Richborough Estates Partnership LLP and Cheshire East 
Borough Council and Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government) 
have established that whilst a failure to demonstrate an up-to-date five-year housing 
supply opens up consideration of sites that would be otherwise unacceptable under 
any policies that restrict the supply of housing (rural restraint policies, for example), 
there is still a duty imposed upon officers to consider all other relevant policies 
within both local guidance and the NPPF when assessing the suitability of any sites 
that come forward as part of an application.  The weight that is afforded to those 
individual policies needs to be balanced against the lack of a demonstrable five-year 
supply, but does not negate the validity or the intention of those policies in 
themselves.

8.04 Therefore the acceptability of the principle of development can’t be established from 
the outset, and a conclusion needs to be arrived at following consideration of the 
individual matters as set out below, and the associated policies.

Housing supply and the impact on policy

8.05 As noted above I have to consider the otherwise unacceptable nature of this 
development against the need for the Council to demonstrate a five-year housing 
supply.  As above it is for Members to determine whether or not the policies in the 
development plan (adopted and emerging Local Plans, the NPPF and the NPPG) 
outweigh the need for more housing.

8.06 Paragraphs 14 and 49 of the NPPF state that, in summary, where we can’t 
demonstrate a five-year supply the Council should “approve development proposals 
that accord with the development plan without delay”.  However, paragraph 14 
caveats this position by stating that permission should be granted unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits when assessed against policies in the NPPF, or specific policies in 
the NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

Page 16



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

16

Impacts of Development 

Location of Development

8.07 Within the Emerging Local Plan, settlements outside of the built up area boundary, as 
is the case here, are ranked at the bottom in terms of where this Council wishes to 
direct new homes.  As such, when tackling the housing need in the borough on a 
strategic level this Council has identified sites that would be far more sustainable.  
The Council is able to demonstrate through the housing allocations identified in the 
emerging local plan that there are many more sites within the Borough that can meet 
the housing need in a sustainable way.  The application site is therefore not 
necessary to meet the housing needs of this Borough.  Developing the site for 
housing would be contrary to the strategic and sustainable approach to delivering 
housing that the Council has shown can be achieved through the emerging local plan 
(which I consider should now be given significant weight).  I therefore believe that the 
development would be unsustainable in this respect.

8.08 As the supporting documents set out, there is a bus stop located approximately 50m 
from the site providing on Monday – Friday an hourly service during the day and one 
evening service, an hourly service on Saturday and no service on Sundays.  Aside 
from this, the closest services are located in Newington which would most likely be 
accessed by travelling either south along Breach Lane and then east along the A2 or 
east along Breach Lane into School Lane to access the Primary School or continuing  
south into Church Lane to access the centre of Newington.  Breach Lane does not 
have a footpath and is unlit.  When this is combined with the distance to the centre of 
Newington of 1.9km I am of the very strong view that the likelihood of residents of the 
dwellings proposed using either of the above routes to access these facilities and 
services on foot is highly unlikely.  Furthermore, I consider that only a keen cyclist 
would be prepared to use this route due to the condition of the highway as set out 
above. Likewise, I also consider that there would be some limited potential for future 
residents of the dwellings to find employment at one of the services provided within 
Newington.  

8.09 In addition to the above, I am of the opinion that the private car would be extremely 
heavily relied upon and only reinforces my view that the location of the site is 
unsustainable.  Furthermore, although the supporting documents include a number of 
sustainability features which are set out in the Sustainability Statement these are 
related to the individual dwellings and the surrounding amenity areas.  Although the 
intention of all the features would be welcomed this does not in my view compensate 
for the inherently unsustainable location of the application site.

8.10 I have also taken into account the Transport Statement which has been submitted in 
support of the application.  This document concludes the following:

- “This assessment is based upon relatively recent use of the site and it is relevant 
that the site has been used more intensively in the past and could revert to a 
more intensive traffic generation without the need for planning permission.

- It is predicted that the replacement of the farm buildings with the development of 
six residential units will reduce the number of trips accessing and egressing the 
site during the week.

- The vehicles associated with the site will change from large agricultural vehicles 
to mainly cars.  This will lead to a betterment in terms of the operation of the 
access junction.

Page 17



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

17

- The site is located within walking distance of a local bus service and cycling 
distance from a train station, making these modes an option for a proportion of 
journeys undertaken by new residents.” 

8.11 Regardless of the traffic generation of the agricultural use that could operate from the 
site without planning permission, it must be taken into account that an agricultural 
use is generally required to operate from a countryside location such as this.  This is 
not the case in terms of housing which, as set out in the assessment above, the 
Council has identified a number of other sites within the Borough which are in a more 
sustainable location.  Notwithstanding this, the traffic movements, compared to if the 
previous use was reinstated would, according to the Transport Statement, drop by a 
predicted 4 trips per week if the site was developed for 6 dwellings.  I consider this to 
be such a small difference that I do not believe that this assessment should override 
the unsustainable location of the site.  In any case, it also has to be taken into 
account that as clearly set out in the supporting documents, the agricultural use of 
the site has ceased, is unlikely to be re-instated and the site is currently used in 
connection with a private equestrian use.  Therefore I would contend that the actual 
trips to and from the site currently undertaken would be extremely low.  The result of 
this would be that the erection of 6 dwellings in this unsustainable location would 
increase traffic generation.

Visual Impact

8.12 Although there is some built form to both the north and south of the application site, 
the surrounding area is more distinctly characterised by open fields and countryside.  
I also take into consideration that although there are some grouping of buildings 
relatively close to the application site, none of these are in the form of a group of 
dwellings.  As set out in the supporting documents the site is occupied by existing 
built form comprised of agricultural buildings.  I would agree that the existing 
buildings are of little architectural merit and would in my view be described as 
functional in terms of their design.  However, I am also of the opinion that this type of 
agricultural development is not uncommon in a countryside location such as this.  
Therefore, although the agricultural use of the site, as set out in the supporting 
documents has ceased, this does not in itself in my view constitute a reason for 
finding this site acceptable for residential use.  I also consider that the removal of the 
agricultural buildings and the replacement with a housing development would 
introduce an alien and incongruous group of buildings into this location.  As a result I 
am of the view that the development, due to this assessment would cause 
unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the countryside.

8.13 As a result of the above assessment, and as required by the NPPF I take the view 
that the location of the site is unsustainable and that the harm caused by six 
additional dwellings in this countryside location would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits.  Regardless of whether the existing agricultural buildings are 
redundant or not I do not believe that this results in the site being an acceptable one 
for housing.  The advanced stage that the emerging Local Plan has reached only 
reinforces my opinion in relation to this.

8.14 At the current time, as set out above, the site is comprised of an existing dwelling 
fronting onto Breach Lane and agricultural buildings of varying scales and designs.  I 
take the view that the agricultural buildings are of a functional design and consist of a 
variety of styles with varying heights.  The majority of the structures face inwards on 
a central courtyard area.  I am of the opinion that the design of the existing buildings, 

Page 18



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

18

being agricultural in nature, sit comfortably within this rural location as the 
surrounding countryside lends itself to this type of development and it is entirely the 
type of built form that one would expect to see in a countryside setting such as this.  

8.15 It is of significance that public footpath ZR26 passes directly through the site in a 
broadly east – west direction.  As a result of this, clear and prominent views from 
within the application site of the existing and proposed buildings would be available 
from extremely close proximity.  In addition, the levels of the site itself are lower than 
much of the surrounding land and therefore as the public footpath continues to the 
west, increasingly elevated views of the application site, existing development within 
the vicinity and the surrounding countryside are available.  This includes farmland, 
agricultural buildings, employment related development, open countryside, stables 
and dwellings.  I consider that the limited number of dwellings in the surrounding area 
are predominately separated from one another and situated on large plots.  

8.16 The dwellings that have been proposed are grouped together which is in my view 
seriously at odds with the surrounding pattern of residential development.  Although it 
is appreciated that the existing agricultural buildings are grouped together, as set out 
above I believe that their presence within this rural setting is typical of a countryside 
location.  I also take into consideration that when approaching the site from the east 
along footpath ZR26, as set out in the supporting Planning Statement the proposed 
dwellings which would first come into view would be greater in height than the 
existing agricultural buildings.  Therefore I am of the opinion that this would only 
serve to make the development more prominent and to emphasise this incongruous 
type of development within the countryside.  As a result I take the view that to situate 
a housing development, grouped together in this way and of the scale proposed into 
this setting would introduce an alien form of development which would be 
significantly out of keeping with the with the surrounding pattern of development.  As 
such I take the view that the proposed development would cause significant harm to 
the countryside and visual amenities and should be refused for this reason.     

8.17 In relation to the design of the properties themselves, I am of the view that although 
with the right type of materials they could be acceptable in their own right they are 
not of such exceptional quality or innovative in nature that they should be considered 
as an exception to rural policies.       

Residential Amenities

8.18 The supporting documents state that the return to an agricultural use would represent 
a bad neighbour use and as such housing should be considered as a less harmful 
alternative.  However, this must firstly be considered in the context that the 
application makes it clear that the return to agricultural use is extremely unlikely.    
Therefore, if this is taken into consideration then the existing private stabling use of 
the site should be what the proposed use is judged against.  As a result, I am of the 
view that private stables are common in a rural location such as this and I do not 
consider that the proposed use would be a significant improvement in relation to the 
impact upon residential amenities.  Notwithstanding this, if the agricultural use of the 
site was to be reinstated in this rural area there is no evidence to suggest that this 
would represent such a bad neighbour use that any significant weight should be 
given to the alternative of housing as being significantly less harmful.  

Page 19



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

19

8.19 Aside from the identified issues within this report, dealing solely with the layout of the  
proposed houses I consider that they would limit any opportunities for overlooking 
and would provide an acceptable level of private amenity space.

8.20 To the north of the application site lies the property known as ‘Oakview’.  The 
occupier of this property has raised concern regarding the close proximity of the 
proposed ‘property 1’ to the stables upon this neighbouring site.  I have paid close 
attention to the relationship between the location of this proposed property and the 
stables situated on the neighbouring site and further consulted the Council’s 
Environmental Protection Team regarding this.  A response has been received 
stating that to protect residential amenity a 2m close boarded fence be provided 
along this boundary. Although the neighbouring occupier states that the boundary 
treatment is in compliance with the requirements of the property deeds this is not 
controlled by the planning process.  I therefore consider that this solution would 
overcome the proximity of the neighbouring stables.

8.21 In relation to the additional points raised by the neighbouring occupiers I respond as 
follows.  I note that there are two windows on the rear elevation of the proposed 
property 1 which would face towards the rear amenity space of the ‘Oakview’.  
However, I note that these windows would serve a bathroom and staircase.  The 
bathroom window would be expected to be obscure glazed and the window to the 
stairs does not serve a habitable room.  Notwithstanding this, if the recommendation 
had been for approval than I would have imposed a condition requiring these 
windows to be obscure glazed to ensure that the privacy of neighbouring occupiers 
was protected.  In relation to overshadowing of the yard, although this proposed 
property is located closest to the boundary with ‘Oakview’ I take into consideration 
the considerable size of the amenity space and stable area associated with the 
neighbouring dwelling.  As a result I do not consider that the location of this proposed 
property would be unacceptably overbearing or cause unacceptable levels of 
overshadowing.  Finally, the point raised in relation to the structural integrity of 
buildings is not a material planning consideration.

8.22 I have also assessed the relationship between the proposed properties and the 
existing property known as Kaine Farm House.  The rear to rear distance between 
proposed property 2 and the existing dwelling is approximately 25m.  The Council 
expects a minimum rear to rear distance of 21m and as a result I consider this 
separation distance to be acceptable.

Housing provision

8.23 The development would make a contribution towards meeting new homes within the 
Borough generally and the rural area specifically.  There would also be some limited 
employment generated from the construction phase and increased spending in the 
local economy.

Highways

8.24 Due to the layout of the site the existing access will be used from Breach Lane.  KCC 
Highways & Transportation have raised no objection to this and on the receipt of 
amended drawings showing the tracking for various vehicles consider that subject to 
a number of conditions that the impact of the proposal upon highway safety or 
amenities would not be unacceptable.

Page 20



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

20

Impact upon SPA and Ramsar Sites

8.25 I have for completeness set out a Habitat Regulations Assessment below.  This 
confirms that whilst mitigation could be provided by way of developer contributions, 
this is not considered appropriate for developments under 10 dwellings.  The cost of 
mitigation will be met by developer contributions on developments over 10 dwellings.  
In view of this it is not considered that the development will have a harmful impact on 
the special interests of the SPA and Ramsar sites.

Flood Risk

8.26 Although the vast majority of the site lies in Flood Zone 1, Flood Zone 2 does cut 
across the site and includes proposed ‘property 1’.  I have consulted with the 
Environment Agency on this basis who have responded stating that their Flood Risk 
Standing Advice applies in these circumstances.  I have referred to the Standing 
Advice and consider that occupants of the one property which it refers to would have 
the opportunity to access the upper floor of the dwelling or would be able to reach 
higher ground in the event of a flood warning.  As a result of this I am of the view that 
the flood risk for future occupants of the development would not be unacceptable.

Other Matters

8.27 I note the letter received from the Doctors and the statement from the applicant 
relating to the applicant’s brother and the medical assistance that he requires.  
Although I have great sympathy with the medical situation that has been described I 
do not believe that the personal circumstances would outweigh the harm that the 
development as whole would cause.  I also note that the applicants have consent via 
the Prior Notification procedure to convert one of the agricultural buildings to two 
dwellings.  When this is taken into account two additional dwellings could be located 
on the site without the need for any further permission from the Council.  As a result I 
take the view that the difficult personal circumstances do not justify the requirement 
for 6 additional dwellings in light of the possibility that additional dwellings could be 
provided.

8.28 Reference has also been made to two other sites within relatively close proximity to 
the application site to which I respond to as follows.  Firstly, the circumstances 
surrounding the application approved under 14/504984/OUT for 5 dwellings at High 
Oak Hill were markedly different from this site now being considered.  The 
Committee Report written in relation to the High Oak Hill application states that the 
application site lies “in a comparatively unsustainable location, and in an area where 
residential development would normally be considered unacceptable as a matter of 
principle.”  However, in this case it was considered that as the site was in use for 
metal grinding and cutting that this represented a material planning consideration.  
Therefore, the Committee Report went onto state that “I am of the opinion that the 
significant benefits of the proposed development, which are wholly due to the specific 
and unusual circumstances of this site, outweigh the material planning harm 
associated with new dwellings in the countryside, such that the development is 
acceptable as a matter of principle.”    

8.29 Therefore, in comparison to the application as set out above, the use of site being 
considered in this application does not in my view represent a bad neighbour use.  
As a result, I believe that a comparison can not be made on this basis and take the 

Page 21



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

21

view that the decision reached under 14/504984/OUT should have no bearing on the 
proposal now being considered.

8.30 Secondly, an application at Spade Lane, Hartlip is referred to for the siting of two 
mobile homes with an associated utility block, parking for cars, and parking for two 
touring units/caravans.  This application was refused by the Council and a 
subsequent appeal was dismissed.  As part of the Inspector’s decision an 
assessment was made as to whether the site was sustainable.  In relation to this the 
Inspector noted that “the great majority of journeys to these [services and facilities] 
from the site would be by private motor vehicle. On the basis of the advice in Section 
4 of the Framework, the proposed development would not therefore ‘…promote 
sustainable transport…’”.  The Inspector concluded that “the sustainability benefits of 
the proposed development are minimal and more than outweighed by its significant 
and demonstrable disadvantages.”  As a result I take the view that the Inspector 
found the location of the Spade Lane site to be unsustainable.

9.0 CONCLUSION

9.01 In considering whether these proposals constitute sustainable development as set 
out in paras 7 to 10 of the NPPF which sets out the social, economic and 
environmental strands of sustainable development and that the planning system 
should seek gains across all 3.

9.02 In terms of the social strand, I attach weight to the contributions towards housing in 
the borough and to the 5 year housing land supply and the limited positive 
contribution toward the economic strand.  Offsetting this is the poor and remote 
location of the site relative to the range of services and the likely dependence upon 
the car to reach them.  These also feed into my conclusions against the 
environmental strand where I consider that these would have a significant adverse 
impacts on the countryside.  I therefore conclude that the proposals do not constitute 
sustainable development.

9.03 Whilst many of the Local Plan policies that relate to the above conclusions are out of 
date, I consider that in this instance, that they should carry moderate to significant 
weight.  This is because of the advanced stage reached by the emerging Local Plan, 
the considerable progress towards securing a 5 year housing land supply and that 
there are alternative sites, both allocated and windfall able to be provided in other 
locations with greater benefits and lesser overall harm.

9.04 I therefore conclude that the proposals fail to achieve the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as set out in paragraph 14 of the NPPF as not withstanding 
the benefits of the proposals, they are significantly and demonstrably outweighed by 
the adverse impacts and conclude that the application should be refused.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION – REFUSE for the following reasons:

1) The proposals would not represent sustainable development.  They would be 
located away from established settlements in the Borough within the 
countryside outside the defined built up area boundaries as identified by Local 
Plan saved policies SH1 and E6 and emerging Local Plan Policy ST3.  The 
proposals would therefore be located as to be poorly served by easily 
assessable facilities and services and a range of transport options.  They 
would also be harmful to the landscape character and visual amenity of the 

Page 22



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

22

surrounding countryside.  Notwithstanding the contribution that the proposals 
would make toward the Borough’s five-year supply of housing land, the 
adverse harm arising from the proposals would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits.  The proposals would be contrary to policies SP1, SP2, 
SH1, E1, E6, E9, E19 and H2 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008, policies 
ST1, ST3, CP2, DM14 and DM24 of the emerging Swale Borough Local Plan 
2031 (Proposed Main Modifications June 2016), together with paragraphs 14, 
17 and 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework

2) The introduction of 6 properties, grouped together in this rural setting would 
be seriously at odds with the surrounding pattern of development and as a 
result would introduce an alien form of development into this location causing 
unacceptable harm to the countryside and visual amenities. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to policies E1, E6, E9 and E19 of the Swale Borough Local 
Plan 2008 and policies DM14 and DM24 of the emerging Swale Borough 
Local Plan 2031 (Proposed Main Modifications June 2016).

Page 23



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

23

Habitats Regulations Assessment

This HRA has been undertaken without information provided by the applicant.
The application site is located approximately 2.2km south west of the Medway 
Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area and Ramsar site which is a European 
designated sites afforded protection under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 as amended (the Habitat Regulations). 

SPAs are protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the EC Birds 
Directive. They are classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly occurring 
migratory species.  Article 4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires Member 
States to take appropriate steps to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any 
disturbances affecting the birds, in so far as these would be significant having regard 
to the objectives of this Article. The proposal therefore has potential to affect said 
site’s features of interest. 

In considering the European site interest, Natural England advises the Council that it 
should have regard to any potential impacts that the proposal may have. Regulations 
61 and 62 of the Habitat Regulations require a Habitat Regulations Assessment. NE 
also advises that the proposal is not necessary for the management of the European 
sites and that subject to a financial contribution to strategic mitigation, the proposal is 
unlikely to have significant effects on these sites and can therefore be screened out 
from any requirement for further assessment. It goes on to state that when recording 
the HRA the Council should refer to the following information to justify its conclusions 
regarding the likelihood of significant effects; financial contributions should be made 
to the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries Strategic Access Management and 
Monitoring (SAMM) Strategy in accordance with the recommendations of the North 
Kent Environmental Planning Group (NKEPG); the strategic mitigation will need to be 
in place before the dwellings are occupied. 

In terms of screening for the likelihood of significant effects from the proposal on the 
SPA features of interest, the following considerations apply:

• Due to the scale of development there is no scope to provide on site 
mitigation such as an on site dog walking area or signage to prevent the 
primary causes of bird disturbance which are recreational disturbance 
including walking, dog walking (particularly off the lead), and predation birds 
by cats. 

• Based on the correspondence with Natural England, I conclude that off site 
mitigation is required. However, the Council has taken the stance that 
financial contributions will not be sought on developments of this scale 
because of the practicalities of securing payment. In particular, the legal 
agreement may cost more to prepare than the contribution itself. This is an 
illogical approach to adopt; would overburden small scale developers; and 
would be a poor use of Council resources. This would normally mean that the 
development should not be allowed to proceed, however, NE have 
acknowledged that the North Kent Councils have yet to put in place the full 
measures necessary to achieve mitigation across the area and that questions 
relating to the cumulated impacts on schemes of 10 or less will need to be 
addressed in on-going discussions. This will lead to these matters being 
addressed at a later date to be agreed between NE and the Councils 
concerned.

Page 24



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 DEF ITEM 1

APPENDIX 1

24

• Developer contributions towards strategic mitigation of impacts on the 
features of interest of the SPA- I understand there are informal thresholds 
being set by other North Kent Councils of 10 dwellings or more above which 
developer contributions would be sought. Swale Council is of the opinion that 
Natural England’s suggested approach of seeking developer contributions on 
minor developments will not be taken forward and that a threshold of 10 or 
more will be adopted in due course. In the interim, I need to consider the best 
way forward that complies with legislation, the views of Natural England, and 
is acceptable to officers as a common route forward. Swale Borough Council 
intends to adopt a formal policy of seeking developer contributions for larger 
schemes in the fullness of time and that the tariff amount will take account of 
and compensate for the cumulative impacts of the smaller residential 
schemes such as this application, on the features of interest of the SPA in 
order to secure the long term strategic mitigation required. Swale Council is of 
the opinion that when the tariff is formulated it will encapsulate the time period 
when this application was determined in order that the individual and 
cumulative impacts of this scheme will be mitigated for.

Whilst the individual implications of this proposal on the features of interest of the 
SPA will be extremely minimal in my opinion as this is for six dwellings, cumulative 
impacts of multiple smaller residential approvals will be dealt with appropriately by 
the method outlined above.

For these reasons, I conclude that the proposal can be screened out of the need to 
progress to an Appropriate Assessment. I acknowledge that the mitigation will not be 
in place prior to occupation of the dwelling proposed but in the longer term the 
mitigation will be secured at an appropriate level, and in perpetuity.

The Council's approach to this application:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by:

 Offering pre-application advice.
 Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.
 As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 

processing of their application.

In this instance: 

The application was considered to be fundamentally contrary to the provisions of the 
Development Plan and the NPPF, and these were not considered to be any solutions to 
resolve this conflict.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING SERVICES

Planning Items to be submitted to the Planning Committee

30 March 2017

Standard Index to Contents

DEFERRED ITEMS Items shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that 
meeting may be considered at this meeting

PART 1 Reports to be considered in public session not included 
elsewhere on this Agenda

PART 2 Applications for which permission is recommended

PART 3 Applications for which refusal is recommended

PART 4 Swale Borough Council’s own development; observation on 
County Council’s development; observations on development in 
other districts or by Statutory Undertakers and by Government 
Departments; and recommendations to the County Council on 
‘County Matter’ applications.

PART 5 Decisions by County Council and the Secretary of State on 
appeal, reported for information

PART 6 Reports containing “Exempt Information” during the consideration 
of which it is anticipated that the press and public will be 
excluded

ABBREVIATIONS: commonly used in this Agenda

CDA Crime and Disorder Act 1998

GPDO The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015

HRA Human Rights Act 1998

SBLP Swale Borough Local Plan 2008

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



INDEX OF ITEMS FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 MARCH 2017

 Minutes of last Planning Committee Meeting
 Deferred Items
 Minutes of any Working Party Meetings

Deferred Items

Def Item 1 16/507425/FULL UPCHURCH Land rear of Kaine Farm House,
Pg 1 – 24 Breach Lane

Part 2

2.1 16/508117/OUT MINSTER The Slips, Scocles Road
Pg 25 – 46 

2.2 16/501266/FULL NEWINGTON 99 High Street and land to the 
Pg 47 – 87 north of High Street

Part 3

3.1 16/508250/FULL MINSTER Penult, Imperial Avenue
Pg 88 – 91 

Part 5 - Index
Pg 92 – 94 

5.1 15/502681/OUT LOWER HALSTOW Funton Brickworks, Raspberry Hill
Pg 95 – 107 Lane / Sheerness Rd

5.2 16/506983/FULL SITTINGBOURNE 155 Westerham Road
Pg 108 – 109 

5.3 16/506386/FULL FAVERSHAM 11 St Ann’s Road
Pg 110 – 112 

5.4 16/503388/FULL EASTCHURCH 11 Leet Close
Pg 113 – 115 

5.5 15/502191/FULL MINSTER The Hawthorns, Greyhound Road
Pg 116 – 125 

5.6 15/503278/FULL MINSTER Blackthorn Lodge, Greyhound Road
Pg 126 - 135

5.7 15/502237/FULL MINSTER The Peartree, Greyhound Road
Pg 136 – 145 

5.8 16/500318/CHANGE OSPRINGE Land and buildings at Parsonage
Pg 146 – 149 Farm, Painters Forstal

5.9 15/509664/OUT NEWINGTON Land east of St Mary’s View
Pg 150 – 158 

5.10 OSPRINGE Land south-east side of Faversham 
Pg 159 – 163 Road

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

25

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 MARCH 2017 PART 2

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 2

Applications for which PERMISSION is recommended

2.1 REFERENCE NO - 16/508117/OUT
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Outline application (with access being sought) for 62 dwellings including details of vehicular 
access.
ADDRESS The Slips Scocles Road Minster-on-sea Kent ME12 3SN  
RECOMMENDATION Grant subject to comments from the Greenspaces Manager and any 
additional conditions/obligations recommended by them, additional reptile surveys being 
submitted with further comments from KCC Ecology in response and any additional 
conditions/obligations recommended by them, further comments from Kent Highways and 
Transportation and any further conditions recommended by them and a Section 106 agreement. 
SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
The proposed development would provide housing on a site that is allocated for this purpose 
within the emerging Local Plan.  An assessment of the need for housing in the Borough 
highlights a requirement for housing sites that are located outside of the built-up area boundary 
as set out in the adopted Local Plan.  The sustainability of the application site has been 
assessed and it is considered to be acceptable on a strategic and a local level. The economic, 
social and environmental considerations of the proposed development have been assessed and 
I have identified no harm that cannot be adequately mitigated.  Subject to the imposition of the 
conditions listed at the end of the report and the signing of a Section 106 agreement, planning 
permission should be granted.  
REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Parish Council objection; local resident objections; and authority to enter into a Section 106 
agreement

WARD Sheppey Central PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Minster-On-Sea

APPLICANT Parker
AGENT BDB Design LLP

DECISION DUE DATE
02/03/17

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
13/01/17

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE
15/12/2016

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites): There is no relevant planning history for this site.

MAIN REPORT

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 The application site totals 2.778ha in area and is located to the southern boundary of 
the settlement of Minster-on-Sea.  Elm Lane bounds the southern edge of the 
application site and Scocles Road bounds the western edge. A row of detached 
bungalows and houses front onto Scocles Road and lie opposite the application site. 
To the north are mainly detached bungalows/semi-detached bungalows fronting onto 
Drake Avenue. To the east is land used for the grazing of horses and, to the south are 
agricultural fields.    The Thistle Hill housing estate lies to the southwest of the 
application site.  

Page 31



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

26

1.02 The application site is currently used for the grazing of horses.  There is a large 
building (to be demolished) located towards the western boundary of the site that 
appears to be a former agricultural building converted into stables.  The site slopes 
gently to the south and is largely flat with fences dividing the land into paddocks. 
There is a thick hedge that runs along the southern boundary of the site and a thinner 
hedge to the eastern boundary with clusters of small trees and hedges within the 
eastern part of the site.  

1.03 A public footpath (ZS6) crosses the application site at the northeast corner.  This 
footpath link passes through the site linking Scocles Road, Nelson Avenue, Drake 
Avenue and Elm Lane.  There is an existing pond on the site located close to the 
existing stable building.  An open water ditch runs along the eastern boundary of the 
application site where is meets a ditch running along Elm Lane.  

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 This is an outline planning application with all matters reserved, with the exception of 
access, for a maximum of 62 houses to be provided within the site.  The indicative 
plans show that the houses would be a mix of detached, semi-detached and terraced 
two storey, 2, 3, 4 and 5 bedroom properties.  Each property is shown to have at 
least one allocated parking space and there are additional visitor’s spaces shown.  A 
large central green and open space is shown to be provided to the centre and north of 
the application site and the existing pond is to be retained.  The public footpath would 
be incorporated within the development and would not be diverted.  Another large 
area of open spaces is shown to occupy the northeast corner.  The southern 
boundary is shown to be heavily planted with trees and hedges and soft landscaping 
provided throughout.  The illustrative plan shows dwellings fronting onto Scocles 
Road.

2.02 The access to the site would be taken from two points on Scocles Road, one opposite 
nos. 100 and 102 Scocles Road and one opposite no. 118 Scocles Road.  A new 
footway is shown to be provided along the entire length of the western boundary of the 
site as well as a new footway on the opposite side of Scocles Road stretching from no. 
100 Scocles Road to the corner of Harps Avenue.  The application includes details of 
a 30 mile/hour ‘gateway’ which would be located on Scocles Road, close to the corner 
of Elm Lane and would comprise of a red coloured ‘block’ with ‘30’ painted on the 
road, 30m/hr signs and five-bar gates on either side of the road.  

2.03 This outline application details the provision of 13 self-build plots that would be 
located close to the southern boundary of the site.  The intention is for a house 
builder to install infrastructure, providing all 13 plots with services at the outset.  The 
plots would then be offered to private applicants subject to them obtaining detailed 
planning permission for their chosen design which would be in accordance with a 
design brief that is to be submitted (see condition 26).  

Page 32



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

27

3.0 SUMMARY INFORMATION

Proposed
Site Area (ha) 2.778ha
Approximate Ridge Height (m) Not specified
Approximate Eaves Height (m) Not specified
No. of Storeys 2
Parking Spaces At least 2 per dwelling
No. of Residential Units 62
No. of Affordable Units 0
Density 23d/ha

4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

Potential Archaeological Importance 

5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

5.01 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): paras 7 (three dimensions of 
sustainable development), 8, 11 (presumption in favour of sustainable development), 
12, 14, 17 (core planning principles), 30, 32, 36 (sustainable transport), 42, 47 
(delivering a wide choice of high quality homes), 49, 50, 55, 56, 58 (good design), 69, 
70, 73 (healthy communities); 103 (flood risk), 110, 112 (agricultural land), 118, 119 
(biodiversity), 120, 121 (contaminated land), 159 (housing), 162 (infrastructure),186 
(decision taking), 187, 196 (determining applications); 197, 204 (planning obligations) 
& 216 (weight to emerging policies).

5.02 National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG): Design; Natural environment; Housing 
and Economic Development needs assessment; Planning Obligations; Use of 
planning conditions; transport assessments and statements in decision taking; Water 
supply, waste water and water quality land affected by contamination; Flood Risk and 
coastal change; Open Space, sports and recreational facilities, public rights of way 
and local green space.

Development Plan:

5.03 The Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 saved policies SP1 (sustainable development), 
SP2 (environment), SP4 (housing), SP5 (rural communities), SP6 (transport and 
utilities), TG1 (Thames Gateway Planning Area) SH1 (settlement hierarchy), E1 
(general development criteria), E6 (countryside); E7 (separation of settlements); E9 
(protecting the quality and character of the Borough’s Landscape); E10 (trees and 
hedges); E11 (biodiversity and geological interests), E12 (designated biodiversity and 
geological conservation sites), E19 (achieving high quality design and 
distinctiveness); H2 (new housing), H3 (affordable housing), H5 (housing allocations), 
RC3 (meeting rural housing needs); C2 (housing development and the provision of 
community services and facilities); T1 (safe access), T3 (vehicle parking for new 
development); T4 (cyclists and pedestrians) & C3 (open space on new housing 
developments).

5.04 The emerging Swale Borough Local Plan “Bearing Fruits” – ST1 (sustainable 
development), ST2 (targets for homes and jobs), ST3 (settlement strategy), ST4 
(meeting local plan development targets), ST5 (Isle of Sheppey area strategy), CP2 
sustainable transport),CP3 (high quality homes), CP4 (good design), CP5 (health and 
wellbeing), CP6 (community facilities and services to meet local needs), CP7 

Page 33



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

28

(conserving and enhancing the natural environment  - providing green infrastructure), 
DM6 (managing transport demand and impact), DM7 (vehicle parking), DM8 
(affordable housing), DM14 (general development criteria), DM17 (open space, sports 
and recreation provision), DM19 (sustainable design and construction), DM21 (water, 
flooding and drainage), DM24 (conserving and enhancing valued landscapes), DM28 
(biodiversity and geological conservation), DM29 (woodland trees and hedges), DM31 
(agricultural land), DM34 (Archaeological sites), A14 (smaller allocations as 
extensions to settlements) & IMP1 (implementation and delivery plan). 

Supplementary Planning Documents

5.05 Developer Contributions (2009)

5.06 Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD (2011).  The application 
site is identified as lying within the Central Sheppey Farmlands character area and 
Clay Farmlands landscape type – the landscape is generally in poor condition with a 
moderate sensitivity to change.  The guidelines recommend that this landscape 
should be restored.

6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

6.01 Twelve representations have been received from local residents.  A summary of their 
comments is as follows:

 Views affected;
 Additional congestion on Scocles Road (a narrow road) and the accesses would 

increase the chance of accidents;
 Result in a reduction in property values;
 The ditch that runs along Elm Lane and the application site is prone to flooding 

and displacement of surface water is likely to have a negative effect;
 Development should be on brownfield land;
 Property in Drake Avenue would be overlooked and overshadowed;
 Detrimental to wildlife on the site;
 Elm Lane and Lower Road will not cope with additional traffic;
 Expansion of the urban area would be contrary to Swale Council’s approach to 

development in the past;
 Local services such as education and health will be over-burdened;
 Dangerous to horses which use the local roads;
 Overdevelopment of the Island;
 Green spaces are being lost;
 Approval of this development could lead to further development along Elm Lane;
 The site is in a Local Countryside Gap and the development would be contrary to 

the aims and objectives of this designation and policy E6;
 Detrimental impact on the landscape;
 Not in-keeping with the other houses in Minster;
 Pedestrian access along Scocles Lane and Elm Lane is dangerous.

7.0 CONSULTATIONS

7.01 Minster Parish Council object to the proposal on the following grounds:
 The application is premature;
 The site is within an important local countryside gap and should be maintained to 

separate settlements and safeguard open and undeveloped areas;

Page 34



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

29

 The development is outside of the West Sheppey Triangle (modification 45) and 
would contradict policies E1, E6 and RC4 of the adopted LP;

 The development is poor in sustainability terms as it is not well related to existing 
services and facilities in Minster and major serves in Sheerness and 
Queenborough;

 Significant adverse impact on the landscape character of the area.  This is 
hindered by the topography of the site which rises to a crest at the centre with 
views from low lying marshland to the south towards Minster Abbey and from 
Forty-Acres Hill.  Mitigation would not off-set the landscape impact;

 Over-intensive development of the site not in-keeping with semi-rural character 
and appearance of this part of Minster;

 Scocles Road will not cope with additional traffic;
 Allowing development of this site could make further development to the east 

difficult to resist.  

7.02 KCC (community contributions) request that the application contributes towards a new 
primary school on the Island, community learning, youth services, library bookstock 
and social care as well as the provision of 1 wheelchair adaptable home.  Members 
will note that the sums of money required are detailed at paragraph 9.21 below.  
They also ask that an informative be added to encourage Next Generation Access 
Broadband.  

7.03 KCC Highways and Transportation did not originally have sight of the submitted 
Transport Assessment (TA) and asked for one to be completed.  Commenting on the 
submitted TA they have no objection to the principle of the development from a 
highway point of view.  However, they require further detail in terms of the 
traffic/speed survey and they cannot therefore confirm the required visibility splay at 
the southern access.  They also require further time to consider the applicant’s 
TRIC’s assessment to comment on the proposed trip generation.  Commenting on 
the indicative plans, they discourage the use of tandem parking and, that they do not 
count garages are parking spaces and therefore plot 47 does not appear to have any 
parking spaces provided.  They recommend conditions to provide visibility splays, 
provision and maintenance of the accesses, control of the gradient of the accesses, a 
minimum width of 1.8m for the proposed footway and the use of bound surface for the 
access roads.

7.04 The Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board note that surface water is to be 
discharged via SUDs to watercourses bordering the site.  Although not opposed to 
this in principle, it will be essential that surface water runoff, and therefore 
downstream flood risk, will not be increased as a result.  A condition to ensure that 
surface water be attenuated to no more than Greenfield rates for a range of events up 
to 100 year event +CC/  the details of the proposed SUDs and future maintenance 
should be agreed with KCC Drainage and flood risk team.  Any works affecting their 
watercourses will require their consent.

7.05 KCC Flood Risk and Drainage are generally satisfied that the surface water generated 
by the proposal can be accommodated within the site’s boundaries and discharge at a 
controlled rate without exacerbating the flood risk to the development site or 
surrounding area.  They recommend a condition to ensure that final detailed 
drainage design is submitted and agreed in consultation with the Lower Medway 
Internal Drainage Board. At the detailed design stage it must also be ensured that the 
area to the north of the site that has been identified as being at risk from surface water 
accumulation is fully considered, and that a clearly identified and managed means of 
conveying water from this area to the wider drainage network is provided.

Page 35



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

30

7.06 Natural England have no objection to the proposal subject to contributions towards the 
SAMM and note that a Habitat Regulations Assessment is required. They advise that 
the SSSI does not represent a constraint in determining the application.  

7.07 KCC Public Rights of Way Officer have no objection to the proposal but notes that 
public footpath ZS6 passes through the site and is of high importance for recreational 
purposes.  The route is well used and popular for access to the countryside from 
Minster. The footpath should be upgraded to a standard agreed with them and 
consideration should be given to the surface of the remainder of the footpath to 
connect to Drake Avenue and Elm Lane.  A contribution of £13,640 is sought for this 
surfacing work to be completed. They will not adopt the connecting footpaths shown 
on the illustrative layout plan. 

7.08 Southern Water do not object to the proposal but note that currently there is not 
capacity in their network for the disposal of wastewater sewage, without the 
development providing additional infrastructure.  They ask for a condition to require 
details of the disposal of foul water.  They confirm that they can provide surface 
water disposal to service the development.  Drainage from hardstanding should be 
by means of oil trap gullies or petrol/oil interceptors.  They confirm that they can 
provide a water supply to the site.

7.09 KCC Archaeology note that the site lies within an area of archaeological potential from 
the multi-period remains found on the higher areas of the Isle of Sheppey.  A 
condition is recommended to require an archaeological field evaluation.

7.10 Southern Gas Networks note that there is a low/medium/intermediate pressure main 
near the site.  There should be no mechanical excavation within 0.5m of the 
low/medium  gas main or 2m of an intermediate pipe.

7.11 The NHS request contributions towards expanding existing facilities within the vicinity 
of the site.  They ask for a total contribution of £53,280.

7.12 The Environmental Health Manager has no objection to the proposed development 
subject to conditions to secure contaminated land investigations and remediation 
where necessary, a condition to require a Code of Construction Practice. 

7.13 KCC Ecology comments that additional detail in respect of reptiles is required prior to 
the determination of this application.  The submitted ecological report outlines that 
there is suitable habitat for reptiles on the site.  Further reports and necessary 
mitigation measures should be submitted therefore. Great Crested News are unlikely 
to be present at the site in their view.  Ecological enhancements should be provided 
on site. 

7.14 Kent Police recommend that Secure by Design principles are followed at this site.  
They have some concerns about the footpaths and permeability afforded adjacent to 
the side of plots 46 and 53 on the indicative plans which should be considered at the 
detailed planning stage.  They recommend a condition to ensure that details of Crime 
Prevention through Environmental Design are submitted. 

7.15 The Environment Agency have no comment to make on the application.

7.16 Housing Services were not consulted on the scheme because under the emerging 
Local Plan (see Policy DM8) there is not a requirement to provide a proportion of 
affordable housing on new development.  

Page 36



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

31

8.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

8.01 Planning Statement; Design and Access Statement; Foul Water Drainage Strategy; 
Utilities Statement; Great Crested Newt Survey Report; Phase 1 Ecological Appraisal; 
Surface Water Management Strategy incorporating a Flood Risk Assessment; 
Transport Statement; Proposed access and highway plans and indicative site layout 
and housing mix plans; level survey site plan. 

9.0 APPRAISAL

Principle of Development

Planning Policy and the Housing Land supply position

9.01 For the purposes of the development plan, the site is located outside of the built 
confines of Minster-on-Sea and falls to be considered as within the countryside. To 
clarify, contrary to the representations from local residents and the Parish Council, the 
site does not lie within a Local Countryside Gap.  Policy E6 of the adopted local plan 
seeks to protect the quality, character and amenity of the countryside.  Policy SP4 
seeks to provide sufficient land for housing need, policy SP5 seeks to protect the 
quality and character of the wider countryside and policies TG1, SH1 and H5 of the 
adopted local plan seek to concentrate this in the Thames Gateway Planning Area. 
Policy H2 of the adopted plan states that permission for new residential development 
will be granted for sites that are allocated or within defined built-up areas. Outside of 
these, new residential development will only be granted for certain limited exceptions.  
The application site being outside of the built-up area boundary would be contrary to 
the above policies, with the exception of policy SP4, and not in accordance with the 
development plan.

9.02 The NPPF was published in 2012 and is a material consideration in the determination 
of planning applications. It sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Paragraph 7 identifies three strands to sustainable development, an 
economic role (supporting the economy and growth), a social role (providing strong, 
healthy, accessible communities), and an environmental role (contributing to 
protecting our natural, built and historic environment).  Paragraph 14 sets out that, 
for the purposes of decision taking, this means where the development plan is absent, 
silent or relevant polices are out of date, permission should be granted unless the 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits or; specific policies within the Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.

9.03 Paragraph 47 of the NPPF seeks to significantly boost housing supply, and requires 
Local Planning Authorities to meet full objectively assessed needs for housing in their 
area, and to identify and update a supply of deliverable sites to provide a five year 
housing supply. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF clarifies that policies for the supply of 
housing should be considered out of date if the LPA cannot demonstrate a 5 year 
supply.

9.04 Based on current Objectively Assessed Needs (OAN) for housing within the Borough, 
we require 776 dwellings per annum. The council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 
year housing supply on this basis as the supply figure currently sits at 3.8 years’ 
worth. Given that the Council cannot demonstrate an existing 5 year housing supply, 
and policies for housing delivery pre-date the OAN, they must be considered as out of 

Page 37



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

32

date.   For clarity, these out-of-date policies are: SP5, TG1, SH1, E6 and H2, 
although it should be noted that they should not be given no weight at all.  

9.05 The emerging local plan has now completed its examination in public (closed 9th 
February), and following the Inspector’s interim findings, the Council has sought to 
significantly boost its housing allocations to meet objectively assessed housing needs 
as modifications to the emerging Local Plan. One of the additional sites identified to 
meet this housing need is the application site and is a draft allocation for a minimum of 
50 dwellings under Policy A14 - Main Modification 166 – smaller allocations as 
extensions to settlements.  Under this policy, table 6.5.3 sets out matters to be 
considered at the planning application stage.  For the application site these issues 
are: maintain and enhance boundary vegetation; undertake ecological assessments 
to determine interest and mitigation necessary; consider widening Elm Lane frontage 
across the site; consider a proportion of plots for self builders and; potential 
contribution to A2500 Lower Road improvements, health and primary school 
provision.  The draft allocation of the application site was informed by a revised 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) undertaken in 2015.  This 
concluded:

“This site’s primary constraints are access to services and highway issues.  While 
there are clearly sites with better access to services and facilities, in the context of 
overall housing need, this constraint is not considered overriding.  Facilities are 
available within Minster and the wider urban area within a reasonable walk, cycle or 
car journey.  Highway issues will be need to be addressed in response to the quantum 
of development accessed off the Lower Road and biodiversity impacts mitigated.”

9.06 On the impact on landscape character and visual amenity, the SHLAA notes:
“Unlike other sites in the vicinity (SW/133 - land east of Scocles Road, south of Elm 
Lane) the modest scale of development proposed is unlikely to have a major impact 
on the landscape character of the area.  Development of the scale proposed could be 
more easily absorbed into the landscape, being screened in the landscape by mature 
hedgerow planting, marking the transition between the large open fields down to the 
Lower Road and the perceived boundary to development in Minster.”

9.07 A further examination of the emerging Local Plan took place in February this year with 
the Council seeking to demonstrate that it can meet its full identified housing needs 
and a 5 year supply. A number of policies within the emerging plan, including A14 as 
noted above, seek to deliver housing development in order to meet the OAN for 
housing in the Borough. These policies are ST1 (sustainable development including 
delivery of homes to meet OAN), ST2 (delivery targets), ST3 (Swale settlement 
strategy), ST4 (site allocations to meet OAN), and ST6 (Isle of Sheppey area strategy) 
to provide housing at sites within the urban and village confines, or as urban 
extensions to settlements where indicated by proposed allocations. 

9.08 Against the emerging Local Plan, the Council’s published statement of housing land 
supply for 2015/16 shows the Council to have a five year supply of 5.4 years.  
However, at this time the Plan has not yet been found to be sound.  I can therefore 
only attach limited weight to this changed position, other than to note the important 
point that the achievement of this land supply has been assisted by the allocation of 
the application site and that without it, this supply would be inevitably reduced.  

9.09 Paragraph 216 of the NPPF sets out that decision makers may give weight to 
emerging plans, depending on the stage of preparation of the plan (the more 
advanced, the greater the weight), the extent to which there are unresolved 
objections, and the degree of consistency of relevant policies to policies in the NPPF. 

Page 38



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

33

In this case, the emerging plan policy A14 received eight objections from local 
residents and the Parish Council.  Although these representations remain 
outstanding, I am of the opinion that the soundness of the evidence base supporting 
the Local Plan means that material weight should be given to the emerging plan and 
in terms of the Council’s support for the sites that it has allocated to meet the overall 
OAN and demonstration of a five year housing supply.  

9.10 Given the fact that the application site is included as a draft allocation within the 
emerging local plan, I do not consider that it would be premature to approve 
development on this draft allocation site prior to the adoption of the emerging Local 
Plan, particularly given the overall need for housing and the Council’s 5 year supply 
position.  Planning Practice Guidance clarifies that refusal on the grounds of 
prematurity would only be justified if the development would undermine the plan-
making process.  In this case, this draft allocation site has been chosen having 
followed the approach to the settlement hierarchy set out in the emerging Local Plan, 
which the examination inspector has endorsed.  Therefore I consider that granting 
planning permission at this stage would not prejudice the plan-making process.  

Local infrastructure

9.11 The site is within walking distance of a number of amenities within Minster, including a 
primary school (700m), convenience stores, Medical Centre (1.2km), community 
hall/church.  The proposal includes a connection to the public right of way (Z S6) 
leading to Drake Avenue and also the provision of footpaths either side of the 
proposed vehicular accesses from Scocles Road.  The applicant has agreed to pay 
contributions towards a new primary school on the Island as well as contributions 
towards community learning, youth services, library bookstock and social care in 
response to an identified need (refer to para 9.21 below for further detail).  I therefore 
consider that this site is sustainably located with good access to local amenities and 
that adequate contributions are to be paid towards local infrastructure.    

Landscape and Visual Impact

9.12 The application site is visible from a number of view points, in particular from opposite 
the site on Scocles Road and from the public footpath (ZS6) that passes through the 
site.  Views from Elm Lane and the countryside beyond are more restricted due to 
the thick boundary hedge/row of trees along the southern boundary of the site.  The 
relationship of this site with the countryside to the south is of great importance in the 
assessment of the impact on the landscape character in my view.  The application 
details indicate that the southern boundary vegetation would be reinforced and this is 
shown on the illustrative site layout.  Trees are also shown to be retained along the 
eastern boundary and this will also be important in helping to limit the impact on the 
countryside to the south and east.  The retention of the existing trees/hedgerow and 
its reinforcement is of fundamental importance in mitigating any harm to the character 
and appearance of the countryside to the south and east.  The landscaping condition 
18 below specifically refers to the southern and eastern boundaries of the site. 

9.13 Owing to the location of houses to the north and west of the application site, the new 
houses would assimilate easily into this environment in my view.  The illustrative 
plans show that there would be houses fronting onto Scocles Road and I see this as a 
positive element of the design which would provide an active frontage to the 
development and will help to integrate the development into the existing residential 
area.  The proposed new footway and vehicular accesses along this part of Scocles 
Road would not detract from the appearance of the area in my view.  It is 
acknowledged that the character of this part of Scocles Road would be altered to 

Page 39



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

34

become less rural and more suburban, however, I do not consider that there would be 
significant harm in this respect given the proximity of the site to existing houses 
opposite.  This is also a necessary consequence of the provision of housing on this 
site.

9.14 The Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal 2011 indicates that the 
surrounding landscape is of poor quality with moderate sensitivity to change.  The 
application site is not within a designated landscape area and is not noted for its 
special quality or character.  Members will note the conclusions on the landscape 
impact of the SHLAA above at paragraph 9.06.  I therefore conclude that the 
development of this site for housing would cause no significant harm to the character 
or appearance of the countryside/landscape and that any harm can be adequately 
mitigated against through retention and reinforcement of vegetation along the 
southern and eastern boundaries of the site.  

Highways

9.15 The proposal would provide two new vehicular access points onto Scocles Road.  
Kent Highways and Transportation are content with the provision of these accesses, 
subject to confirmation of the required visibility splays.  Further comments from them 
on this matter will be reported at the meeting. It is likely that additional conditions will 
be required to ensure that the appropriate visibility splays are provided.  The 
proposed northern access would be within an existing 30mph speed limit but the 
southern access would be within a 60mph speed limit.  The submitted TA states that 
the nature of Scocles Road means that speeds are actually much lower than 60mph. 
As part of the development, the intention is to extend the 30mph speed limit to the 
junction with Elm Lane.  To reinforce the reduced speed limit, a gateway is proposed 
which would incorporate red surfacing, 30mph signage and a ‘traditional gateway 
feature’ on the grass verge. Kent Highways and Transportation are agreeable to this 
scheme but it is important to note that they do not require the works in order to 
address highway safety concerns in respect of the proposal.  This scheme is mainly 
in response to comments from Minster Parish Council and local residents.  I have 
recommended that an obligation is included in the Section 106 agreement to require 
the applicant use their best endeavours to secure the scheme. We cannot secure the 
works via a condition as they would be the subject of a Traffic Regulation Order 
requiring a separate consultation process and a Grampian condition would not be 
justified as there is no highway safety concern.  

9.16 The internal roads and parking layout will be determined under the reserved matters 
application.  The proposed footways along Scocles Road, along the western edge of 
the application site and opposite, will be important in providing pedestrians with good 
access to the existing footpath infrastructure.  It is of note that the applicant is 
proposing a new footway on the opposite side of Scocles Road which will not only 
benefit the future residents of the development but would benefit existing residents 
who live along this part of Scocles Road.  I have recommended an obligation within 
the Section 106 agreement to ensure that this footway is provided via a Section 278 
agreement.  Pedestrians will also be able to use the public footpath ZS6 that passes 
through the site and the applicant has agreed to contribute towards re-surfacing of the 
footpath outside of the site with the expectation that the footpath within the site would 
also be re-surfaced as part of the development.  I therefore consider that the 
development would be served with good pedestrian and vehicular access.

9.17 In terms of traffic generation and congestion on local roads, the submitted TS 
anticipates that there would be 38 peak hour movements and 291 daily movements 
from the site.  This represents an increase of 8% on traffic movements along Scocles 

Page 40



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

35

Road. The TS concludes that the impact on local roads would therefore be negligible.  
The TS promotes the use of a Travel Plan to encourage a reduction in car usage.  I 
have recommended that this is included in the section 106 agreement. Further 
comments from Kent Highways and Transportation on the traffic movements are 
awaited and will be reported at the meeting.  I anticipate that these will include 
comments on the possible need for contributions on Lower Road, as indicated in 
policy A14.  

Ecology

9.18 Natural England do not object to the application noting that there would be no 
significant impact on the SSSI and no significant impact on the SPA subject to 
contribution towards the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries Strategic 
Management and Monitoring (SAMM) Strategy. Article 4(4) of the Birds Directive 
(2009/147/EC) requires Member States to take appropriate steps to avoid pollution or 
deterioration of habitats or any disturbances affecting the birds, in so far as these 
would be significant having regard to the objectives of this Article.  For proposals 
likely to have a significant effect on a European site, the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations (2010) require the Council to make an appropriate assessment 
of the implications for the site. An Appropriate assessment is appended.

9.19 KCC Ecology have asked for additional survey data to be submitted for reptiles on the 
site. I have asked the applicant to address this request and Members will note that I 
have recommended approval subject to, among other things, the receipt of this survey 
work and further comments from KCC Ecology.  Any required mitigation can be 
adequately addressed through the conditions or obligations within the Section 106 
agreement.

9.20 With regards to other protected species, the submitted ecology report does not 
identify any other potential on the site.  I have recommended a condition (23) to 
ensure that biodiversity is enhanced within the development, details of which shall be 
submitted.  

Agricultural land 

9.21 The application is currently used for the keeping and grazing of horses.  This use 
seems to have taken place for over ten years and may well have a lawful use as such.  
However, it is possible that the land could still be considered to be of an agricultural 
use.  The application is not accompanied by an Agricultural Land Classification 
Report but I am aware that much of the surrounding land is graded as 3b (post 1988 
Agricultural Land Classification data). Policy DM 31 of the emerging local plan states 
that development on agricultural land will only be permitted when there is an 
overriding need that cannot be met on land within the built-up area boundaries.  An 
overriding need in this case is considered to be the housing need of this Borough. 
Policy DM 31 states that development on best and most versatile agricultural land will 
not be permitted unless the site is allocated by the local plan.  In this case, the site is 
included as a draft allocation in the emerging local plan. Paragraph 112 of the NPPF 
states that where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be 
necessary, local planning authorities should seek to use areas of pooper quality land 
in preference to that of higher quality.  In this case I consider that the overriding 
argument in respect of the loss of best and most versatile agricultural land is that the 
need for housing outweighs the need for agricultural land and the fact that this site is 
included as a draft allocation is of significance.  

Page 41



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

36

Page 42



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

37

Section 106 agreement

9.22 The following obligations and contributions are required for this application.  The 
applicant has agreed to a Section 106 agreement to include the following:

 SAMM - £223.58 pre dwelling;
 Primary education - £4,535 per dwelling;
 Libraries - £48.02 per dwelling;
 Community learning - £60.43 per dwelling;
 Youth services - £37.58 per dwelling;
 Social care - £60.99 per dwelling;
 Bins  - £92 per dwelling;
 Footpath resurfacing PROW ZS6 outside of the site - £13,640;
 NHS – £52,280 total
 Open space  - awaiting comments from the Green Spaces Manager;
 1 wheelchair adaptable home as part of the affordable housing requirement;
 Travel Plan
 Best endeavours to implement an extension to 30mph speed limit on Scocles 

Road and ‘gateway’ scheme.
 Provision of footway along Scocles Road opposite the application site from no. 

100 to the junction with Harps Avenue – Section 278 agreement
 Possible reptile mitigation measures;
 5% monitoring and administration fee

9.23 The applicant is not offering any affordable housing in accordance with emerging 
Local Plan Policy DM8.  As this emerging policy is based on the most up to date 
evidence, it can be given moderate to significant weight.  The adopted Local Plan 
policy H3 which required 30% affordable housing on all sites of is now considered to 
be out of date.  As such, I do not consider that we have grounds to require any 
affordable housing on this site. 

Other issues

9.24 The submitted illustrative plan show a development of 62 dwellings and does not 
appear overly dense and does not lead to any significant overlooking or overshowing 
within and outside of the site.  The final layout and design of the houses will be 
considered at the reserved matters stage and such detail can be assessed at that 
point. However, the illustrative plan does provide me with the confidence that a 
scheme of 62 dwellings on the site would be acceptable. 

9.25 The proposal includes the suggestion that some of the dwellings/plots could be 
developed as self-build homes.  The details of this are outlined at paragraph 2.03 
above.  I acknowledge that emerging policy A14 encourages the consideration of 
self-build plots and the proposal before Members responds accordingly.  The 
inclusion of self-build plots has been promoted in the past by Central Government as 
a way of encouraging different ways of increasing housing stock and type.  The 
applicant notes that the Island has a tradition of self-build housing and that this 
scheme would follow this pattern.  Such a proposal is therefore to be encouraged in 
my view. 

9.26 In terms of contamination, surface and foul drainage, I note the comments of relevant 
consultees and have included conditions to ensure that any issues raised are 
adequately addressed.  

Page 43



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

38

10.0 CONCLUSION

10.01 Paragraph 7 of the NPPF identifies three strands to sustainable development - 
economic (supporting the economy and growth), social (providing strong, healthy, 
accessible communities), and environmental (contributing to protecting our natural, 
built and historic environment).  In terms of the social and economic aspects of the 
scheme, the development would provide much needed housing. This Borough does 
not currently have a 5 year supply of housing as required by National Planning Policy.  
This site is of great importance in helping to meet the growing demand for housing in 
the Borough.  

10.02 In terms of whether the proposals constitute sustainable development, I find that the 
proposals perform strongly in terms of the social and economic strands and that any 
harm identified in respect of the environmental strand can be adequately mitigated.  I 
also conclude that the development would be contrary to the adopted Local Plan in 
respect of development outside of the built-up area boundary but that the 
development would be in accordance with the emerging Local Plan in that the site is a 
draft allocation.

10.03 Paragraph 14 of the NPPF sets out that, for the purposes of decision taking, where 
the development plan is absent, silent or relevant polices are out of date, permission 
should be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits or; specific policies within the Framework indicate 
development should be restricted. I have already identified the key issues above and 
have considered the impacts against each of the three stands of sustainable 
development – social, economic and environmental and have concluded that the 
development would be sustainable.  In terms of the paragraph 14 tests, firstly, I do 
not consider that there are any specific policies within the NPPF that would restrict the 
proposed development.  It is therefore necessary to consider whether there are any 
adverse impact that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.   

10.04 In terms of the environmental impact of the proposal, I set out above that I do not 
consider that there would be significant harm to the landscape here and that 
mitigation in the form of soft landscaping will ensure that landscape harm is limited 
further.  I have discussed the impact of the development on highway safety and 
amenity and consider that there would be no harm in this respect.  In addition, it is 
anticipated that there would be limited harm to ecology and biodiversity but this is 
subject to the submission of additional reptile surveys and appropriate mitigation 
measures if necessary.   I have also set out mitigation measures such as ecological 
enhancements within the site and a contribution towards the SAMM Strategy.    The 
loss of best and most versatile agricultural land is accepted in this case owing to the 
sites’ allocation in the emerging Local Plan for housing.  

10.05 I therefore consider that the development would be acceptable and, as such, that 
planning permission should be granted.  

11.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions and comments 
from the Greenspaces Manager and any additional conditions or obligations 
recommended by them, additional reptile surveys being submitted with further 
comments from KCC Ecology in response and any additional conditions 
recommended by them, further comments from Kent Highways and Transportation 
and any further conditions recommended by them and a Section 106 agreement to 
include items as set out at paragraph 9.21.  In addition, authority is sought to amend 
the planning conditions and to negotiate amendments to the Section 106 agreement 
as may be reasonably necessary. 

Page 44



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

39

Condition:

1. Details relating to the layout, scale and appearance of the proposed building(s), the 
access thereto and the landscaping of the site shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority before any development is commenced.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. Application for approval of reserved matters referred to in Condition (1) above must be 
made not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of the grant 
of outline planning permission.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of five years from the date of the grant of outline planning permission; or 
two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, in the case of approval on 
different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be approved.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

4. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved drawings: 619/204, 619/203619/201.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

5. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall include an area equal to 
10% of the net site area shall be reserved for public open space. Play spaces shall be 
surfaced and equipped with play equipment, in accordance with a schedule agreed by 
the Local Planning Authority before development is commenced and shall be provided 
before the last dwelling is occupied; no permanent development whether permitted by 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 or not 
shall be carried out in the areas so shown without the prior written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that these areas are made available in the interests of the 
residential amenities of the area in pursuance of policies E1 and C3 of the Swale 
Borough Local Plan 2008.

6. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a 
contaminated land assessment (and associated remediation strategy if relevant), 
being submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
comprising:

a) A desk study and conceptual model, based on the historical uses of the site and 
proposed end-uses, and professional opinion as to whether further investigative 
works are required. A site investigation strategy, based on the results of the desk 
study, shall be approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to any intrusive 
investigations commencing on site.

Page 45



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

40

b) An investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, surface and groundwater 
sampling, carried out by a suitably qualified and accredited consultant/contractor 
in accordance with a Quality Assured sampling and analysis methodology.

c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site, 
together with the results of analyses, risk assessment to any receptors and a 
proposed remediation strategy which shall be of such a nature as to render 
harmless the identified contamination given the proposed end-use of the site and 
surrounding environment, including any controlled waters.

Reason: To ensure any contaminated land is adequately dealt with. 

7. Before any part or agreed phase of the development is occupied, all remediation 
works identified in the contaminated land assessment and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority shall be carried out in full (or in phases as agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority) on site under a quality assured scheme to demonstrate 
compliance with the proposed methodology and best practice guidance. If, during the 
works, contamination is encountered which has not previously been identified, then 
the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation 
scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure any land contaminated is adequately dealt with. 

8. Upon completion of the works identified in the contaminated land assessment, and 
before any part or agreed phase of the development is occupied, a closure report shall 
be submitted which shall include details remediation works undertaken, with quality 
assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in accordance 
with the approved methodology. Details of any post-remediation sampling and 
analysis to show the site has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included 
in the closure report together with the necessary documentation detailing what waste 
materials have been removed from the site

Reason: To ensure any land contaminated is adequately dealt with. 

9. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Local 
Planning Authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall be based on the 
recommendations within the report prepared by RMB consulting (August 2016), and 
shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall 
durations and intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted, critical, 
100yr storm) can be accommodated on site before being discharged at an agreed rate 
to the receiving watercourse network; this rate shall not exceed 7l/s/ha and shall be 
agreed in writing prior to the submission of any related discharge of conditions 
application.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated 
into this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions.

10. Development shall not begin until details of the implementation, maintenance and 
management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated 
into this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions.

Page 46



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

41

11. Prior to the commencement of the development, a Code of Construction Practice shall 
be submitted to and approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
construction of the development shall then be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Code of Construction Practice and BS5228 Noise Vibration and Control on 
Construction and Open Sites and the Control of dust from construction sites (BRE DTi 
Feb 2003) unless previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The code shall include:
 An indicative programme for carrying out the works
 Measures to minimise the production of dust on the site(s)
 Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the 

construction process to include the careful selection of plant and machinery and 
use of noise mitigation barrier(s)

 Maximum noise levels expected 1 metre from the affected façade of any 
residential unit adjacent to the site(s)

 Design and provision of site hoardings
 Management of traffic visiting the site(s) including temporary parking or holding 

areas
 Provision of off road parking for all site operatives
 Measures to prevent the transfer of mud and extraneous material onto the public 

highway
 Measures to manage the production of waste and to maximise the re-use of 

materials
 Measures to minimise the potential for pollution of groundwater and surface water
 The location and design of site office(s) and storage compounds
 The location of temporary vehicle access points to the site(s) during the 

construction works
 The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the construction 

works.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety and amenity.

12. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall show adequate land, 
reserved for the parking or garaging of cars and such land shall be kept available for 
this purpose at all times and no permanent development, whether permitted by the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any 
order revoking or re-enacting that Order) or not shall be carried out on such land or in a 
position as to preclude vehicular access thereto; such land and access thereto shall be 
provided prior to the occupation of the dwelling(s) hereby permitted.

Reason: Development without adequate provision for the parking or garaging of 
cars is likely to lead to car parking inconvenient to other road users and detrimental to 
amenity. 

13. Development shall not commence until a drainage strategy detailing the proposed 
means of foul disposal (including such infrastructure – on and off site – as may be 
required) and an implementation timetable, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme and timetable.

Reason: In the interests of ensuring that the site is adequately drained.

14. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has secured the implementation of: 

Page 47



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

42

i) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority; and
ii) following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure 
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further archaeological 
investigation and recording in accordance with a specification and timetable which 
has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority

Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications 
of any development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts 
through preservation in situ or by record.

15. The proposed estate road, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang 
margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, driveway 
gradients, car parking and street furniture, as appropriate, shall be constructed and 
laid out in accordance with details to be submitted and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before their construction begins and in accordance with a 
schedule of house completion and an implementation programme for the agreed 
works, also to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. 

Reason: To ensure that the roads are constructed and laid-out in a satisfactory 
manner.

16. The vehicular accesses to the site as shown on the approved drawings shall be 
constructed and completed prior to the commencement of the first use of the 
development hereby permitted. The gradient of the accesses shall be no steeper than 
1 in 10 for the first 1.5 metres from the highway boundary and no steeper than 1 in 8 
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory means of access is provided for the site.

17. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall include details of a 
covered secure cycle parking facility shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing and thereafter provided prior to the occupation of 
dwellings hereby approved, and retained in perpetuity.  

Reason: To ensure that there is sufficient cycle parking at the site in the 
interests of sustainable development.

18. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall include details of both hard 
and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include existing trees, shrubs and other 
features, planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native species 
and of a type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity, where possible), plant sizes 
and numbers where appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, the 
retention and reinforcement of vegetation along the southern and eastern boundaries 
of the site and an implementation programme. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging 
wildlife and biodiversity.

19. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part 

Page 48



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

43

of the development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging 
wildlife and biodiversity.

20. Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are 
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five 
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as 
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever 
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging 
wildlife and biodiversity.

21. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall include details in the form 
of samples of external finishing materials to be used in the construction of the 
development hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

22. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall include details which set 
out what measures have been taken to ensure that the development incorporates 
sustainable construction techniques such as water conservation and recycling, 
renewable energy production including the inclusion of solar thermal or solar photo 
voltaic installations, and energy efficiency. Upon approval, the details shall be 
incorporated into the development as approved.

Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable 
development, and in pursuance. 

23. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall include a report 
demonstrating how the proposal will incorproate measures to encourage and promote 
biodiversity and wildlife shall be submitted to and approved in writing. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with those approved details and shall thereafter be 
retained.

Reason: n the interests of promoting wildlife and biodiversity and wildlife in 
urban areas.

24. The landscaping details to be submitted in accordance with condition (1) above shall 
include:

(a) a plan showing the location of, and allocating a reference number to each 
existing tree on the site to be retained and indicating the crown spread of each 
tree.

(b) details of the size, species, diameter, approximate height and an assessment 
of the general state of health and stability of each retained tree.

(c) details of any proposed arboricultural works to any retained tree, which shall 
be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998 (tree work).

(d) details of any alterations in ground levels and of the position of any excavation 
or other engineering works within the crown spread of any retained tree.

Page 49



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

44

(e) details of the specification and position of fencing and of any other measures 
to be taken for the protection of any retained tree from damage before or 
during the course of development  

In this condition “retained tree” means any existing tree which is to be retained in 
accordance with the drawing referred to in (a) above.

Reason: In the interests of protecting existing trees which are worthy of 
retention in the interests of the amenities of the area.

25. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above shall include measures to 
minimise the risk of crime via measures, according to the principles and physical 
security requirements of Crime Prevention through Environmental Design (CPTED). 
The approved measures shall be implemented before the development is occupied 
and thereafter retained.

Reason: In the interest of Security, Crime Prevention and Community Safety.  

26. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) shall include the submission of a 
development brief to include a design strategy for the overall site and any self-build 
plots to be provided on site.  This strategy shall include details of the finishing 
materials, palette of colours, elevational treatment and architectural approach as well 
as maximum and minimum building heights.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenities.  

27. Visibility splays of 43 metres at the proposed northern access into the site, set back 
2.4 metres from the edge of the carriageway, at the access with no obstructions over 
0.9 metres above carriageway level within the splays shall be provided and 
maintained prior to use of the site commencing. Additional text to be added upon 
receipt of accepted visibility splays for the southern access.

Reason: n the interests of highway safety and amenity.

28. The footways to be provided along the eastern side of Scocles Road and within the 
development, should be a minimum of 1.8 metres wide to meet standards outlined in 
the Kent Design Guide.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and amenity.

Informative:

1. The applicant should be reminded that planning consent does not confer a right to 
disturb or divert any public right of way at any time without the express permission of 
the Highway Authority, in this case Kent County Council’s PROW and Access 
Service.

2. The applicant/developer should enter into a formal agreement with Southern Water to 
provide the necessary sewerage infrastructure required to service this development. 
The applicant/developer should contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, 
Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or 
www.southernwater.co.uk’ in order to progress the required infrastructure. 

3. Kent County Council recommends that all developers work with a telecommunication 
partner or subcontractor in the early stages of planning for any new development to 
make sure that Next Generation Access Broadband is a fundamental part of the 
project. Access to superfast broadband should be thought of as an essential utility for 

Page 50



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

45

all new homes and businesses and given the same importance as water or power in 
any development design. Please liaise with a telecom provider to decide the 
appropriate solution for this development and the availability of the nearest 
connection point to high speed broadband. We understand that major 
telecommunication providers are now offering Next Generation Access Broadband 
connections free of charge to the developer. For advice on how to proceed with 
providing access to superfast broadband please contact broadband@kent.gov.uk

The Council's approach to this application:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by:

Offering pre-application advice.
Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.
As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of 
their application.

In this instance: 

The applicant/agent was advised of minor changes required to the application and these 
were agreed.

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

Case Officer: Emma Eisinger

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 51



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

46

APPENDIX: HABITATS REGULATIONS ASSESSMENT

Context

SPAs are protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the EC Birds Directive. They 
are classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly occurring migratory species.  Article 
4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires Member States to take appropriate steps to 
avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any disturbances affecting the birds, in so far as 
these would be significant having regard to the objectives of this Article.

For proposals likely to have a significant effect on a European site, the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations (2010) requires the Council to make an appropriate assessment of the 
implications for the site.  Para. 119 of the NPPF states that “The presumption in favour of 
sustainable development … does not apply where development requiring appropriate 
assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered, planned or determined.”

Given the scales of housing development proposed around the North Kent SPAs, the North Kent 
Environmental Planning Group (NKEPG) commissioned a number of reports to assess the 
current and future levels of recreational activity on the North Kent Marshes SPAs and Ramsar 
sites.  NKEPG comprises Canterbury, Dartford, Gravesham, Medway and Swale local 
authorities, together with Natural England and other stakeholders.  The following evidence has 
been compiled:

• Bird Disturbance Study, North Kent 2010/11 (Footprint Ecology).
• What do we know about the birds and habitats of the North Kent Marshes? (Natural England 

Commissioned Report 2011).
• North Kent Visitor Survey Results (Footprint Ecology 2011).
• Estuary Users Survey (Medway Swale Estuary Partnerships, 2011).
• North Kent Comparative Recreation Study (Footprint Ecology 2012).
• Recent Wetland Bird Surveys results produced by the British Trust for Ornithology.
• Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries – Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 

Strategy (Footprint Ecology 2014).

In July 2012, an overarching report summarised the evidence to enable the findings to be used in 
the assessment of development.  The report concluded (in summary):

• There have been marked declines in the numbers of birds using the three SPAs.
• Disturbance is a potential cause of the declines. The bird disturbance study provided 

evidence that the busiest locations support particularly low numbers of birds. 
• Within the Medway, the areas that have seen the most marked declines are the area north of 

Gillingham, including the area around Riverside Country Park. This is one of the busiest areas 
in terms of recreational pressure.

• Access levels are linked to local housing, with much of the access involving frequent use by 
local residents.

• Bird disturbance study - dog walking accounted for 55% of all major flight observations, with a 
further 15% attributed to walkers without dogs along the shore.

• All activities (i.e. the volume of people) are potentially likely to contribute to additional 
pressure on the SPA sites.  Dog walking, and in particular dog walking with dogs off leads, is 
currently the main cause of disturbance.

• Development within 6km of the SPAs is particularly likely to lead to increase in recreational 
use.

Natural England’s advice to the affected local authorities is that it is likely that a significant effect 
will occur on the SPAs/Ramsar sites from recreational pressure arising from new housing 
proposals in the North Kent coastal area.

Page 52



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.1

47

The agreed response between Natural England and the local authorities is to put in place 
strategic mitigation to avoid this effect – a ‘strategic solution.’  This provides strategic mitigation 
for the effects of recreational disturbance arising from development pressure on international 
sites and will normally enable residential development to proceed on basis of mitigation provided 
avoiding a likely significant effect.

This strategic approach is set out in the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries – Strategic 
Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (Footprint Ecology 2014).  It will normally require 
the creation of on-site mitigation, such as the creation of open space suitable for dog walking and, 
secondly, via payment of a dwelling tariff for off-site impacts.  The money collected from the tariff 
would be used by the North Kent Councils and its partners for mitigation projects such as 
wardening, education, diversionary projects and habitat creation.  The policy context for such 
actions is provided by policies CP7 and DM28 of the Emerging Local Plan.

Associated information

The applicant’s ecological assessment dated January 2017 and the submitted report entitled 
‘Information for Habitats Regulations Assessment’ January 2017 contains information to assist 
this HRA.  Importantly, it clarifies that the applicant is willing to commit to contributions towards 
the strategic mitigation noted above.  

Natural England’s letter to SBC dated 25th July 2016 has also been considered; in particular that 
they have raised no objections subject to contributions towards strategic mitigation.  

The Assessment of Land at The Slips, Scocles Road, Minster-on-Sea

The application site is located 1.2km to the south The Swale SPA.  Therefore, there is a 
medium possibility that future residents of the site will access footpaths and land within these 
European designated areas.  

Measures are to be taken to reduce the impact on the SPA and these would be built into the 
development in respect of the provision of public open space. 

This assessment has taken into account the availability of other public footpaths close to the site 
and to a lesser extent, the open space proposed within the site.  Whilst these would no doubt 
supplement many day-to-day recreational activities, there would be some leakage to the SPA. 
However, the commitment of the applicant to contribute £223.58 per house to address SPA 
recreational disturbance towards through strategic mitigation in line with recommendations of the 
Thames Medway and Swale Estuaries SAMM as detailed above, will off-set some of the impacts.  
This mitigation will include strategies for the management of disturbance within public authorised 
parts of the SPA as well as to prevent public access to privately owned parts of the SPA.

Conclusions

Taking the above into account, the proposals would not give rise to significant effects on the SPA.  
At this stage it can therefore be concluded that the proposals can be screened out for purposes of 
Appropriate Assessment. 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

47

2.2 REFERENCE NO -  16/501266/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Erection on land to the north of 99 High Street of 124 No. dwellings in total including two storey 
2, 3, and 4 bedroom dwellings and 1 and 2 bedroom apartments (2 no. 3 storey blocks) with a 
new access road from the High Street, pedestrian and cycle link to Church Lane, formal and 
informal areas of open space and landscaping, car parking and amenity space.

ADDRESS 99 High Street And Land To The North Of High Street  Newington Kent ME9 7JJ   

RECOMMENDATION GRANT subject to the receipt of revised drainage details and further 
comments from KCC Sustainable Drainage and any additional conditions suggested by them, 
any further comments from Newington Parish Council and CPRE (closing date 17th March 
2017), further comments from Kent Highways and Transportation in response to the amended 
plans and further comments from Medway Council in response to the revised Air Quality 
Assessment, a section 106 agreement requiring contributions as set out in paragraph 9.53 and 
9.54 below.

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
The proposed development would provide housing on a site that is allocated for this purpose 
within the emerging Local Plan.  An assessment of the need for housing in the Borough 
highlights a requirement for housing sites that are located outside of the built-up area boundary 
as set out in the adopted Local Plan.  The sustainability of the application site has been 
assessed and it is considered to be acceptable on a strategic and a local level. The economic, 
social and environmental considerations of the proposed development have been assessed 
and I have concluded that there would be some harm to human health as a result of an 
increase in air pollution as a consequence of this development, but that this would be confined 
to the area of the Rainham AQMA. Mitigation measures will reduce this harm to some degree. I 
conclude that the need for housing would outweigh any harm arising from air pollution. Subject 
to the imposition of the conditions listed at the end of the report and the signing of a Section 
106 agreement, planning permission should be granted.  
REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Parish Council objection

WARD Hartlip, Newington 
And Upchurch

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Newington

APPLICANT Persimmon 
Homes South East Ltd
AGENT 

DECISION DUE DATE
07/06/16

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
11/10/16

OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE
10/11/16

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites): There is no relevant planning history for this site other than the submission of a request 
for an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) in July 2015.  This was determined on 6th 
October 2015 concluding that an EIA was not required.

MAIN REPORT

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 The application site immediately lies to the northeast of the settlement of Newington, 
a village of some 1058 houses approximately 2 miles to the west of Sittingbourne.  
Newington has a railway station, primary school, village hall, post office, shops, 
restaurant, and public house.  The village is well served by bus routes.

Page 55



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

48

1.02 The application site is a total of 7.2ha (17.9 acres) in area and is made up of mostly 
agricultural land.  It includes an access track from the High Street (A2) that is situated 
between no. 99 and 105.  No. 99 High Street is included within the application site 
and will be retained with some of its grounds used to widen the access into the site.  
The northern boundary of the site follows the railway line that passes through 
Newington Railway Station.  The eastern boundary of the site seems to follow a 
hedge dividing this field from the next.  The southern and western boundaries of the 
site meet the rear gardens and other unspecified land to the rear of residential 
properties within the village of Newington.   

1.03 A large proportion of the application site is broadly flat and Members will note the 
submitted topographical survey.  The submitted Design and Access Statement 
describes the site topography as:

“…the site falls in a north-easterly direction from the south-western corner, rising 
again in the north-eastern corner towards the railway embankments and the eastern 
boundary of the site.

The railway embankment forms a notable change in levels along the northern 
boundary of the site and is approximately 5m higher than the application site at its 
north-eastern corner, rising eastwards to approximately 10-15m higher than the site 
levels.  

The southern boundary contains localised changes of level of approximately 1 – 
1.5m above the existing agricultural field and adjoining rear gardens fronting High 
Street.”

1.04 A submerged drain runs north-south across the site and is located approximately 
60m to the east of the vehicular access from High Street. 

1.05 A public right of way ZR59 crosses the eastern part of the land on a north-south axis.  
This links to a pedestrian crossing point over the railway line.  There is also an 
access from the application site that leads from the western boundary to Church 
Lane.  This is currently used for agricultural access to the application site and part of 
it is used for access to parking for nos. 40, 42 and 44 Church Lane. 

1.06 Newington High Street Conservation area lies immediately to the west of the 
application site at the western boundary.   There are a number of listed buildings 
fronting onto High Street and Church Lane.  The closest of these to the application 
site is The Holly Bank, a grade II listed early 18th Century dwelling which is located 
75m to the west of the site. A grade II listed milestone marker lies 58 metres to the 
west of the proposed access onto High Street.

1.07 Newington Village Hall lies adjacent to the western boundary of the site.  This has a 
small public car park that is free to use.  There is also a scout hall and hand car wash 
to the southwest of the site. 

1.08 The site lies close to the Newington Village Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
and the access to the site would be within the AQMA, 150m from its eastern extent. 
The site also lies within the Strategic Gap between Sittingbourne the Medway towns 
and as identified by the adopted Local Plan.

Page 56



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

49

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 This is a full planning application for 124 dwellings comprising 114 houses and 10 
flats (in two separate blocks).  The scheme was originally submitted as part detailed 
and part outline with the details of a D1 (non-residential institution) building to be 
considered at a later date.  The application has been amended by removing this D1 
building from the proposal in order to enhance the ‘green’ spaces within the site and 
because the end user of the building was uncertain. The amended scheme also sees 
the inclusion of the two blocks of flats, mainly as a response to the requirement for 
40% affordable housing provision on the site, and a slight rearrangement of the 
layout to address urban design concerns.  The resulting layout increases the number 
of dwellings by 11 (or 9.7%).  

2.02 Vehicular access into the site would be taken from High Street (A2) directly adjacent 
to 99 High Street and no. 105 High Street.  The proposal would see changes to the 
A2 at the point of access involving the creation of a ghost island to allow traffic to turn 
right into the site and the consequent narrowing of the pavements.  The original 
application would have included the demolition of no. 99 High Street and 
replacement with a new dwelling, but after careful consideration of the costs and 
necessity of this part of the proposal, the applicant is now seeking to retain no. 99.  
The access into the site does though need to be wider than it is now and so some of 
the curtilage land to the eastern side of no. 99 will be used for the access.  
Pedestrian access to the site would also be provided via public footpath ZR59 and 
also the track leading to the site from Church Lane.  Currently this track serves to 
provide an access for agricultural vehicles to the fields within this application site and 
the first part of it is used to gain vehicular access to three properties fronting Church 
Lane (nos. 40, 42 and 44). This track would provide pedestrian and cycle access to 
the site and can also be used as an emergency access to the site.

2.03 The site layout proposes for the eastern third (3.26ha/9.4 acres) of the site to be 
provided as formal and informal green space with a children’s play area close to the 
houses and rough grassland, orchard, a pond, and woodland buffer along the 
northern and eastern boundaries.   The open spaces and amenity areas within the 
site would be open for public use and managed by a management company. It would 
not be transferred to the Council.   The submerged drain would be opened up to form 
an open water ditch acting to manage surface water in a sustainable way as well as 
providing a landscape feature.  This ditch would be crossed by four pedestrian paths 
which would link the built area of the site to the open space at the eastern end.  A 
foul pumping station is proposed to be located within the north-eastern corner of the 
built-up area of the development.  Details of this are to be submitted as required by 
condition.  A small electricity substation is also shown to the provided close to the 
main access into the site and against the rear boundary of 103 High Street. 

2.04 The layout of the housing development provides a central ‘green corridor’ running 
from the eastern open space to a smaller ‘green’ at the western end of the site.  The 
green corridor has a pedestrian path running along it as well as a row of trees (to be 
of an appropriate height and species worthy of such an important element of the 
layout). Another small ‘green’ would be located halfway along the ‘green corridor’.   A 
thick landscape buffer would also be provided along the northern boundary adjacent 
to the railway line.  The main access road through the site would run from High Street 
and then east-west through the site.  Secondary roads and shared surface roads 
would lead off of this principle road with different surface materials used to 
differentiate between them. Most properties would have carports and at least one off-
road parking space (2 spaces for each 2 and 3 bed dwelling and 3 spaces for each 4 

Page 57



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

50

bed dwelling).  The flats and some of the houses would have spaces located in 
parking courts.

2.05 The apartment blocks would be 3 storeys high and would be located in two separate 
central locations within the site.  All of the houses would be two storeys or 2.5 storeys 
high and would have 2, 3 and 4 bedrooms.  The architecture would be traditional in 
respect of their gable and hipped pitched roofs and use of brick and tiles.  They 
would have a rural character with some properties featuring weatherboarding, small 
dormer windows and chimneys.   

2.06 The proposal would provide 40% of the units as affordable (49) and these would be 
spread about the site in four separate clusters of no more than 20 units.  The flat 
blocks are included within the affordable housing provision. 

3.0 SUMMARY INFORMATION

Proposed
Site Area (ha) 7.2ha
Approximate Ridge Height (m) Max 10.8m
Approximate Eaves Height (m) Max 8
No. of Storeys Max 3 min 2
Parking Spaces 24 visitor spaces & 228 on-plot/allocated 

spaces

No. of Residential Units 124
No. of Affordable Units 49 (40%)
Density of built-up area 31.4 d/ha 

4.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

Potential Archaeological Importance 

Conservation Area Newington High Street (to west of the site)

Strategic Gap

AQMA

5.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

5.01 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): paras 7 (three dimensions of 
sustainable development), 8, 11 (presumption in favour of sustainable development), 
12, 14, 17 (core planning principles), 19 (economy), 30, 32, 36 (sustainable 
transport), 42 (supporting high quality communications infrastructure), 47 (delivering 
a wide choice of high quality homes), 49, 50, 55, 56, 58 (good design), 69, 70, 73 
(healthy communities); 103 (flood risk), 109 (air quality), 110, 112 (agricultural land), 
118, 119 (biodiversity), 120, 121 (air quality/contaminated land), 122, 124 (air 
quality), 128, 131 (heritage assets), 159 (housing), 162 (infrastructure),186 (decision 
taking), 187, 196 (determining applications); 197, 204 (planning obligations) & 216 
(weight to emerging policies).

5.02 National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG): Air Quality; Conserving and Enhancing 
the historic Environment; Design; Natural environment; Housing and Economic 
Development needs assessment; Planning Obligations; Use of planning conditions; 
transport assessments and statements in decision taking; Water supply, waste water 

Page 58



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

51

and water quality land affected by contamination; Flood Risk and coastal change; 
Open Space, sports and recreational facilities, public rights of way and local green 
space.

Development Plan:

5.03 The Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 saved policies SP1 (sustainable development), 
SP2 (environment), SP4 (housing), SP5 (rural communities), SP6 (transport and 
utilities), TG1 (Thames Gateway Planning Area) SH1 (settlement hierarchy), E1 
(general development criteria), E6 (countryside); E7 (separation of settlements); E9 
(protecting the quality and character of the Borough’s Landscape); E10 (trees and 
hedges); E11 (biodiversity and geological interests), E12 (designated biodiversity and 
geological conservation sites), E15 (Developing affecting a Conservation Area); E19 
(achieving high quality design and distinctiveness); H2 (new housing), H3 (affordable 
housing), H5 (housing allocations), RC3 (meeting rural housing needs); C2 (housing 
development and the provision of community services and facilities); T1 (safe 
access), T3 (vehicle parking for new development); T4 (cyclists and pedestrians) & 
C3 (open space on new housing developments.

5.04 The emerging Swale Borough Local Plan “Bearing Fruits” – ST1 (sustainable 
development), ST2 (targets for homes and jobs), ST3 (settlement strategy), ST4 
(meeting local plan development targets), ST5 (Sittingbourne area strategy), CP2 
sustainable transport),CP3 (high quality homes), CP4 (good design), CP5 (health and 
wellbeing), CP6 (community facilities and services to meet local needs), CP7 
(conserving and enhancing the natural environment  - providing green infrastructure), 
CP8 (conserving and enhancing the historic environment), AX6 (land north of High 
Street Newington), DM6 (managing transport demand and impact), DM7 (vehicle 
parking), DM8 (affordable housing), DM14 (general development criteria), DM17 
(open space, sports and recreation provision), DM19 (sustainable design and 
construction), DM21 (water, flooding and drainage), DM24 (conserving and 
enhancing valued landscapes), DM28 (biodiversity and geological conservation), 
DM29 (woodland trees and hedges), DM23 (listed buildings), DM31 (agricultural 
land), DM32 (development involving listed buildings), DM33 (development affecting a 
conservation area), DM34 (Archaeological sites) & IMP1 (implementation and 
delivery plan). 

5.05 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 – 2030 – Policy DM7 states that planning 
permission will only be granted for non-mineral development that is incompatible with 
minerals safeguarding where it is demonstrated, among other things, that it 
constitutes development on a site allocated in the adopted development plan.  

Supplementary Planning Documents

5.06 Developer Contributions (2009)

5.07 Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal SPD (2011).  The application 
site is identified as lying within the Iwade Arable Farmlands character area – gentling 
undulating rural landscapes in poor condition with a moderate sensitivity to change.  
The guidelines recommend that this landscape should be restored.

Other

5.08 Land-use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality. Guidance from 
Environmental Protection UK and the Institute of Air Quality Management for the 

Page 59



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

52

consideration of air quality within the land-use planning and development control 
process (January 2017).  

5.09 Swale Borough Council Air Quality Planning Technical Guidance (December 2016).

6.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

6.01 We have received 55 representations from local residents.  A summary of their 
comments, which I have categorised for ease of reading, is as follows:

Highways
 Increased traffic through Newington which cannot cope with an increased 

volume;
 The access is at a narrow point in the A2 where lorries often cause congestion.  

The new access arrangements would narrow the road and pavements even 
more and cause a bottle-neck;

 Likely to be queues of traffic leaving the new housing estate onto the A2;
 Children will be unlikely to walk to school from the new housing estate, causing 

congestion along Church Lane and outside the school.  More children would live 
within the housing development than the Transport Assessment suggests.  The 
TA hasn’t addressed the nursery that is based at the school, to which 100% of 
parents drive;

 The access to the site is in a part of the highway which is dangerous and there 
have been serious accidents there in the past.  Crossing the road at this point 
would be dangerous as there would be three lanes.  Traffic lights are needed at 
this new access due to the volume of traffic;

 The right of way to no. 103 High Street has been ignored on the plans;
 The realignment of the A2 to accommodate the “ghost lane” will require 

sacrificing the width of the adjoining pavement.  This is a major concern for 
pedestrian safety next to a buy main road with a high number of HGVs;

 The emergency access onto Church Lane is questionable as this road is already 
congested;

 The footpath link onto Church Lane is dangerous as it leads straight onto a busy 
road.  It would also become an attraction for anti-social behaviour;

 Commuters park in local roads making them more congested;
 Church Lane is often congested at the railway bridge;
 The development would contributed to junction improvements at M2 Stockbury;
 There should be a road underneath the railway to provide access to the school, 

church and the north side of the village;
 Headlights from cars leaving the new development will shine into the windows of 

the house opposite and these residents are concerned about how they might 
turn right into their drive.  They are also concerned about an increase in noise 
and pollution as a consequence of cars waiting to turn from the A2 into the site;

 Calls for a by-pass of Newington village;
 The conclusions of the Transport Assessment are questioned;
 Have KCC already agreed to the road layout as the signs at the site suggest;
 Emergency vehicles often use the A2 through Newington and any further 

congestion associated with the development would block their route;
 The erection of bollards at the entrance to the pedestrian and cycle route from 

the development onto Church Lane will not be possible as there are rights of 
access for adjacent properties (40, 42 and 44 Church Lane) to access rear 
parking spaces.  If collapsible bollards are provided as shown on the amended 
plans, how will this be maintained?;

Page 60



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

53

 Two parking spaces per property is not enough;
 Disruption during construction of the access will be significant for pedestrians 

and motorists.

Environment
 Pollution increased in an area already designated as an AQMA, as a 

consequence of increased congestion;
 Loss of best and most versatile agricultural land;
 Loss of land for wildlife;
 The development will cause light and noise pollution.  The site is within a natural 

“amphitheatre” and so noise travels well;
 The density and proportion of open spaces is unacceptable in this landscape;
 The design and materials of the construction is unimaginative and typical of the 

developers pseudo village style, especially for the tightly-packed affordable 
housing;

 Impact on listed buildings and the Conservation Area;
 Extra housing will increase localised flooding;
 There are no plans for a doctors surgery at the site;
 The site will be subject to surface water flooding from Boyces Hill;
 The development would damage the character of Hollybank, a grade II listed 

building.

Village infrastructure
 There would be a significant increase in the population of the village of 

Newington (approx. 15%).  This would change the character and fabric of the 
village.  There are also other planning applications for residential development 
within the village with not sufficient infrastructure to cope;

 Query about the affordable housing proposed and whether it will actually be 
available to local people;

 Lack of infrastructure in terms of doctors and the local hospital cannot cope;
 Lack of school places;
 Lack of local employment.  It makes more sense to build houses in towns, close 

to places of employment;
 There are very few trains stopping at Newington and no fast trains to London.  

Residents will have to drive to Rainham.

Residential amenities
 Building works will cause disturbance to local residents;
 Privacy and outlook from the properties along the A2 and Church Lane would be 

compromised;
 The residents of 103 High Street (adjacent to the proposed access) object on the 

grounds that there would be noise and disturbance due to vehicles using the new 
access;

 The development would affect light entering into no. 87 High St;
 Overlooking from 2 storey units, especially where dormers are proposed.

Other
 Newington is becoming a town;
 It is better to development on brownfield sites, of which there are plenty in Swale;
 The development does not benefit the existing local residents, only the 

developers and land owner;
 There is no provision for soft landscaping to alleviate the intrusive impact of the 

proposed development;

Page 61



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

54

 The site is likely to be extended to the east towards Keycol Hill in the future;
 The development is not part of the adopted Local Plan housing allocations;
 This would be a good place to provide housing.  It would be sustainable 

development;
 If the village is to expand, it is better to do this to the north of the A2 than to the 

south;
 The majority of houses close to the site are bungalows and chalet bungalows.  

The proposed development would consist of 2 and 3 storey buildings;
 Greenbelt land should be protected (Members should note that this land is not 

within the Greenbelt);
 The demand for housing in London is being met by Kent.

6.02 In response to the amended plans, 21 representations have been received.  Many of 
the comments reiterate the comments summarised above.  Additionally, they 
comment: that there would be even more of an impact with the increase in number 
from 113 to 124; that the layout looks like a rabbit warren; no. 105 High St would be 
overlooked as it backs on to the development; the development would provide 3 
storey flats and would be high density and would set a precedent, contrary to the 
emerging draft allocation policy and out of character with the village; detrimental 
impact on no. 105 High St as a result of noise and; fumes and disturbance from the 
use of the access into the site. They also express concern about the length of time 
allowed for the re-consultation. 

6.03 Cllr J Wright – Ward Members for Hartlip, Upchurch and Newington objects to the 
application on the grounds that the land is not allocated within the Local Plan or the 
emerging Local Plan (This is not the case.  The site is within the emerging Local 
Plan).  He considers that there are better and more sustainable sites available.  He 
has safety and congestion concerns about the proposed access to the site and extra 
traffic will increase pollution in his view.  Additional pollution would impede the 
brickearth extraction at Paradise Farm as the cumulative impact would exceed 
permitted pollution levels. Why is section 106 money going out of the village when 
there is a need within the village?  Issues about the safety of Church Lane have been 
ignored.  Visitor parking does not seem to take account of commuter parking or 
visitors to the proposed parkland.  The cumulative impact of this development with 
other approved developments does not seem to have been properly considered by 
Highways England.

6.04 Gordon Henderson MP for Sittingbourne and Sheppey strongly supports the 
residents of Newington and others in opposing the application because the site is not 
included within the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 nor the emerging Local Plan 
(Members should note that this site is included as a housing allocation in the 
emerging Local Plan).

6.05 CPRE object to the application on the following grounds:

 Whilst the Government’s policy to significantly boost the supply of housing is a 
material consideration, the duty to consider this application against the adopted 
Local Plan still applies, even if the NPPF judges the policies out of date;

 It is clear that the proposal is not in accordance with the development plan;
 The proposal would also seem to conflict with the settlement strategy within the 

emerging Local Plan which describes Newington as having poor pedestrian 
connections between north and south of the village, restricted internal road 
network, poor air quality and surrounding high quality agricultural land as well as 
valued landscapes and heritage;

Page 62



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

55

 There are grounds for refusing the application on prematurity as the 
development would undermine the emerging Local Plan which should identify 
sites and allow time for proper scrutiny and proper consultation.  Also, the 
application needs to be considered in the context of the cumulative effect of 
other planning applications in Swale.  The Council should strongly resist 
speculative development such as this in order to ensure sustainable patterns of 
development;

 Detrimental impact on the landscape and the character of the village setting;
 Should the application be approved, habitat enhancements should be 

incorporated into the development as well as: ensuring that the open space to 
the east is included within the management; wildlife corridors should be 
enhanced; the landscaping masterplan should include the pond that the SUDs 
report recommends and uncertainties about the drainage should be resolved;

 Loss of best and most versatile agricultural land;
 The Heritage Assessment needs to be improved to assess the detailed 

proposals.  The proposal would go against the historic pattern of development in 
Newington Conservation Area.  The application fails to provide sufficient 
evidence to demonstrate that there would be no harm to the setting of listed 
buildings close to the site;

 Detrimental impact on the AQMA.  The mitigation measures are wholly 
inadequate.  The cumulative impact on the traffic from this proposal with other 
development should be considered.  The development will be car dependent;

 The submitted HRA fails to take account of the cumulative effects of the 
development on the North Downs Woodlands which already exceeds maximum 
critical levels of nitrogen pollutants;

 The proposal would fail to constitute sustainable development.  

6.06 Swale Footpaths Group comment that public footpath ZR59 would not be affected by 
the proposal but as always, the upkeep of any new footpaths, cycleways etc. needs 
to be established.  

7.0 CONSULTATIONS

7.01 Newington Parish Council object to the application on the following grounds:

 Loss of high quality agricultural land.  Poorer quality agricultural land should be 
used instead;

 The land forms a natural boarder to the village and the proposal would result in 
‘urban sprawl’.  Reference is made to an appeal decision which considers this 
issue;

 The land was not included in the site allocations for housing in the emerging 
Local Plan (Members should note that these comments post-date the modified 
emerging Local Plan in which this site is included);

 The site is adjacent to High Street and Church Lane Conservation Areas;
 this is not sustainable development with poor public transport and a lack of 

amenities such as a dentist and doctors;
 the development would increase the risk of flooding within the site and/or the 

properties on the north of the High Street;
 the A2 is a busy road used by HGVs, buses and school traffic. The new access 

arrangements with 3 lanes would be dangerous to pedestrians and motorists. 
Narrowing the pavement here to 1.5m will be dangerous for pedestrians, 
particularly those who use mobility scooters and those who have buggies.  Two 
buggies could not safely pass one another and HGV wing-mirrors would 
overhang the pavement;

Page 63



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

56

 an increase in population would result in more pressure on the local hospital 
which is already in special measures;

 the development would result in an increase in air pollution.  An increase in traffic 
would lead an increase in noxious fumes;

 the footpath link to Church Lane would become a focal point for anti-social 
behaviour;

 commenting on amended plans, they acknowledge that the applicant has sought 
to address the concerns of local residents, they consider that the overall concept 
is ‘fundamentally flawed’;

 there would be added congestion to the roads at peak times and the £94,000 
offered for improvements to the Key Street roundabout  will do nothing to 
alleviate the problem here and further onwards to Sittingbourne and the 
Stockbury roundabout.  Traffic from this site will add to other developments 
planned with access to the A2 and;

 concerns about education contributions going towards a school outside of the 
village.

In response to the amended plans, Newington Parish Council make the following 
additional comments:

 The planned expansion of Newington is flawed on a strategic level as local 
services cannot sustain further development and the spilt between development 
in the Thames Gateway and Faversham is out-of-date.  Additional villages 
should become Rural Local Service Centres instead of compounding problems in 
its towns and villages;

 The allocation of development here does not comply with policy ST3 which 
directs development to previously development land.  The development would 
harm that settlement pattern and the character of the countryside.

 The proposed site is designated as best and most versatile agricultural land and 
development would be contrary to paragraph 112 of the NPPF and the council’s 
own policies of protecting this land;

 The proposal would be likely to have at least a moderately adverse impact on air 
quality in Newington and Rainham AQMAs and therefore a significant effect on 
human health.  There is no evidence to demonstrate the effectiveness of 
mitigation measures proposed. They note the recent EC decision to issue a final 
warning to the UK over failure to reduce NO2 levels with the threat of referral to 
the European Court of Justice;

 Newington is a village and the residents wish it to remain one.  The already 
approved and planned development in the village would increase the population 
considerably.  Newington Primary School is already close to capacity and cannot 
expand due to traffic expansion;

 Public transport to and from Newington is limited – one slow train per hour to 
London or Dover, a poor bus service and no buses at all on Sundays;

 There is no doctors or dentist in Newington;
 The proposed flats do not have a lift and are unsuitable for the elderly, disabled 

and families with young children;
 The access onto the A2 would be too narrow and dangerous and pavements 

would also be too narrow;
 Congestion on the A2 and junctions to the A249 would be made worse;
 Nearby residents have suffered frequent rainwater and foul sewage flooding due 

to the incline of Boyces Hill and the sewage infrastructure;
 The Ellens Place application, opposite the application site, was refused planning 

permission and they believe that the same reasons apply for the application site.

Page 64



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

57

7.02 UK Power Networks have no objection to the proposal.

7.03 Kent Police note that the applicant has considered crime prevention that that the 
developer has met with them to discuss the proposal.  Secure by Design principles 
should be included in the development and a condition is recommended to secure 
this.  

7.04 Natural England have no objection to the proposal.  They note that the site is in close 
proximity to the Swale SPA and Ramsar site.  This is also designated as a SSSI.  A 
Habitats Regulations Assessment should be undertaken by SBC Planning.  However, 
based on the information provided, Natural England consider that the proposals are 
unlikely to have a significant effect on these sites and can therefore be screened out 
from any requirement for further assessment.  This is providing the development 
makes the necessary contribution towards the Thames, Medway and Swale 
Estuaries SAMM Strategy to provide appropriate mitigation towards recreational 
disturbance of birds within the SPA.  Natural England also advise that the SSSI does 
not represent a constraint in determining this application and refers to their standing 
advice on protected species.  They also recommend biodiversity enhancements. 
Commenting on the amended plans they consider that the development is unlikely to 
have significantly different impacts on the natural environment than the original 
proposal. 

7.05 Network Rail comment on the application noting that the developer must ensure that 
their proposal, both during construction and after completion of works, does not 
encroach on their land, affect safety, operation or integrity of the railway line and its 
infrastructure, undermine its support zone or affect it in any other way.  Future 
maintenance must be conducted solely on the applicant’s land. All buildings should 
be at least 2m from Network Rail’s boundary.  No surface water or effluent should 
discharge from the site into Network rail’s property. Foul drainage must be provided 
separate from Network Rail’s existing drainage. Soakaways must not be constructed 
near/within 10-20metres of their boundary.  During construction, no plant should be 
capable of falling within 3 metres of their boundary.  Any scaffolding within 10metres 
of their land should not over-sail the railway and protective netting should be 
installed.  Details of any piling will need to be agreed with them.  The developer must 
provide a suitable trespass proof fence along the development side of the existing 
boundary fence to a minimum height of 1.8m.  Its future maintenance should be 
secured by the developer. Any lighting for the proposed development should not 
interfere with the sighting of the signalling apparatus and/or train driver’s vision.  
Their approval of the detailed lighting scheme is required.  They asked to be involved 
in the approval of landscaping scheme where landscaping is proposed close to the 
track.  The applicant is advised to contact the Asset Protection Manager.  

7.06 The KCC Public Rights of Way Officer notes that public right of way ZR59 would be 
directly affected by the proposed development.  They have no objection to the 
proposed development but have requirements for future maintenance if the proposal 
is approved.  The proposed pond should be located so that it does not obstruct the 
public footpath or create potential drainage issues. Any vegetation close to the public 
right of way should be cut on a regular basis.

7.07 Southern Gas Network note that a low/medium/intermediate pressure gas main lies 
close to the site.  There would be no mechanical excavations taking place above or 
within 0.5m of the gas main, or above or within 3m of an intermediate pressure 
system. 

Page 65



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

58

7.08 Southern Water note that they cannot accommodate the needs of the development 
without the provision of additional local infrastructure to reduce the risk of flooding 
and to supply water to the site.  An appropriate condition is recommended. There are 
no public water sewers in the area to serve the development and there must be an 
alternative means of surface water disposal.  The proposal refers to the use of SUDs.  
The developer should ensure that there are provisions for the maintenance of this 
system.  The adequacy of the soakaway and drainage via the watercourse should be 
assessed.

7.09 KCC Sustainable Drainage note that the drainage strategy for the site in general is 
acceptable.  They note that infiltration is likely to be suitable and should avoid 
exacerbating downstream flooding but require further detail on this.  Soakaways 
should discharge into Chalk.  Commenting on the revised layout and updated Flood 
Risk Assessment, they object to the scheme noting that there would be a significant 
increase in the use of permeable pavement and geocelluar soakaways/attenuation 
storage shared across back gardens.  The placement of drainage within the private 
properties could be a problem for future maintenance.  The use of roofwater 
soakaways in central and western parts of the site is encouraged to tackle this 
problem.  The greater depth of superficial deposit in the eastern side if the site may 
require the use of offsite discharge.  The statutory undertaker will also be likely to 
object to adoptable pipework being sited under permeable paving.  This may impact 
on the layout. Commenting on a written response from the applicant they strongly 
recommend that attenuation and discharge features are located within open spaces 
and common areas. This simplifies access and any future repair or maintenance 
requirement. The present layout does not lend itself to achieving this with a gravity 
discharge.  They do however note that it may be possible to promote the use of 
individual property roof water soakaways to help solve this problem in the areas of 
the site where infiltration is more viable. Some areas will still need to consider the 
issues above.  Further comments are anticipated upon receipt of the amended 
drainage details to address their previous comments. 

7.10 The Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board state that provided that surface water 
runoff is restricted to that of the Greenfield site with on-site storage to accommodate 
the 1 in 100 year rainfall event, ideally by the use of open SUDs, the Boards interests 
would not be affected. Details of surface water drainage should be required by 
condition. They suggest that open SUDs are better than the closed systems 
proposed. 

7.11 Kent Highways and Transportation comment that the Transport Assessment has 
been prepared in consultation with them and Highways England and that the 
methodology used is appropriate.  The figure generated for the predicted vehicle trip 
rates are considered to be accurate and would equate to less than 2% of the total 
number of vehicles passing through the village at the AM peak, well within the limits 
set out in the NPPF.  Along with other local developments, this proposal should 
contribute towards an improvement scheme to increase capacity and manage traffic 
more efficiently through the Key Street roundabout.  Highways England has 
calculated a contribution of £94,864 (now amended to £102,487) for this 
development.  The proposed “ghost island” with a right turn filter lane would be 
appropriate for the new access and the resulting narrowing of the footway to 1.5m 
would be acceptable.  The narrower lane widths would actually be wider than some 
of the many other right turn lanes along the A2 between Rainham and Sittingbourne 
and this is a 30mph stretch of the road.  Infrequent use of this right filter lane by 
HGVs is considered to be acceptable.  The design of this junction has been the 
subject of a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit which did not identify the narrow lanes as 
being an issue.  In response to the latest set of amended plans, they comment that 

Page 66



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

59

the new parking arrangement would meet the quantum suggested in current 
standards but would be lower than had previously been proposed.  However, they 
note that the internal roads would not be adopted by them and so any parking issues 
would not be their responsibility.  However, they do offer advice on how the parking 
arrangement could be improved.  This includes increasing the number of visitor 
spaces where tandem spaces are relied upon and along two particular lengths of 
road, changing the footway along the main access to the opposite side of the road.  
They note the update Transport Assessment and consider that the findings are 
accepted and that there would be no material impact on the highway network. They 
have no objections subject to condition to ensure that the access and changes to the 
junction are provided prior to occupation, that adequate provision is made for 
contractor parking during construction, management of surface water so as to 
prevent spillage onto the highway, to prevent mud on the highway during 
construction, the provision and retention of parking space, completion of footways 
and carriageways prior to occupation, provision of cycle spaces and pedestrian 
visibility splays.   Further comments on the revised parking layout with increased 
visitor spaces are awaited and will be reported at the meeting. 

7.12 KCC Archaeology comment that the site has potential for prehistoric and Roman 
remains with high potential for Roman remains close to the public footpath that 
crossed the site to the east.  There may also be a cemetery here and if so, this 
should be preserved and referenced in the landscape masterplan.  There should be a 
programme of archaeological evaluation and appropriate mitigation which would 
involve preservation in situ or archaeological excavation.   A suitable condition is 
recommended.  

7.13 The NHS (Strategic Estates) confirm that there is no intention to develop a GP facility 
in this area as they would normally seeks to put funding into existing infrastructure 
rather than build new facilities unless the size of the development is such that a new 
facility is warranted.  The Meads Practice operates out of a purpose built facility 
which is now operating  at capacity and does have the potential to develop facilities 
to register additional patients.  As the proposed development has details of the 
number of dwellings/bedrooms, they are able to calculate an exact figure for a 
contribution towards the expansion of The Meads Practice.  This totals £124,200.

7.14 KCC Planning (Minerals and Waste) refer to the submitted LEAP Environmental 
Report and note that there is little or no definable brickearth present on the site.  The 
report concludes that any brickearth present is unlikely to be of any economic value.  
They note that Wienerberger Ltd should have ideally been consulted in coming to this 
conclusion but KCC believe that the application for development on this site satisfies 
exemption 1 of Policy DM7 in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 in 
that ‘the mineral is not of economic value or does not exist.’

7.15 The Environmental Services Manager comments on air quality, land contamination 
and noise. The findings of the noise report are accepted.  Conditions to address the 
presence of contaminated land on the site and remediation thereof are suggested.  A 
condition is also recommended to require the submission of a Construction Code of 
Conduct.   With regards to air quality, he accepts the damage cost calculation of 
£151,133 as an improvement on the previous figure offered.  In his latest comments 
he states:

“When comparing this figure against predicted NO2 concentrations in 2021, both 
with- and without the development, the impact is considered negligible in 
Newington for all 12 receptors, with none of these points experiencing more than a 
1.0% change, and none higher than 92% of the AQ objective. In Rainham it is 

Page 67



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

60

predicted to be between slight and moderate, depending on the location in question. 
Here the figures were up to 148% of the AQ objective value.

Because of this prediction, in Newington this impact is not considered significant 
referring to the guidance in section 7.6 of the EPUK Planning Guidance 2017. 

This is a change from previous assessments, where a slight to moderate impact was 
predicted for Newington. The data has been rigorously discussed, checked and 
modelled again and the most recent 2015 data now used. The impact on Rainham 
has also been applied and shown to be more significant than in Newington.

Despite the lower significance of the latest assessment, the applicant is keen to 
retain the level of mitigation described previously, as they consider that it will not only 
assist the Newington, but also the Rainham AQMA.

To accompany the lower significance of the development in Newington, the damage 
costs have been correspondingly reduced from that previously offered. The figure 
now stands at £132K. Some of this figure will be put aside for further air quality 
monitoring-related activities with discussions to follow. 

I have considered this application very carefully over a period of time and have seen 
an improvement in the clarity and quality of the data presented in each succeeding 
version of their air quality assessments. 

I am now satisfied that the applicant has done everything reasonably possible to 
demonstrate that the impact on local air quality is negligible in Newington, despite the 
presence of a nearby AQMA. In addition, the suggested mitigation measures are 
being retained and can only assist the situation further.

The latest data appears to show a greater impact on the Rainham AQMA than 
Newington. I therefore do not object to this proposal.”. 

7.16 The Environment Agency have no comment on the application as it is not in a flood 
zone or near a river or source protection zone.

7.17 The Greenspaces Manager notes that the amenity space is a little limited in terms of 
usability for ball games, however, the natural greenspace is significant.  There is a 
lack of play facilities provided and he seeks some formal, perhaps natural play 
elements within the natural greenspace (the amended plans provide this). In addition, 
a contribution of £511 per dwelling is sought towards Newington Recreation Ground.  
Clarification on the transfer of open space to the Council is required and a 
contribution towards maintenance of this land if necessary (the open space is to be 
transferred to a management company). 

7.18 Highways England comment that the proposals have the potential to impact on the 
safe and efficient operation of the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in this case the 
A249.  The development would generate 56 trips in the AM peak and 56 trips in the 
PM peak at the A2/A249 Key Street junction.  The conclusions of the submitted 
Transport Assessment that there would be no impact is not accepted and they 
consider that the junction would operate over capacity in the peak hours by 2021.  As 
a result the Key Street junction will be adversely affected and mitigation will be 
necessary.  On the basis that this development contributes to improvements to this 
junction, Highways England have no objection. This approach is in line with other 
developments that would have an impact on the Key Street junction.  In response to 
the amended plans and updated Transport Assessment  they are satisfied that the 

Page 68



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

61

amended proposals will not materially change the scale of impact compared to the 
amended proposal.  Their previous comments still apply therefore with an increase in 
the amount requested for junction improvements to £102,487.      

7.19 KCC Ecology comment on the application and advise that there is sufficient 
ecological information to determine the application.  They note that because the 
majority of the site boundaries would be retained, there would be no loss of 
foraging/commuting habitat for bats.  However, the lighting within the scheme should 
be designed to minimise the impact on bats/site boundaries.  The Suitable Alternative 
Natural Greenspace (SANG) will increase the foraging habitat for bats if managed 
properly.  There is evidence of foraging badger within the site and there needs to be 
measures in place to ensure that this can continue.  Access between the 
grassland/scrub buffer and scrub area within the SANG for badgers will need to 
provided and the proposed dog-proof fence amended accordingly.  Any works to the 
site boundaries should be carried out outside of the bird-breeding season or that an 
ecologist is appointed to examine the site and that work ceases if birds are found. If 
managed correctly, the SANG will create habitat which will benefit biodiversity.  
However, the submitted management plan is not sufficiently detailed.  A condition is 
recommended to ensure that a detailed SANG management plan is submitted.  The 
submitted Habitats Regulation Assessment is noted and its conclusions that the 
development will avoid a likely significant impact are accepted providing that the 
SANG is provided and contribution is made towards the Strategic Access 
Management and Monitoring plan (SAMM).  In response to the amended layout, they 
note that there is potential for bats to roost in trees 18 and 20 and that there is a need 
for climbing surveys to assess their suitability for roosts.  Following the submission of 
the climbing surveys, KCC Ecology are happy for the removal of overhanging 
branches to tree 18 with the need for additional information. However, for tree 20 
there is potential for bat roosts in the overhanging branches.  As such, they 
recommend a condition to require a further assessment prior to the tree works being 
carried out and suggest a suitably worded condition.   

7.20 KCC Economic Development (Education contributions) seek contributions towards 
primary and secondary schools (both new schools at Quinton Road), community 
learning, youth services, libraries and social care.  They also ask for superfast fibre 
optic broadband to be provided for all properties within the site.  

7.21 The Strategic Housing and Health Manager seeks 40% affordable housing with a 
70:30 split of social rented : shared ownership and accept that this equates to 49 
affordable dwellings.  The distribution of affordable housing across the site is 
accepted.   A proportionate mix should be provided across each phase of 
development if it is to be phased.  They seek a small number of wheelchair adaptable 
homes, the number of which would be agreed with the preferred Registered Provider.  

7.22 Medway Council object to the proposal on the grounds that the Air Quality 
Assessment does not consider the impact of the development on the Rainham Air 
Quality Management Area.  They also consider that the development might lead to 
extra pressure on schools within their administration and that contributions towards 
education should be made to them.  Medway Council have been consulted on the 
amended Air Quality Assessment and I will update Members at the meeting.  

8.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

Agricultural Land Classification and Soil Resources; Air Quality Assessment; 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment; Arboricultural Method Statement; Ecological 

Page 69



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

62

Assessment; Energy & Sustainability Statement; Flood Risk Assessment; Habitats 
Regulations Assessment; Heritage Statement; Historic Environmental Assessment; 
Landscape and Visual Appraisal; Noise Assessment; Planning Statement; Statement 
of Community Involvement; Transport Assessment; Travel Plan Framework; Desk 
Study Investigation Report (contaminated land); Design and Access Statement; 
topographical survey plans; proposed site layout; landscaping masterplan; strategy 
plans; elevations; Development and Air Quality Update.

9.0 APPRAISAL

Principle of Development

Planning Policy and the Housing Land supply position

9.01 For the purposes of the development plan, the site is located outside of the built 
confines of Newington and falls to be considered as within the countryside and a 
Strategic Gap. Policy E6 of the adopted local plan seeks to protect the quality, 
character and amenity of the countryside. Policy E7 of the adopted local plan seeks 
to prevent development that would result in the merging of settlements or the 
piecemeal erosion of land or its rural open and undeveloped character or prejudice 
the Council’s strategy for the redevelopment of urban sites.  Policy SP4 seeks to 
provide sufficient land for housing need, policy SP5 seeks to protect the quality and 
character of the wider countryside and policies TG1, SH1 and H5 of the adopted local 
plan seek to concentrate this in the Thames Gateway Planning Area. Policy H2 of the 
adopted plan states that permission for new residential development will be granted 
for sites that are allocated or within defined built-up areas. Outside of these, new 
residential development will only be granted for certain limited exceptions.  The 
application site being outside of the built-up area boundary would be contrary to the 
above policies, with the exception of policy SP4, and not in accordance with the 
development plan.

9.02 The NPPF was published in 2012 and is a material consideration in the determination 
of planning applications. It sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Paragraph 7 identifies three strands to sustainable development, an 
economic role (supporting the economy and growth), a social role (providing strong, 
healthy, accessible communities), and an environmental role (contributing to 
protecting our natural, built and historic environment).  Paragraph 14 sets out that, for 
the purposes of decision taking, this means where the development plan is absent, 
silent or relevant polices are out of date, permission should be granted unless the 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits or; specific policies within the Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.

9.03 Paragraph 47 of the NPPF seeks to significantly boost housing supply, and requires 
Local Planning Authorities to meet full objectively assessed needs for housing in their 
area, and to identify and update a supply of deliverable sites to provide a five year 
housing supply. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF clarifies that policies for the supply of 
housing should be considered out of date if the LPA cannot demonstrate a 5 year 
supply.

9.04 Based on current Objectively Assessed Needs (OAN) for housing within the Borough, 
we require 776 dwellings per annum. The council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 
year housing supply on this basis as the supply figure currently sits at 3.8 years’ 
worth. Given that the Council cannot demonstrate an existing 5 year housing supply, 
and policies for housing delivery pre-date the OAN, they must be considered as out 

Page 70



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

63

of date.   For clarity, these out-of-date policies are: SP5, TG1, SH1, E6, E7 and H2, 
although it should be noted that they should not be given no weight at all.  

9.05 The emerging local plan is has now completed its examination in public (closed 9th 
February), and following the Inspector’s interim findings, the Council has sought to 
significantly boost its housing allocations to meet objectively assessed housing needs 
as modifications to the emerging Local Plan. One of the additional sites identified to 
meet this housing need is the application site and is a draft allocation under Policy 
AX6. This policy states that planning permission will be granted for a minimum of 115 
dwellings along with a large area of green space in the eastern third and green 
corridors through the site.  The decision to allocate this site within the emerging local 
plan followed a number of steps.  Firstly, the site was assessed in the 2014-15 
Strategic Housing Land Availability (SHLAA) in the context of a lower housing target.  
At that time, whilst landscape and traffic issues were considered capable of being 
addressed, the presence of the AQMA and the distance to a GP surgery meant that 
the site was not considered suitable.  Following the Inspector’s interim findings and 
the increase in the overall housing target, the SHLAA was subject to a 2016 
addendum which required the site (and others) to be re-assessed. This was 
published in June 2016 and re-considered the two main constraints of the AQMA and 
access to medical facilities. In respect of the access to medical facilities, the SHLAA 
concluded that a ‘flexible’ interpretation could be used here because existing 
residents of Newington already need to travel to access medical facilities.  With 
regards to the AQMA, the site’s location on the eastern side of the village meant that 
the majority of traffic from the site intending to access the strategic road network 
would not pass through the village, therefore avoiding travelling through the majority 
of the AQMA.  It should be noted that this assumption is supported by the Transport 
Assessment submitted in support of this application.  The critical need for housing 
sites was therefore considered to outweigh the impact of the two identified 
constraints and the site was identified as potentially being acceptable for allocation.  
The 2016 SHLAA concluded:

“…this is an excellent opportunity for high quality housing in a semi-rural location 
which is likely to prove popular with developers and purchasers.”

9.06 The site was secondly assessed under the Sustainability Appraisal of the Swale 
Borough Local Plan June 2016. This assessment concluded much the same as the 
2016 SHLAA with regards to the impact on the AQMA but noted that there is potential 
for ‘in combination effects’.  It also highlighted the proximity of the site to the 
Conservation Area and the need to address the impact on this heritage asset.  
However, it was also noted that the site has a good relationship with the village 
centre and train station (via the footpath link to Church Lane).  The site was also 
ranked well, at 21 out of 115 within the ranked assessment of non-allocated options 
to inform modifications to the Swale Borough Local Plan June 2016 (AECOM).  
Thirdly, the report to the LDF Panel on 19th May 2016 compared this site to other 
sites to the west of the village and noted that it was better in terms of landscape, 
heritage and air quality impacts.  

9.07 Consultation on the modifications to the emerging local plan, including policy AX6 
which allocates the application site for housing, took place over the summer of 2016.  
A further examination of the emerging Local Plan took place in February this year 
with the Council seeking to demonstrate that it can meet its full identified housing 
needs and a 5 year supply. A number of policies within the emerging plan seek to 
deliver housing development in order to meet the OAN for housing in the Borough. 
These policies are ST1 (sustainable development including delivery of homes to 
meet OAN), ST2 (delivery targets), ST3 (Swale settlement strategy), ST4 (site 

Page 71



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

64

allocations to meet OAN), and ST5 (Sittingbourne area strategy) to provide housing 
at sites within the urban and village confines, or as urban extensions to settlements 
where indicated by proposed allocations. 

9.08 Against the emerging Local Plan, the Council’s published statement of housing land 
supply for 2015/16 shows the Council to have a five year supply of 5.4 years.  
However, at this time the Plan has not yet been found to be sound.  I can therefore 
only attach limited weight to this changed position, other than to note the important 
point that the achievement of this land supply has been assisted by the allocation of 
the application site and that without it, this supply would be inevitably reduced.  

9.09 Paragraph 216 of the NPPF sets out that decision makers may give weight to 
emerging plans, depending on the stage of preparation of the plan (the more 
advanced, the greater the weight), the extent to which there are unresolved 
objections, and the degree of consistency of relevant policies to policies in the NPPF. 
In this case, the emerging plan policy AX 6 received a relatively large number of 
objections from local residents, the Parish Council and CPRE.  Although these 
representations remain outstanding, I am of the opinion that the soundness of the 
evidence base supporting the Local Plan means that material weight should be given 
to the emerging plan and in terms of the Council’s support for the sites that it has 
allocated to meet the overall OAN and demonstration of a five year housing supply.  

9.10 Given the fact that the application site is included as a draft allocation within the 
emerging local plan, I do not consider that it would be premature to approve 
development on this draft allocation site prior to the adoption of the emerging Local 
Plan, particularly given the overall need for housing and the Council’s 5 year supply 
position.  Planning Practice Guidance clarifies that refusal on the grounds of 
prematurity would only be justified if the development would undermine the plan-
making process.  In this case, this draft allocation site has been chosen having 
followed the approach to the settlement hierarchy set out in the emerging Local Plan, 
which the examination inspector has endorsed.  Therefore I consider that granting 
planning permission at this stage would not prejudice the plan-making process.  

Local infrastructure

9.11 The site is within walking distance of a number of amenities within Newington, 
including a primary school, post office, convenience store, train station and 
community hall.  The proposal includes a pedestrian/cycle link between the site and 
Church Lane which would provide direct access to the centre of the village which 
would cut-down walking times to the primary school and train station.  Even without 
this link to Church Lane, the walking distance if using the main access onto the A2, 
would still only be approximately 1km. I acknowledge that the local primary school as 
oversubscribed.  Unfortunately, this situation is not uncommon within Kent.  KCC 
have asked for contributions towards a new primary school at the allocation known at 
North-west Sittingbourne (Quinton Road) to cater for an increase in population as a 
result of new housing developments and so it considered that, at a strategic level, the 
numbers of primary places available to residents of this part of the borough would be 
sufficient.  I understand that, currently, some of the children who are allocated places 
at Newington Primary School live outside of the village.  If this development is 
approved, it is likely that children who live in the village will be given preference, 
including those living on this new estate, with children living outside the village being 
given places elsewhere when applying for a primary school place.  

9.12 The lack of a doctors’ surgery within the village is disappointing but is not 
fundamental to the acceptance of this development in my view.  The NHS have 

Page 72



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

65

confirmed that they do not consider the provision of a new surgery within the 
application site to be necessary and there are doctors surgeries in Rainham and on 
The Meads, both a 5-10 minute drive from the application site.  

Loss of agricultural land

9.13 The application is accompanied by an Agricultural Land Classification Report which 
confirms that 76% of the site is Grade 2 and 24% is grade 3A and so falls within the 
‘best and most versatile’ category.  Policy DM 31 of the emerging local plan states 
that development on agricultural land will only be permitted when there is an 
overriding need that cannot be met on land within the built-up area boundaries.  An 
overriding need in this case is considered to be the housing needs of this Borough. 
Policy DM 31 states that development on best and most versatile agricultural land will 
not be permitted unless the site is allocated by the local plan.  In this case, the site is 
included as a draft allocation in the emerging local plan. Paragraph 112 of the NPPF 
states that where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be 
necessary, local planning authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land 
in preference to that of higher quality.  The applicant argues that the majority of 
agricultural land around Newington is best and most versatile and therefore to 
accommodate the development needs of the Borough, it is inevitable that 
development will have to take place on said land in the absence of poorer quality 
land.  In this case however, I consider that the overriding argument in respect of the 
loss of best and most versatile agricultural land is that the need for housing 
outweighs the need for agricultural land and the fact that this site is included as a 
draft allocation is of significance.  

Visual/landscape Impact

9.14 The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
(LVIA). This assesses the landscape impact from different scales – national (North 
Kent Plain), Kent (Fruit Belt) and local (Iwade Arable Farmlands).  This notes that the 
southern boundary of the Area of High Landscape Value is located approximately 
310m to the north of the application site and is separated from the site by the railway 
line and an expanse of vegetation.   The LVIA considers that the site does not 
contain any particularly unique landscape characteristics which cannot be found 
elsewhere within the study area or wider landscape and the character of the site is 
influenced heavily by the adjoining developed land a Newington to the south and 
west.  It is largely protected in views by the railway line and its embankments to the 
north and by Keycol Hill to the east.  Glimpsed views of the site would be mainly from 
motorists, cyclists and pedestrians travelling along the A2 and High Oak Hill  and 
users of the public rights of way – ZR59 (which passes through the site), ZR58 (to the 
east of the site) and ZR38 (to the west of the site Mill Hill) as well as passengers of 
the trains travelling along the railway track and properties backing onto the site.  
Overall, the LVIA concludes that the site would have a small and contained visual 
envelope and that as a result it would affect only a limited number of individuals on a 
local scale.  I agree with these findings.   

9.15 The report concludes that:

“Although the development would result in a change to the character and appearance 
of the site and would cause a reduction in the amount of agricultural land and a 
corresponding increase in the settlement area to the north-east of the village, the 
general relationship between the existing settlement of Newington and the surrounding 
rural landscape would not be fundamentally altered.”

Page 73



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

66

9.16 The north, south and west boundaries of the site enclose the site with residential 
properties and the railway line which is on a raised embankment.  The site also sits 
lower that the land to the east meaning that the built-up element of this development 
would sit in a pocket of land that would be protected from view from a significant 
number of viewpoints. It would be seen within the context and against the backdrop 
of Newington village.  The submitted report concludes that adverse impacts would be 
minor and on a local scale which could be mitigated through a landscape buffer to the 
eastern boundary.  

9.17 There is no doubt that the loss of open countryside would lead to some harm to the 
landscape on a local level.  However, the inclusion of a robust landscaping scheme 
through the site and around the edges of the built up part of it would go some way 
towards softening its impact.  Also, a significant part of this scheme is the inclusion of 
the open space to the eastern third of the site. This open space would cater for both 
recreational use and ecological enhancements.  The public right of way that cuts 
though this open space would also be incorporated into it and there would be a 
circular walk around the space which is intended to cater for dog walkers.  

9.18 The layout of the development has also sought to introduce tree-lined ‘green 
corridors’ as encouraged by the draft policy allocation AX6.  There are pedestrian 
links running through the development between the open space to the east and the 
‘green’ to the west.  The scheme as amended has a rural feel with roads that are less 
dominant than the original plans had shown.  The architecture of the dwellings offers 
a good mix of housing types and forms, all of which are of a vernacular that reflects a 
more traditional rural village character. Finishing material such as weather-boarding 
and, tile hanging and slate roof.  I consider that this design, layout and architecture is 
appropriate for this area and that it responds well to emerging policy AX6. Amended 
plans have been submitted to address some concerns in respect of design i.e. 
introducing windows in some flank elevations, adding interest in terms of the pallet of 
materials to some of the terraces and, introducing trees/hedges to some of the 
parking areas.  I consider that the proposed scheme would be of a good design 
overall.

Residential Amenity

9.19 The proposed development would undoubtedly increase noise, activity and levels of 
light within the site when compared to its current use as an agricultural field.  
However, this would be entirely associated with residential use and informal 
recreational use of the open space which is not considered to be a ‘bad-neighbour’ in 
planning terms.  In terms of the proximity of the proposed houses to existing 
residential properties fronting High Street and Church Lane, I consider that there 
would be a sufficient distance allowed to avoid any harmful overlooking, 
overshadowing or an overbearing effect. I have given careful consideration to the 
impact in terms of noise and disturbance caused to the residents of nos. 99 and 103 
High Street as a consequence of vehicles using the new access into the site.  There 
will no doubt be an increase in noise experienced by these properties.  However, I do 
not consider that this would be significant in comparison to the road noise already 
experienced from the High Street.  The new access would be adjacent to the flank 
elevation of no. 99.  There is one high level ground floor flank window and a non-
habitable first floor window within the flank elevation of this property. It is likely that 
cars would be travelling at a slow speed at this point thereby reducing noise impact.  
The submitted noise survey predicts that for the rear garden of no. 103 High Street, 
the road traffic noise levels from the A2 would increase by 4 db.  However, it notes 
that the worse-case scenario would not see noise levels exceed 55 bd, which is 
considered to be acceptable (according to British Standard 8233:2014).  The plans 

Page 74



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

67

show that there would be a landscaped buffer provided between the new access and 
no. 103 High Street and I consider that this would limit any noise impact further.  

9.20 Concern has been raised in respect of car headlights shining into properties facing 
the new access.  Such an impact, if it were to occur, would not be a constant source 
of irritation to the extent that it would become a nuisance in my view, noting that such 
circumstances are unavoidable in housing layout designs. 

9.21 A noise survey has been submitted with this application to consider the impact of 
noise from the railway line to the proposed dwellings as well as noise from the A2.  It 
states that levels of railway noise at the development are expected to be lower than 
shown on the noise contours set out in the report and that in practice, railway noise 
levels are expected to be satisfactory.  Properties close to the railway have been 
mostly positioned to face towards it so that the dwellings themselves can act as a 
noise buffer for the rear gardens.  No vibration was perceived at the railway noise 
monitoring position.   Noise levels from the A2 are also predicated to be acceptable in 
most cases.  The Environmental Services Manager accepts the findings of the report, 
which recommends specifications for glazing, trickle vents, mechanical ventilation 
and wall construction to ensure that noise levels within the dwellings most affected by 
the noise are acceptable.  I have recommended a suitably worded planning condition 
which refers to mitigation measures required and a plan identifying the properties that 
are most likely to be affected by noise from the railway and the A2.   

9.22 The development is laid out in such a way that there is no significant overlooking 
between the new properties and any overshadowing or overbearing effect would be 
limited.  The rear gardens of house and the communal amenity space for the flats 
would all be of an appropriate size and depth, giving future residents a good quality 
living environment in my view.  

Highways

9.23 The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) considers the impact of the proposed 
development on relevant junctions and highlights the need to pay a contribution 
towards improvements to the Key Street/A249 junction. This has been accepted by 
Highways England with a requested contributions of £102,487 (see paragraph 7.18).  
The updated TA states that the proposed use of the site would only lead to a small 
increase in trips on the local highway network.   Local junctions in the area were 
considered to have adequate capacity to accommodate the additional traffic from the 
development.  This has been accepted by Kent Highways and Transportation.  The 
proposed access to the site has been designed in conjunction with Kent Highways 
and Transportation and provides a right turn lane in the form of a ghost island on the 
A2/High Street at the point where the access to the site is proposed.

9.24 A number of local residents have serious concerns about the design of this junction in 
respect of increasing congestion and also the consequent narrowing of the footpath 
to 1.5m wide.  The concern here is mainly in respect of the safety of pedestrians 
using this footpath being knocked/clipped by wing-mirrors to HGVs. Kent Highways 
and Transportation continue to accept the findings of the Road Safety Audit 
submitted with the application which finds the proposed new junction to be safe.  
Kent Highways and Transportation are confident that the new junction will not cause 
an increase in congestion along the A2. 

9.25 In respect of congestion associated with increased vehicles using local roads, the 
findings of the updated TA are that there would be no material increase in traffic on 
the A2 through the village and no increase on Church Lane.  The TA assumes that 

Page 75



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

68

almost 60% of the traffic from the site would turn left towards the strategic highway 
network and Sittingbourne and 40% of traffic from the site would turn right towards 
the Medway towns and through Newington village.  This assumption is based on the 
2011 census data for journeys to work.  Kent Highways and Transportation accept 
these assumptions.  Kent Highways and Transportation have highlighted the fact that 
the scheme makes use of tandem parking and recommends that additional visitor 
spaces are provided within the site.  They also ask for other minor changes to the 
parking and road layout.  The applicant has submitted amended plans to address 
some of these concerns and it is anticipated that further comment from Kent 
Highways and Transportation will be available at the meeting.

9.26 The use of the existing farm access from the western boundary of the site to Church 
Lane as a pedestrian/cycle access has been criticised by local residents as 
interfering with rights of access to 40, 42 and 44 Church Lane and also potentially 
attracting anti-social behaviour.  However I see this pedestrian/cycle link as an 
important way of integrating the development into the existing village.  I note that 
Kent Police have not raised any concerns in respect of this pedestrian/cycle link and 
consider that with adequate lighting (details of which I have requested in the lighting 
condition below), instances of anti-social behaviour would be limited.  With regards to 
vehicular access being retained for 40, 42 and 44 Church Lane, the applicant has 
altered the position of the bollards so that this access is still allowed whilst preventing 
vehicular access to the majority of the pedestrian link.

9.27 I understand the concerns of local residents in respect of the pedestrian/cycle link 
coming out onto a busy road with a narrow footpath at this point.  However, I have 
observed that cars tend to park along the opposite side of Church Lane and there is 
also a chicane at this point in the road.  This will slow vehicles down as they 
approach these obstacles.  I consider that the pedestrian/cycle link will be an 
attractive and safe route for the residents of the proposed development.

9.28 I am informed that no. 103 High Street has a right of way over the current farm 
access into the site from the A2.  The concern is that the proposed plans do not allow 
for this right of access to continue.  I have not been given evidence of this right of 
access but note that the plans do not extinguish the opportunity for the right of 
access to be maintained.  This could very easily be addressed directly between the 
developer and the resident should they wish to pursue it.     

Heritage

9.29 A Heritage Statement has been submitted with the application and this identifies key 
heritage assets, including Newington High Street Conservation Area which 
immediately abuts the western boundary of the site and a small number of listed 
buildings close by.

9.30 Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that “When considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction 
of the heritage asset or development within its setting.” The setting of a listed building 
and/or conservation must either be conserved or enhanced.  

9.31 In terms of the impact on the listed buildings, the majority face onto the High Street 
and have no notable relationship with the application site.  Hollybank, a grade II listed 
building faces onto Church Lane and it the closest listed building to the application 
site. It does have some connection with the application site in that its garden backs 

Page 76



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

69

onto the western boundary.  In respect of Newington High Street Conservation Area 
and Hollybank, the submitted Heritage Statement notes that:

“The part of the conservation area lying along Church Lane, including the gardens of 
Holly Bank (31) are the most likely to be effected given their proximity to the 
proposed development.  The key components of the historic setting of the Church 
Lane have been summarised as follows: 

 
 Focussed on the road / inward looking; 
 Residential; 
 Attractive groups of traditional buildings.

Whilst the proposed development may, depending on size and massing, impact on 
the views of some properties in Church Lane and the Conservation Area this visual 
amenity has not been identified as contributing to the significance of the designated 
assets.   The key components of the historic setting outlined above are not 
anticipated to be impacted by the development particularly given its inward looking 
focus and enclosed character.   The proposed development area is similarly enclosed 
and thus is unlikely to provide competition with or distraction from the Conservation 
Area.   Accordingly the likely impact of the proposed development of the setting (as it 
pertains to significance) is considered negligible.”

9.32  In respect of the Newington Church Conservation Area which is to the north of the 
site on the other side of the railway line, the Heritage Statement notes: 

“This wider setting has not been identified as making a major contribution to the 
setting of the assets as pertains to their significance and impacts are therefore likely 
to be negligible.”  

9.33 I therefore consider that the setting of the designated heritage assets as identified 
would be preserved.

9.34 I have recommended a suitably worded condition to address the comments of the 
archaeological officer in respect of potential archaeological find at the site.

Air Quality

9.35 The applicant has submitted an Air Quality Assessment (recently revised) and a 
‘Development and Air Quality Update’ to accompany this application.  Members will 
have noted that an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) has been declared along 
Newington High Street, the eastern end of which extends 150m past the proposed 
access to the site.  As such, vehicles travelling to and from the application site will 
travel through the AQMA.  The submitted assessment considered the potential 
impacts on local traffic emissions once the development has been completed (2021) 
and concludes that the impact of any change in the predicted particle concentrations 
(PM10)  at existing receptors is negligible and that subject to appropriate mitigation 
measures, the impact on air quality during construction is negligible.  I have 
recommended that the mitigation measures during construction are set out within the 
submitted Air Quality Assessment are implemented through the Construction Code of 
Conduct (condition 12).   

9.36 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states: The planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by…preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being 

Page 77



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

70

adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability.  

9.37 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states: “Planning policies should sustain compliance with 
and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into 
account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and the cumulative impacts 
on air quality from individual sites in local areas. Planning decisions should ensure 
that any new development in Air Quality Management Areas is consistent with the 
local air quality action plan.” 

9.38 For NO2 concentrations, the submitted Air Quality Assessment sets out the impact of 
the development on receptors located along the A2 within the Newington and 
Rainham AQMAs.  The impact on receptors is considered to be negligible for the 
Newington AQMA and slight, moderate or negligible, depending on the location of the 
receptor, within the Rainham AQMA.  The assessment identifies that in no cases 
would the government objective of 40µg/m3 be exceeded within the Newington 
AQMA but that within the Rainham AQMA the objective would be exceeded in 6 out 
of the 8 receptor locations. In this case, the baseline NO2 concentrations already 
exceed the objective - 40µg/m3.  However, the development is predicted to add less 
than 1% to the NO2 concentrations here.   The data shows that for the Newington 
AQMA, there would not be a significant effect on human health as a consequence of 
increases in air pollution from this development.  However, owing to the fact that the 
NO2 concentrations in the Rainham AQMA are already exceeding the 40µg/m3 

objective, it is concluded that any increase, no matter how small, would, as a 
consequence of development, lead to a significant effect on human health.  The 
assessment recommends that mitigation measures should be considered. 

9.39 Members will note the recent appeal decisions for two proposed residential 
developments at Pond Farm (APP/V2255/W/15/3067553 & 
APP/V2255/W/16/3148140 which were reported to the previous planning committee).  
This was for two schemes, one for 140 houses, plus 60 extra care units, and one for 
330 houses with 60 extra care units).  The Inspector considered the impact of the 
development on air quality, specifically the AQMA, among other issues.  The appeal 
was dismissed on the grounds of detriment to the landscape and also significant 
adverse effect on human health in terms of air quality in respect of NO2 levels. In the 
final planning balance, the Inspector considered that the combination of the 
landscape and air quality harm would outweigh the need for housing.  As such, given 
the conclusions of the Inspector and the submitted air quality assessment for this 
application, very careful consideration must be given to this matter. 

9.40 For the Pond Farm appeals, the Inspector found the predicted fall in general levels of 
NO2 as set out in the submitted air quality assessment was over optimistic and that 
therefore, NO2 levels at receptor sites would be likely to be worse than predicted.  As 
a consequence, the Inspector found that “moderate adverse” and “substantial 
adverse” impacts were likely.  The Inspector also found that the proposed mitigation 
measures were unsupported by evidence to demonstrate their likely effectiveness.  In 
addition, the Inspector found that the contributions that were put forward to fund 
measures to mitigate the adverse impacts of the development “may well not reflect 
the true impacts of the development.”  

9.41 Members should be advised that the applicant for the Pond Farm appeal has 
submitted an application for a judicial review on the grounds that the Inspector erred 
in law in their assessment of the air quality impact.  

Page 78



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

71

9.42 The applicant has taken the opportunity to review the submitted air quality 
assessment in the light of the Pond Farm decisions, new monitoring data from 2015 
and has reassessed the damage cost calculations in order to reflect the latest version 
of the DEFRA Emission Factor Toolkit. This update in the calculation increases the 
five year damage cost to £132,951 from the original £5,716. The air quality 
consultants also highlight the differences between the Pond Farm development and 
the current application in respect of: the lesser number of properties proposed under 
the current application with a lesser number of traffic movements; the inherent 
sustainability of this site being so close to the centre of Newington, train station and 
bus stops and; the fact that the air quality assessment for the current application 
does not make assumptions about a reduction in background concentrations of NO2 
levels, as the Pond Farm assessment did.

9.43 The applicant has also taken the opportunity to submit a document entitled 
‘Development and Air Quality Update’.  This is a helpful document that sets out how 
the application has changed since its first submission and how it has responded to 
changes in air quality considerations and the Pond Farm appeal decision.  It also 
demonstrates very well how sustainable the site is in respect of being within a short 
walking distance of a number of the amenities within Newington, including the 
primary school (10 minutes), train station (4.5 minutes) and bus stops (5-7 minutes).  
Importantly, the document sets out a number of mitigation measures that are to be 
included within the development which are costed based on the ‘damage cost’ 
referred to above with additional mitigation measures proposed since the original 
submission. These mitigation measures include:

 Electric car charging points at every property, plus 10 free-standing duel EV car 
charging points for some of the visitors spaces;

 Travel Plan & Welcome Pack to encourage a ‘modal shift’ to sustainable means 
of transport such as public transport, cycling and walking.  Also to include details 
of grants for purchasing electric vehicles and details of car sharing schemes;

 Low NOx or zero emission boilers fitted to all properties and use of green 
infrastructure – trees and soft landscaping within the development;

 Cycle sheds for each property and cycle voucher for each new resident;
 Potential for funding of an improved cycle shelter at Newington Railway Station 

(£5,000);
 Financial incentive for eco driver training for each household (£50 each);
 Financial contribution towards air quality monitoring (£15,000);
 Independent Validation Report prepared detailing how the mitigation measures 

have been implemented and submitted to SBC.

9.44 As part of the process of deciding how best to utilise the ‘damage cost’ (£132,951), 
the applicant also considered other mitigation measures such as an additional bus 
stop, repairs and improvements to existing bus stops, private car club scheme.  
These were discounted for a number of reasons and I am content that the mitigation 
measures put before us will be the most effective in seeking to reduce the air quality 
impact of the development.  The mitigation measures put forward are in line with the 
Swale Borough Council Air Quality Planning Technical Guidance (December 2016).

9.45 Members will have noted that Medway Council have objected to the scheme on the 
grounds that the submitted Air Quality Assessment does not consider the impact of 
the development on the Rainham AQMA.  The recently revised Air Quality 
Assessment does now consider the Rainham AQMA and Medway Council have been 
re-consulted.  Their comments will be reported at the meeting. I am seeking further 

Page 79



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

72

clarification from the applicant about how the damage cost calculation will be directed 
to the Rainham AQMA and will update Members at the meeting. 

9.46 Despite what the applicant’s air quality assessment concludes, which is that the 
development would have a significant adverse impact on air quality within the 
Rainham AQMA, it is a matter for the Environmental Services Manager to consider 
and to ultimately advise Officer’s and Members on the significance of the effect on 
human health. Guidance from Environmental Protection UK and the Institute of Air 
Quality Management for the consideration of air quality within the land-use planning 
and development control process (January 2017) notes that a significant impact on 
air quality does not necessary equate to a significant effect on human health. This 
depends on factors such as the number of people that might be affected and whether 
the development lies within an AQMA.  It is important to note that the Environmental 
Services Manager does not object to the scheme on air quality grounds and has 
taken his time to fully consider the issues in light of changing air quality guidance and 
the recent Pond Farm appeal decision. He does conclude that the air quality effect 
would be significant for the Rainham AQMA but notes that national air quality NO2 
objective levels have not been exceeded within the Newington AQMA and even with 
the development in place, are not predicted to rise above this national limit.  He also 
notes that the mitigation measures put forward would go some way towards reducing 
the harm within the Rainham AQMA.   

9.47 Ultimately, a weighing-up exercise must be conducted, of the potential harm in terms 
of air quality impact on human health against the benefits of the scheme in terms of 
the significant need for houses in the Borough.  This is made clear in the Land-use 
Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality. Guidance from 
Environmental Protection UK and the Institute of Air Quality Management for the 
consideration of air quality within the land-use planning and development control 
process (January 2017).  This states:

“A significant air quality effect is not, of itself, a reason for refusal of a planning 
application; that decision will be the outcome of a careful consideration of a number 
of factors by a planning committee (or a planning inspector/Secretary of State), air 
quality being just one of the factors.”

(para. 7.3)

9.48 As such, although I still consider the effect on human health to be significant within 
the Rainham AQMA as a consequence of the increases in NO2 levels, I consider that 
a direct comparison with the Pond Farm scheme is unwise given the differences as 
set out above.  I acknowledge the mitigation measures, including the contributions 
towards monitoring, that have been offered and consider that they are practical and 
reasonable for this size of development.  The effectiveness of these measures is 
unknown but it must be acknowledged that our own technical guidance referred to 
above promotes these measures.  

Ecology and biodiversity 

9.49 A Phase 1 Habitat Survey has been undertaken on the site to provide an inventory of 
basic habitat types at the site and comments on the need for further survey work.  
This recommended that a series of bat emergence surveys are carried out.  No bats 
were detected during these surveys and so buildings on site can be demolished.  The 
report concludes that the majority of the site consists of an agricultural crop of little 
ecological value and that the development is unlikely to have an adverse effect on 
the conservation status of habitats or species.  The boundary hedgerows are of value 
to bats and should be retained and enhanced and the report suggests a number of 

Page 80



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

73

mitigation measures to ensure no significant impact upon protected species.  I have 
recommended conditions to ensure that there are enhancements to biodiversity at 
the site and a condition to protect bats that may be affected by proposed works to 
one of the trees with the site, as requested by KCC Ecology.  I have also required the 
submission of a detailed management plan for the open space to the east. An 
amended Landscape Masterplan has been submitted and this includes amendments 
to the open space referred to as a Suitable Alternative Natural Green space (SANG) 
to better respond to policy AX6 and also the comments of KCC Ecology.  

9.50 An arboricultural survey was undertaken at the site and notes that a total of 24 trees, 
5 tree groups and 1 hedgerow would be lost as a consequence of the development.  
However, 29 trees, 14 tree groups and 7 hedgerows would be retained with 
replacement planting proposed to more than compensate for the losses.  

9.51 Natural England do not object to the application noting that there would be no 
significant impact on the SPA subject to contribution towards the Thames, Medway 
and Swale Estuaries Strategic Management and Monitoring (SAMM) Strategy. Article 
4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires Member States to take appropriate 
steps to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any disturbances affecting the 
birds, in so far as these would be significant having regard to the objectives of this 
Article.  For proposals likely to have a significant effect on a European site, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2010) require the Council to 
make an appropriate assessment of the implications for the site. An Appropriate 
assessment is appended.

Section 106 agreement

9.52 The applicant has been asked to consider the following planning 
obligations/developer contributions in line with the various requests from consultees.   

 Community learning: £7432.89
 Youth services: £4622.34
 Social care: £7789.59
 Libraries: £27,921
 Primary education: £456,000
 Secondary education: £580,422.40
 SAMM: £223.58/dwelling
 Strategic highways improvements to the Key Street roundabout: £102,487 to be 

secured via a Section 278 agreement;
 Air quality mitigation (off-setting impacts, continual annual monitoring costs): 

£15,000
 Affordable housing at 40% (mix of 70% social rented to 30% shared ownership);
 1 wheelchair adaptable home.
 Off-site (Newington Recreation Ground) sports provision £511/dwelling
 Off-site (The Meads Practice) health centre contribution: £124,200 
 Bins - £92/dwelling and £471 per six flats (rounded up to the nearest 6);
 Monitoring and administration fee.

9.53 In addition to the above, the mitigation measures set out in table 8 of the submitted 
‘Development and Air Quality Update’ and as detailed at paragraph 9.44 above would 
be included as an obligation as well as the requirement to set up a management 
company for the open space. The applicant has accepted the above contributions 
and obligations.

Page 81



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

74

9.54 KCC have responded to the comments of Medway Council in respect of asking for 
education contributions for the Medway Authority area.  They note:

“It is quite clear that KCC is the Local Education Authority responsibility for the 
provision of school places in the county and in Swale District. KCC’s request letter 
details the required mitigation. Medway Council is responsible for the provision of 
pupils places within its jurisdiction and due to development within its boundaries. 
KCC is not beholden to nor prepared to share or proportion any developer 
contributions secured from the developer and will resist any appeal from the 
neighbouring authority to do so.

 
KCC upholds its statutory duty to provide education for pupils in Kent. Government 
legislation, however, does not prevent families living outside the county from applying 
for school places within Kent.”

9.55 As such, I do not intend to require additional funds for education in Medway or that 
the education contributions are spilt between authorities in this instance. 

9.56 The above contributions and obligations are all considered to meet the tests set out 
in the Community Infrastructure Levy regulations (CIL).  Delegation is sought for 
Officers to agree to the final wording of the planning obligations within the Section 
106 agreement in conjunction with the Head of Legal Services.  

Other Matters

9.57 The development would adopt sustainable design and construction methods and 
techniques as well as following the principles of secure by design.  The applicant also 
notes that current Building Regulations in respect of maximum carbon emissions and 
maximum space heating will be followed and that it is likely that Building Regulations 
standards will tighten even further in this regard before construction starts.  
Nonetheless, I have recommended a condition (no. 25) to require details of how the 
development will incorporate sustainable design and construction methods.  

9.58 KCC Planning (Minerals and Waste) refer to the submitted LEAP Environmental 
Report and note that there is little or no definable brickearth present on the site.  The 
report concludes that any brickearth present is unlikely to be of any economic value.  
They note that Winerberger Ltd should have ideally been consulted in coming to this 
conclusion but KCC believe that the application for development on this site satisfies 
exemption 1 of Policy DM7 in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 in 
that ‘the mineral is not of economic value or does not exist.’  In addition, policy DM7 
states that planning permission will only be granted for non-mineral development that 
is incompatible with minerals safeguarding where it is demonstrated, among other 
things, that it constitutes development on a site allocated in the adopted development 
plan.  I acknowledge that this site is not technically an allocated development site but 
it is a draft allocation in the emerging Local Plan and this should be given material 
weight.  

9.59 The site is at low risk of flooding, being within flood zone 1.  There is a small risk from 
surface water flooding but the development has been designed so that no houses 
would be located within the area at risk.  The surface water drainage within the site 
will be designed to accommodate the 1:100 year return period storm even plus 30% 
for climate change.  Storm water will drain to the existing culvert that runs through the 
site.  A Sustainable Urban Drainage scheme is being considered and an updated 
flood risk assessment has been submitted.  KCC Sustainable Drainage team have 

Page 82



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

75

commented on the amended scheme and have concerns about the inclusion of 
drainage features, control devices and pipework within the curtilage of properties.  
They also highlight potential problems with the adoption of sewage pipework beneath 
permeable paving and that this may have implications for the layout of the scheme.  I 
have asked the applicant to consider these comments and I anticipate that these 
issues will be able to be adequately addressed.  I will update Members at the 
meeting.  Southern Water have asked for further details on surface and foul water 
drainage and I have recommended a suitably wording condition to address this.  

9.60 A Phase 1 Desk Study and Phase 2 site investigation report has been submitted with 
the application to assess the potential for contaminants at the site.   This concludes 
that the main risk of contamination is from herbicides and pesticides associated with 
the current land use.  Further sampling and testing is recommended.  The 
Environmental Services Manager is satisfied that the reports submitted are sound 
and I have recommended a suitably worded condition to address the need for further 
work and remediation as necessary.  

9.61 The development would be located close to a railway line and Network Rail have set 
out a number of stipulations in respect of development during and after construction.  
The application’s attention has been drawn to these requirements and I note that the 
plans provide a buffer of 5 m for drainage with dwellings set away from the railway 
embankment by 7-20 m.

10.0 CONCLUSION

10.01 This proposal would be contrary to the adopted Local Plan in respect of the provision 
of residential development outside of the built-up area boundary. However, the 
development would be in accordance with the emerging Local Plan in that the site is 
a draft housing allocation and this must be given material weight.

10.02 Paragraph 7 of the NPPF identifies three strands to sustainable development - 
economic (supporting the economy and growth), social (providing strong, healthy, 
accessible communities), and environmental (contributing to protecting our natural, 
built and historic environment).  In terms of whether the proposals constitute 
sustainable development, I find that the proposals perform strongly in terms of the 
social and economic strands.  The development would provide much needed 
housing, including 40% (49 units) as affordable housing. This Borough does not 
currently have a 5 year supply of housing as required by National Planning Policy.  
This site is of great importance in helping to meet the growing demand for housing in 
the Borough.  The provision of 49 unit of affordable accommodation will make a 
significant contribution to the housing needs of Newington and a contribution to the 
needs of the borough as a whole.  It is acknowledged that the village does not have a 
doctor’s surgery but in terms of other infrastructure, the village is well served.  
Importantly, the site is within walking distance of the village shops, primary school 
and train station.  

10.03 In respect of the environmental strand of sustainable development however, whilst 
most environmental impacts can be mitigated to acceptable levels, there are 
uncertainties concerning residual air quality impacts within the Rainham AQMA which 
means that the proposal cannot be regarded as sustainable against the 
environmental strand.  

10.04 Paragraph 14 of the NPPF sets out that, for the purposes of decision taking, where 
the development plan is absent, silent or relevant polices are out of date, permission 
should be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

Page 83



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

76

demonstrably outweigh the benefits or; specific policies within the Framework 
indicate development should be restricted. I have already identified the key issues 
above and have considered the impacts against each of the three stands of 
sustainable development – social, economic and environmental and have concluded 
that the development would be sustainable in terms of the first two strands, but that 
there are uncertainties in respect of the third.  

10.05 In terms of the paragraph 14 tests, firstly, I do not consider that there are any specific 
policies within the NPPF that would restrict the proposed development.  It is therefore 
necessary to consider whether there are any adverse impact that would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.   

10.06 In terms of the environmental impact of the proposal, I do not consider that there 
would be significant harm to the landscape here and that mitigation in the form of soft 
landscaping as well as the design of the layout and the houses will ensure that 
landscape harm is limited further.  I have discussed the impact of the development on 
highway safety and amenity and consider that there would be some harm.   However, 
mitigation measures are proposed that would limit this harm to an acceptable degree 
in my view.  In addition, there would be limited harm to ecology and biodiversity but I 
have set out mitigation measures such as ecological enhancements within the site 
and a contribution towards the SAMM Strategy.  I consider that there would be no 
harm to the setting of the Conservation Area or to Hollybank, a Grade II listed 
building, concluding that the setting of both of these designated heritage assets 
would be preserved.  The loss of best and most versatile agricultural land is accepted 
in this case owing to the sites’ allocation in the emerging Local Plan for housing.  The 
potential for brickearth at the site has been examined and as well as being 
uneconomical to extract, the site is a draft housing allocation in the emerging local 
plan.  As such, mineral extraction does not need to take place prior to its 
development. 

10.07 In terms of air quality, I have found that the effect on human health would be 
significant but that this would be confined to the Rainham AQMA and I find that 
mitigation measures proposed will go some way towards lessening this effect.  The 
applicant has considered a raft of air quality mitigation measures for this 
development, discounting those that would be impractical or of very little benefit but 
including those that would cumulatively make some difference in resident’s choice of 
transport and would limit the scheme’s contribution to air pollution.  It is hoped that 
the mitigation measures combined will persuade residents to use sustainable forms 
of transport on a regular basis.  However, it is fair to say that there are uncertainties 
as to the extent that the mitigation would reduce the significance of the impact and as 
such for purposes of the planning balance, I have therefore assumed the harm to be 
significant and that this should be weighed against the other elements of harm and 
overall benefits. This Council’s Environmental Health Manger does not object to the 
scheme on air quality, or any other grounds, and I give this significant weight in my 
consideration of air quality concerns. In terms of the overall planning balance, I 
consider that the need for housing in the Borough to be significant.   This 
development would provide housing on a draft allocated site, contributing significantly 
to the 5 year housing land supply and this should carry significant weight in terms of 
social and economic benefits.  Whilst the harm to air quality is potentially significant 
within the Rainham AQMA, in the absence of other significant harm, I do not consider 
that the significant harm to air quality is sufficient to significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the overall benefits of the proposals. 

10.08 I therefore consider that the development would be acceptable and, as such, that 
planning permission should be granted subject to the following conditions (with any 

Page 84



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

77

minor amendments required) and a Section 106 agreement listed in paragraph 9.53 
and 9.54 above. 

11.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions and subject to 
the receipt of revised drainage details and further comments from KCC Sustainable 
Drainage and any additional conditions suggested by them, any further comments 
from Newington Parish Council and CPRE (closing date 17th March 2017), further 
comments from Kent Highways and Transportation in response to the amended 
plans and further comments from Medway Council in response to the revised Air 
Quality Assessment and, a section 106 agreement requiring contributions as set out 
in paragraph 9.53 and 9.54 below:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance the following 
approved drawings: to be added once all amended plans received.  

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A, Part 2, Schedule 2 to the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended), no 
gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure shall be erected or provided in 
advance of any wall or any dwelling fronting on a highway without the consent in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

4. Details in the form of a levels strategy overlaying the proposed layout with the 
Topgraphical survey shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before work commences and the development shall be completed 
strictly in accordance with the approved levels.

Reason: In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the 
sloping nature of the site.

5. The amenity areas adjacent to the flats as shown on the approved plans shall be 
retained for use by the residents of all the flats throughout the duration of the 
development.  

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

6. The areas shown on the approved drawings 2588-20 I and PERSE1978309 B as 
‘Green’ and ‘Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space’ shall be reserved for the 
general amenity of the area and shall be provided in accordance with a schedule to 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority to be agreed in writing prior to first 
occupation.  Play space shown on drawing no. 2588-20 I as ‘LEAP’ shall be surfaced 
and equipped with play equipment, in accordance with a schedule agreed by the 
Local Planning Authority before the first occupation; no permanent development 
whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 or not shall be carried out in the areas so shown without 
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Page 85



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

78

Reason:  To ensure that these areas are made available in the interests of the 
residential amenities of the area.

7. Adequate underground ducts shall be installed before any of the buildings hereby 
permitted are occupied to enable telephone services, broadband and electrical 
services to be connected to any premises within the application site without resource 
to the erection of distribution poles and overhead lines, and notwithstanding the 
provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 no distribution pole or overhead line shall be erected other 
than with the express consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

8. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has secured the implementation of   

(A) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority; and   

(B) following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure 
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further 
archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a specification and 
timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority 

 Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any 
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through 
preservation in situ or by record. 

9. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a 
contaminated land assessment (and associated remediation strategy if relevant), 
being submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
comprising:

a) A desk study and conceptual model, based on the historical uses of the site and 
proposed end-uses, and professional opinion as to whether further investigative 
works are required. A site investigation strategy, based on the results of the desk 
study, shall be approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to any intrusive 
investigations commencing on site.

b) An investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, surface and groundwater 
sampling, carried out by a suitably qualified and accredited consultant/contractor 
in accordance with a Quality Assured sampling and analysis methodology.

c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site, 
together with the results of analyses, risk assessment to any receptors and a 
proposed remediation strategy which shall be of such a nature as to render 
harmless the identified contamination given the proposed end-use of the site and 
surrounding environment, including any controlled waters.

Reason: To ensure any contaminated land is adequately dealt with. 

10. Before any part or agreed phase of the development is occupied, all remediation 
works identified in the contaminated land assessment and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority shall be carried out in full (or in phases as agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority) on site under a quality assured scheme to demonstrate 

Page 86



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

79

compliance with the proposed methodology and best practice guidance. If, during the 
works, contamination is encountered which has not previously been identified, then 
the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation 
scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure any land contaminated is adequately dealt with. 

11. Upon completion of the works identified in the contaminated land assessment, and 
before any part or agreed phase of the development is occupied, a closure report 
shall be submitted which shall include details remediation works undertaken, with 
quality assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in 
accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any post-remediation 
sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean-up criteria 
shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site

Reason: To ensure any land contaminated is adequately dealt with. 

12. Prior to the commencement of the development, a Code of Construction Practice 
shall be submitted to and approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
construction of the development shall then be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Code of Construction Practice and BS5228 Noise Vibration and Control on 
Construction and Open Sites and the Control of dust from construction sites (BRE 
DTi Feb 2003) unless previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The code shall include:
 An indicative programme for carrying out the works
 Measures to minimise the production of dust on the site(s)
 Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the 

construction process to include the careful selection of plant and machinery and 
use of noise mitigation barrier(s)

 Maximum noise levels expected 1 metre from the affected façade of any 
residential unit adjacent to the site(s)

 Design and provision of site hoardings
 Management of traffic visiting the site(s) including temporary parking or holding 

areas
 Provision of off road parking for all site operatives
 Measures to prevent the transfer of mud and extraneous material onto the public 

highway
 Measures to manage the production of waste and to maximise the re-use of 

materials
 Measures to minimise the potential for pollution of groundwater and surface 

water
 The location and design of site office(s) and storage compounds
 The location of temporary vehicle access points to the site(s) during the 

construction works
 The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the construction 

works
 Details of any mitigation measures necessary to mitigate the impact of 

construction on biodiversity and wildlife
 The mitigation measures set out in table 17 of the submitted Air Quality 

Assessment (March 2017). 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, biodiversity and the control of air 
pollution.

Page 87



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

80

13. Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, full details of the 
method of disposal of foul and surface waters, including a drainage strategy and 
implementation timetable shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved details shall be implemented before the first use of the 
development hereby permitted. 

Reason: In order to prevent pollution of water supplies and localised flooding and in 
the interests of highway safety and convenience.

14. The area shown on the submitted plan as car parking (including the car barns) and 
turning space shall be kept available for such use at all times and no permanent 
development, whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) 
or not, shall be carried out on the land so shown or in such a position as to preclude 
vehicular access thereto; such land and access thereto shall be provided, surfaced 
and drained prior to the occupation of the dwelling(s) hereby permitted.

Reason: Development without adequate provision for the parking of cars is likely to 
lead to car parking inconvenient to other road users and detrimental to amenity.

15. No dwelling/building shall be occupied or the approved use commenced until space 
has been laid out within the site in accordance with details to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for cycles to be parked securely 
stored (providing for 1 cycle per dwelling).

Reason: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate off-street parking facilities 
for cycles in the interests of sustainable development and promoting cycle visits.

16. The car barns/car ports as shown on the approved plans shall not be enclosed by the 
use of doors, walls, fences or any other means of enclosure to any open elevation, 
unless otherwise required by Part B (fire safety) of the Building Regulations (2010 as 
amended).

Reason: To ensure that the car barns/ carports are retained for parking in the 
interests of highway safety and amenity. 

17. The proposed estate road, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang 
margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, driveway 
gradients, car parking and street furniture, as appropriate, shall be constructed and 
laid out in accordance with details to be submitted and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before their construction begins and in accordance with 
a schedule of house completion and an implementation programme for the agreed 
works, also to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. 

Reason: To ensure that the roads are constructed and laid-out in a satisfactory 
manner.

18. Before the first occupation of a dwelling / premises the following works between that 
dwelling / premises and the adopted highway shall be completed as follows:
(A) Footways and/or footpaths shall be completed, with the exception of the wearing 

course; 
(B) Carriageways completed, with the exception of the wearing course, including the 

provision of a turning facility beyond the dwelling together with related: 

Page 88



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

81

(1) highway drainage, including off-site works, 
(2) junction visibility splays, 
(3) street lighting, street nameplates and highway structures if any.

Reasons: In the interests of highway safety.

19. No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the junction indicated on 
drawing 5784/101B, and the footway/emergency access shown on drawing 5288-
23C have been provided in accordance with a design and specification to be 
approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority and to be fully implemented to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To ensure that a satisfactory means of access is provided for the site.

20. No vehicular access shall be brought into use until pedestrian visibility splays 2 m x 2 
m with no obstruction over 0.6 m above the access level have been provided on each 
side of the access, and these shall be subsequently maintained.

Reasons: In the interests of highway safety.

21. Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, full details of both 
hard and soft landscape works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include existing trees, shrubs and other 
features, planting schedules of plants, noting species (which should be native 
species where possible and of a type that will enhance or encourage local 
biodiversity and wildlife), plant sizes and numbers where appropriate, means of 
enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an implementation programme. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 

22. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part 
of the development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 

23. Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any  trees or shrubs that are 
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five 
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as 
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever 
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 

24. Prior to the commencement of development (above ground floor slab level) hereby 
approved, details in the form of samples of external finishing materials to be used in 
the construction of the development hereby approved shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

Page 89



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

82

25. Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, details shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing, which set out what 
measures have been taken to ensure that the development incorporates sustainable 
construction techniques such as water conservation and recycling, renewable energy 
production including the inclusion of solar thermal or solar photo voltaic installations, 
and energy efficiency. Upon approval, the details shall be incorporated into the 
development as approved.

Reason:  In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development.

26. No floodlighting, security lighting or other external lighting shall be installed or 
operated at the site, other than in accordance with details that have first been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details 
shall include: 

 A statement of why lighting is required, including to the pedestrian/cycle link, the 
proposed frequency of the use and the hours of illumination.

 A site plan showing the area to be lit relative to the surrounding area, indicating 
parking or access arrangements where appropriate, and highlighting any 
significant existing or proposed landscape or boundary features.

 Details of the number, location and height of the lighting columns or other 
fixtures.

 The type, number, mounting height and alignment of the luminaries. 

 The beam angles and upwards waste light ratio for each light. 

 An isolux diagram showing the predicted illuminance levels at critical locations 
on the boundary of the site and where the site abuts residential properties.

 Confirmation that there would be no lighting to the SANG.

 Identification of those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for 
bats and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites and 
resting places or along important routes to access key areas of their territory.

 Demonstration as to how and where external lighting will be installed so that it 
can be clearly demonstrated that area to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats 
using their territory.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity/landscape character and the residential 
amenities of occupiers of nearby dwellings and the interests of ecology.

27. All work to the site boundaries (where vegetation exists) must be carried out outside 
of the breeding bird season (March to August inclusive) unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority that an ecologist examines the site prior to 
works commencing and if any nesting birds are recorded, all works much cease until 
all young have fledged. 

Reason: In the interests of the protection of breeding birds.

28. Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, a detailed SANGs 
management plan must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 

Page 90



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

83

writing.  The approved management plan must be implemented and carried out as 
specified. 

Reason: In the interests of ecology and biodiversity. 

29. Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B and C of Part 13 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, prior to the 
commencement of development of the foul pumping station, details of its siting, 
design, scale  and means of enclosure, shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing and the approved details shall be implemented.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenities. 

30. In this condition “retained tree” means an existing tree, which is to be retained in 
accordance with the approved plans and particulars.  Paragraphs i) and ii) below 
shall have effect until the expiration of 5 years from the date of completion of the 
development for its permitted use.  
i) No retained tree shall be deliberately damaged, cut down, uprooted or 

destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be pruned other than in accordance with 
the Arboricultrual Impact Report (PJC ref: 3781/15-02) dated 15th January 2016, 
without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.  Any pruning 
approved shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998:2010 
Tree Work – Recommendations or any revisions thereof.

ii) If any retained tree dies, or is removed, uprooted or destroyed, another tree shall 
be planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and species and 
shall be planted at such time as may be specified in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

iii) The installation of tree protection barriers, the methods of working shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the Arboricultrual Method Statement Report (PJC 
3781/15-03 Rev 2) dated 15th January 2016.  

Reason: To protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and 
locality. 

31. No development shall commence until the developer has (at his own expense):
i) Instructed an Arboricultural consultant, approved in writing by the LPA, to liaise 

with the developer and/or his architect or engineer to approve relevant details of 
construction methods, oversee the works and report to the Council throughout 
the period of the works in so far as the works may affect retained trees (as set 
out in the approved plans) and;

ii) Submitted to an obtained the written approval of the LPA for an auditable system 
of Arboricultrual site monitoring, including a schedule of specific site events 
requiring Arboricultrual input or supervision where construction and development 
activity is to take place within or adjacent to any root protection area of any tree 
identified for retention. 

Reason: To protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and 
locality. 

32. The noise mitigation methods as set out on pages 17, 18 and 19 of the submitted 
Noise Assessment: February 2016 (1391\MD\08-2015\370) and appendices D, E, F, 
G, H, and I, including the provision of mechanical ventilation, details of which shall 
have first been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, shall be 
implemented in respect of the ‘worst-case’ properties outlined in red on drawing 
1391-001.

Page 91



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

84

Reason: In the interests of the residential amenities of future residents of the 
development.

33. Prior to the occupation of the dwellings outlined in red on drawing no.1391-001, a 
verification report shall be submitted to and approved by the LPA to demonstrate that 
the recommendations contained in the MRL Acoustic Report submitted with the 
application have been incorporated, and therefore internal noise levels within the 
residential units and the external noise levels in the back gardens and other relevant 
amenity areas will confirm top the standard identified by BS 8233 2014, Sound 
Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings  - Code of Practice.

Reason: In the interests of the residential amenities of future residents of the 
development.

34. Notwithstanding the plans submitted, the Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space 
shall make provision to enable badgers to access the grassland and scrub area by 
reducing the fenced area to create a vegetated buffer between the northern and 
southern boundaries and the dog proof fence.  Details of how this will be achieved 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation for 
approval in writing.  

Reason: In the interests of preserving and enhancing the habitat for badgers within 
the site. 

35. Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, a report 
demonstrating how the proposal will incorproate measures to encourage and 
promote biodiversity and wildlife shall be submitted to and approved in writing. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with those approved details and 
shall thereafter be retained.

Reason: In the interests of promoting wildlife and biodiversity and wildlife in urban 
areas

36. If the development hereby approved has not commenced by February 2018 and, 
prior to any works to trees being carried out, an updated Preliminary Tree Roost 
Assessment shall be undertaken, the results of which must be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority with any suggested mitigation measures approved in writing. 

Reasons: In the interests of protecting bats that may be roosting within the trees at 
the site.

37. Prior to any tree works commencing to tree 20 (as per the Preliminary Tree Roost 
Assessment; Feb 2017), a dawn re‐entry bat survey shall be carried out on that tree  
which shall include appropriate methodology required for the removal of any 
branches on this tree.  The survey and methodology report shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval in writing prior to any works being carried out 
on tree 20.

Reasons: In the interests of protecting bats that may be roosting within the trees at 
the site.

Page 92



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

85

Informative:

1. The applicant is advised to consider and act upon the contents of Network Rail’s 
email in response to the consultation on this application dated 22nd March 2016. 

2. The applicant is advised to consider the contents of the letter from Kent Public Right 
of Way Officer dated 24th March 2016, the contents of Southern Gas Networks’ email 
dated 29th March 2016 and the contents of the letter from Southern Water dated 23rd 
March 2016.

3. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure , before the development hereby 
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established 
in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. 
Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do 
not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 
‘highway land’. Some of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst 
some are owned by third party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may 
have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil. Information about how to clarify the highway 
boundary can be found at http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-
after/highway-land The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the 
approved plans agree in every aspect with those approved under such legislation and 
common law. It is therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and 
Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive 
manner in the processing of their application and by:

Offering pre-application advice.
Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.
As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the
processing of their application.

In this instance the applicant was asked to consider the submission of amended plans to 
address Officer’s concerns.  These plans were forthcoming and the scheme was considered 
to be acceptable.  

Case Officer: Emma Eisinger

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 93



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

86

APPENDIX: HABITATS REGULATIONS ASSESSMENT

Context

SPAs are protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the EC Birds Directive. They 
are classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly occurring migratory species.  Article 
4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires Member States to take appropriate steps to 
avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any disturbances affecting the birds, in so far as 
these would be significant having regard to the objectives of this Article.

For proposals likely to have a significant effect on a European site, the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations (2010) requires the Council to make an appropriate assessment of the 
implications for the site.  Para. 119 of the NPPF states that “The presumption in favour of 
sustainable development … does not apply where development requiring appropriate 
assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered, planned or determined.”

Given the scales of housing development proposed around the North Kent SPAs, the North Kent 
Environmental Planning Group (NKEPG) commissioned a number of reports to assess the 
current and future levels of recreational activity on the North Kent Marshes SPAs and Ramsar 
sites.  NKEPG comprises Canterbury, Dartford, Gravesham, Medway and Swale local 
authorities, together with Natural England and other stakeholders.  The following evidence has 
been compiled:

• Bird Disturbance Study, North Kent 2010/11 (Footprint Ecology).
• What do we know about the birds and habitats of the North Kent Marshes? (Natural England 

Commissioned Report 2011).
• North Kent Visitor Survey Results (Footprint Ecology 2011).
• Estuary Users Survey (Medway Swale Estuary Partnerships, 2011).
• North Kent Comparative Recreation Study (Footprint Ecology 2012).
• Recent Wetland Bird Surveys results produced by the British Trust for Ornithology.
• Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries – Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 

Strategy (Footprint Ecology 2014).

In July 2012, an overarching report summarised the evidence to enable the findings to be used 
in the assessment of development.  The report concluded (in summary):

• There have been marked declines in the numbers of birds using the three SPAs.
• Disturbance is a potential cause of the declines. The bird disturbance study provided 

evidence that the busiest locations support particularly low numbers of birds. 
• Within the Medway, the areas that have seen the most marked declines are the area north of 

Gillingham, including the area around Riverside Country Park. This is one of the busiest 
areas in terms of recreational pressure.

• Access levels are linked to local housing, with much of the access involving frequent use by 
local residents.

• Bird disturbance study - dog walking accounted for 55% of all major flight observations, with 
a further 15% attributed to walkers without dogs along the shore.

• All activities (i.e. the volume of people) are potentially likely to contribute to additional 
pressure on the SPA sites.  Dog walking, and in particular dog walking with dogs off leads, is 
currently the main cause of disturbance.

• Development within 6km of the SPAs is particularly likely to lead to increase in recreational 
use.

Natural England’s advice to the affected local authorities is that it is likely that a significant effect 
will occur on the SPAs/Ramsar sites from recreational pressure arising from new housing 
proposals in the North Kent coastal area.

Page 94



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 ITEM 2.2

87

The agreed response between Natural England and the local authorities is to put in place 
strategic mitigation to avoid this effect – a ‘strategic solution.’  This provides strategic mitigation 
for the effects of recreational disturbance arising from development pressure on international 
sites and will normally enable residential development to proceed on basis of mitigation provided 
avoiding a likely significant effect.

This strategic approach is set out in the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries – Strategic 
Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (Footprint Ecology 2014).  It will normally require 
the creation of on-site mitigation, such as the creation of open space suitable for dog walking 
and, secondly, via payment of a dwelling tariff for off-site impacts.  The money collected from the 
tariff would be used by the North Kent Councils and its partners for mitigation projects such as 
wardening, education, diversionary projects and habitat creation.  The policy context for such 
actions is provided by policies CP7 and DM28 of the Emerging Local Plan.

Associated information

The applicant’s ecological assessment dated January 2017 and the submitted report entitled 
‘Information for Habitats Regulations Assessment’ January 2017 contains information to assist 
this HRA.  Importantly, it clarifies that the applicant is willing to commit to contributions towards 
the strategic mitigation noted above.  

Natural England’s letter to SBC dated 25th July 2016 has also been considered; in particular that 
they have raised no objections subject to contributions towards strategic mitigation.  

The Assessment of Land at 99 High Street and land to north of High Street, Newington

The application site is located 2.5km to the south Medway Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA) and 5km to the southwest of The Swale SPA.  Therefore, there is a 
medium possibility that future residents of the site will access footpaths and land within these 
European designated areas.  

Measures are to be taken to reduce the impact on the SPA and these would be built into the 
development in respect of the provision of public open space which would have a circular route 
around it.  

This assessment has taken into account the availability of other public footpaths close to the site 
and to a lesser extent, the open space proposed within the site.  Whilst these would no doubt 
supplement many day-to-day recreational activities, there would be some leakage to the SPA. 
However, the commitment of the applicant to contribute £223.58 per house to address SPA 
recreational disturbance towards through strategic mitigation in line with recommendations of the 
Thames Medway and Swale Estuaries SAMM as detailed above, will off-set some of the 
impacts.  This mitigation will include strategies for the management of disturbance within public 
authorised parts of the SPA as well as to prevent public access to privately owned parts of the 
SPA.

Conclusions

Taking the above into account, the proposals would not give rise to significant effects on the 
SPA.  At this stage it can therefore be concluded that the proposals can be screened out for 
purposes of Appropriate Assessment. 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report - 30 March 2017 ITEM 3.1

88

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 MARCH 2017 PART 3

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 3

Applications for which REFUSAL is recommended

3.1 REFERENCE NO - 16/508250/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Erection of a front and rear dormer to form two rooms, including a store room and bathroom, and 
alterations to the fenestration.

ADDRESS Penult Imperial Avenue Minster-on-sea Kent ME12 2HG  

RECOMMENDATION - REFUSE
SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION/REASONS FOR REFUSAL
The proposed front and rear dormer windows would represent a poor quality design by virtue of 
the flat roof design; the depth and prominence of the dormers arising from the shallow pitch of 
the existing roof line; and the excessive size of the rear dormer.  It is considered that this would 
be seriously detrimental to the appearance of the dwelling and the visual amenities of the 
surrounding area.  

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Parish Council support the application

WARD Minster Cliffs PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Minster-On-Sea

APPLICANT Mr & Mrs A Erving
AGENT CK Designs

DECISION DUE DATE
26/01/17

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
09/01/17

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites): NONE

MAIN REPORT

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 Penult is a semi-detached bungalow located on the east side of Imperial Avenue, 
which is an unmade road within the built up area of Minster. The property is 
constructed of brick, with a shallow pitched roof, and an attached garage to the side 
which projects forward of the front elevation.

1.02 The road is characterised by varied styles of properties, although the dwellings 
immediately to the south of the application site are bungalows of a similar height and 
roof form. The last property on the road immediately to the north of the site is a two 
storey detached dwelling.

Page 97



Planning Committee Report - 30 March 2017 ITEM 3.1

89

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 This application seeks planning permission for the erection of front and rear dormer 
windows to facilitate a loft conversion. The front dormer would measure approximately 
2.3m wide x 1.4m tall x 4.5m deep. The proposed rear dormer would measure roughly 
4.8m wide x 2.3m tall (the full height of the roof) x 4.5m deep.  Both would have flat 
roofs.  The dormer to the rear would be cut into the roof space to provide a balcony 
area within the roof area, and a glazed privacy screen is proposed to the side of the 
balcony to prevent overlooking of neighbouring properties.

2.02 The resultant roof space would contain a fourth bedroom bathroom (with balcony 
leading off it), study, and a small storage room.  

3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

3.01 No designations or specific restrictions affect the area.

4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

4.01 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and The National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG): The NPPF and NPPG are relevant in that they encourage good 
design and seek to minimise serious amenity concerns.

4.02 Development Plan: Saved policies E1, E19 and E24 of the adopted Swale Borough 
Council Local Plan 2008, and Policies CP4, DM14 and DM16 of the emerging Swale 
Borough Council Local Plan Bearings Fruits 2031 are relevant in that they relate to 
general development criteria, require good design and state that developments should 
not cause unacceptable harm to amenities.

4.03 Supplementary Planning Documents: The Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning 
Guidance entitled “Designing an Extension” is also relevant, and remains a material 
consideration having been through a formal review and adoption process. It is 
specifically referred to in the supporting text to saved policy E24 of the adopted Swale 
Borough Local Plan 2008 and to policy DM16 of the emerging plan.  As such it 
should be afforded significant weight in the decision making process.

5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.01 No representations received

6.0 CONSULTATIONS 

6.01 Minster Parish Council support the application “subject to adequate parking being in 
place for a five-bedroom property.”

7.0 APPRAISAL

Principle of Development

7.01  The site is situated within the defined built up area boundary of Minster in which the 
principle of extending a property is acceptable subject to other relevant policy 
considerations and local amenity impacts.

Page 98



Planning Committee Report - 30 March 2017 ITEM 3.1

90

Visual Impact

7.02 The road contains a mix of dwellings of varying sizes and designs (as is common in 
Minster), including dwellings with front dormers which are predominantly situated at 
the southern end of the road. Paragraph 5.4 of the Council’s SPG entitled ‘Designing 
an Extension – A Guide for Householders’ states that dormers can have a serious 
impact on the street and should therefore be in proportion to the roof, preferably with 
pitched roofs to match the dwelling.  

7.03 In this instance the roof of the existing property is very shallow and as a result the 
proposed dormer windows would be substantial in depth and very prominent on the 
roof slope. Whilst the front dormer is relatively narrow when viewed on the front 
elevation, it is substantial in depth on the side elevations as a result of trying to gain 
the necessary internal head height. This depth emphasises the form of the dormer, 
which is in itself contrary to the advice of the SPG and in my opinion harmful to the 
character of the dwelling and the wider street scene.  The rear dormer would cover a 
very substantial amount of the roof slope (almost the entire of it, in fact), and its scale 
and form are exacerbated by the design, which cuts into the roof and provides a 
balcony.  This alters the character of the property entirely from a relatively modest 
bungalow with a shallow roof to a large, blocky structure with a substantial area of flat 
roof.  Unfortunately, due to the shallow pitch of the existing roof, the dormer need to 
be this scale to get any accommodation in the loft space.

7.04 In my opinion, for the reasons above, the dormers would represent a visually 
prominent and wholly unsympathetic addition to the existing property with a 
consequently unacceptable impact upon the form and appearance of the existing 
dwelling, and the wider street scene.

Residential Amenity

7.05 The proposed front dormer would not impact significantly on neighbouring properties 
in Imperial Drive.  Whilst it is elevated and visible from these properties I am of the 
opinion that given the distance involved it would not cause overlooking issues.

7.06 The proposed rear dormer includes glazed doors and a balcony which could give rise 
to overlooking of neighbouring properties.  The scheme has been amended to move 
the balcony away from the common boundary with the attached bungalow at High 
Winds (to the south), and in terms of overlooking I consider this to be acceptable. 
However the glazed screen necessary to afford privacy to High Winds does add to the 
overall bulk of the dormer, which has been considered unacceptable in the section 
above. Any overlooking from upper floor glazed doors would be similar to 
conventional two storey semi detached dwellings, and I do not consider this in itself to 
be unacceptable. 

7.07 The dwelling to the north extends beyond the rear building line of Penult and I do not 
consider that any harmful impacts would occur to this property.

7.08 Overall I consider the impact on residential amenity to be acceptable.

8.0 CONCLUSION

8.01 The scale, flat-roofed design, and overall bulk of the proposed dormer windows would 
result in a poor form of design that would be harmful to the character and appearance 
of the property and the wider street scene.  I therefore recommend that planning 
permission should be refused.

Page 99



Planning Committee Report - 30 March 2017 ITEM 3.1

91

9.0 RECOMMENDATION – REFUSE for the following reasons:

(1) The proposed dormer windows, by virtue of the bulk, scale, and flat-roofed 
design, would be significant and prominent features on the property in a manner 
harmful to its character and appearance, and to the character and appearance of 
the wider street scene.  The proposal is therefore contrary to saved policies E1, 
E19 and E24 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008, policies DM14 and DM16 of 
the emerging Swale Borough Local Plan “Bearing Fruits 2031 (Proposed Main 
Modifications June 2016)”, and to the advice of the Council’s adopted 
Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled “Designing an Extension - A Guide for 
Householders.”

The Council’s approach to this application

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by:

o Offering pre-application advice.
o Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.
o As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 

processing of their application.

In this instance:
The applicant was advised of minor changes required to make the proposal acceptable so 
that permission could be granted.  Such changes were not forthcoming, however, and the 
application was presented to planning committee where the applicant / agent were afforded 
opportunity to speak.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 100



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 PART 5

92

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 MARCH 2017 PART 5

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 5

Decisions by County Council and Secretary of State, reported for information

 Item 5.1 – Funton Brickworks, Raspberry Hill Lane / Sheerness Rd, Lower 
Halstow

APPEAL DISMISSED 

Observations

COMMITTEE REFUSAL 

A good decision. The Inspector agreed with the Council’s view that the development 
did not amount to sustainable development and therefore that planning permission 
should be refused. In reaching this view, he agreed that the development would have 
harmful impacts on landscape quality and visual amenity. However, he did not agree 
that the development would have unacceptable implications for highway safety. 

 Item 5.2 – 155 Westerham Road, Sittingbourne

APPEAL ALLOWED

Observations

DELEGATED REFUSAL

A disappointing decision, where the Inspector concluded that the development would 
cause some harm the character and appearance of the area, but that this was not 
sufficient to warrant refusal of planning permission.

 Item 5.3 – 11 St Ann’s Road, Faversham

APPEAL DISMISSED 

Observations

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Full support for the Council’s normal approach to consideration of neighbours’ 
amenity.

 Item 5.4 – 11 Leet Close, Eastchurch

APPEAL ALLOWED

Observations

AGAINST OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

The Inspector concluded that the proposal would not harm the amenities of the 

Page 101



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 PART 5

93

neighbours.

 Item 5.5 – The Hawthorns, Greyhound Road, Minster

APPEAL ALLOWED

AGAINST OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

 Item 5.6 – Blackthorn Lodge, Greyhound Road, Minster

APPEAL ALLOWED

AGAINST OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

 Item 5.7 – The Peartree, Greyhound Road, Minster

APPEAL ALLOWED

AGAINST OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

Observations

Three extremely disappointing decisions. 

The Inspector has concluded, bizarrely, that the sites in Greyhound Road are not 
visually harmful. They are, in my experience, visible from a distance and cause 
substantial harm to visual amenity. He has concluded, contrary to the normal view 
taken on such matters, that landscaping can mitigate any visual harm arising from the 
development.

Furthermore despite a previous Inspector finding to the contrary, he concluded, 
wrongly in my view, that the location of the sites is sustainable. 

Finally, and perhaps of more concern, he gave credence firstly to the appellants’ 
interpretation that the provision of extra caravans to address household expansion on 
existing sites did not amount to the provision of extra pitches, nor address unmet 
need for pitches within the Borough. Secondly, based on an assertion by the 
appellants, and without evidence to support it, he has formed the view that significant 
objection to the Council’s position regarding the need for and supply of pitches would 
be forthcoming at the Local Plan Inquiry. In the event, there was only one objection, 
and the objector failed to attend the Inquiry. The Council’s position on gypsy and 
traveller pitches was dealt with by the Local Plan Inspector in less than 15 minutes.

Officers have sought legal advice on the merits of challenging these decisions by way 
of Judicial Review. I will update Members at the Meeting.

 Item 5.8 – Land and buildings at Parsonage Farm, Painters Forstal

APPEAL ALLOWED IN PART

Observations

ENFORCEMENT APPEAL

A disappointing decision which not only ignores the Council’s careful and consistent 
application of our Supplementary Planning Guidance, but encourages the appellants 

Page 102



Planning Committee Report – 30 March 2017 PART 5

94

to seek permission for further works at odds with that guidance.

 Item 5.9 – Land east of St Marys View, Newington

APPEAL DISMISSED

Observations

AGAINST OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

A good decision. Although the Inspector did not consider that three of the four 
reasons for refusal put forward by Members (namely highway safety, harm to amenity 
of residents living along Church Lane, and loss of Best and Most Versatile farmland) 
amounted to robust reasons for the refusal of the application, he did find that there 
would be significant harm to ‘the character and quality of the landscape and locality’ 
and, as such, that the development would conflict with Local Plan policies E6 and E9. 
Weighing this against the benefits of the development, he concluded that the harm 
would significantly outweigh the benefits. Consequently, he concluded that the 
proposals did not amount to sustainable development and that planning permission 
should be refused.    

 Item 5.10 – Land south-east side of Faversham Road, Ospringe

APPEAL ALLOWED

Observations

ENFORCEMENT APPEAL

Despite this being a clear case of intentional unauthorised development in the Kent 
Downs AONB and the Inspector agreeing that occupation of this site is harmful, the 
Inspector has still decided to extend the period for compliance to 12 months, which 
will be a serious disappointment to the local community who have seen the significant 
adverse impact that this unauthorised development has already had. This, added to 
the 14 months it has taken to see this decision reached since the original 
enforcement notice was served (December 2015), means that despite swift action by 
the Council the notice will not require compliance until over 2 years since the site was 
first occupied.

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

95Page 105



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

96Page 106



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

97Page 107



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

98Page 108



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

99Page 109



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

100Page 110



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

101Page 111



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

102Page 112



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

103Page 113



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

104Page 114



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

105Page 115



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

106Page 116



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.1

107Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.2

108Page 119



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.2

109Page 120



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.3

110Page 121



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.3

111Page 122



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.3

112Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.4

113Page 125



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.4

114Page 126



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.4

115Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

116Page 129



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

117Page 130



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

118Page 131



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

119Page 132



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

120Page 133



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

121Page 134



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

122Page 135



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

123Page 136



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

124Page 137



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.5

125Page 138



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

126Page 139



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

127Page 140



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

128Page 141



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

129Page 142



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

130Page 143



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

131Page 144



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

132Page 145



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

133Page 146



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

134Page 147



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.6

135Page 148



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

136Page 149



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

137Page 150



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

138Page 151



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

139Page 152



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

140Page 153



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

141Page 154



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

142Page 155



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

143Page 156



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

144Page 157



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.7

145Page 158



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.8

146Page 159



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.8

147Page 160



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.8

148Page 161



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.8

149Page 162



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.9

150Page 163



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.9

151Page 164



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.9

152Page 165



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.9

153Page 166



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.9

154Page 167



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.9

155Page 168



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.9

156Page 169



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.9

157Page 170



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.9

158Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.10

159Page 173



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.10

160Page 174



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.10

161Page 175



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.10

162Page 176



Report to Planning Committee – 30 March 2017 ITEM 5.10

163Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 179

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Deferred Item
	DEF ITEM 1 APPENDIX 1  Kaine Farm Breach Lane Upchurch

	7 Report of the Head of Planning Services
	INDEX
	2.1 The Slips Scocles Road
	2.2 99 High st and land to north Newington
	3.1 Penult Imperial Ave
	Part 5 FINAL  index 30 March  17
	5.1 Funton Brickworks
	5.2 155 Westerham Road
	5.3 11 St Anns Road
	5.4 11 Leet Close
	5.5 The Hawthorns
	5.6 Blackthorn Lodge
	5.7 The Peartree
	5.8 Parsonage Farm
	5.9 land east of St Marys Road
	5.10 Land south east of Faversham Road

	9 Report of the Head of Planning Services

